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Executive Summary

1.	 On 19 August 2014, the Opposition Members on the Public Accounts Committee 
(PAC), together with the then Opposition Spokesperson for Home Affairs and National 
Security, submitted a request for an investigation to the National Audit Office (NAO). 
In essence, they requested the Auditor General (AG) to investigate disclosures in 
the media that Government had paid €4,200,000 for the reacquisition of the utile 
dominium of the Café Premier premises, which Government had conceded through 
an emphyteutical grant to Cities Entertainment Ltd (CE) in 1998.

2.	 The PAC requested the AG to examine all the facts related to the payment made by 
Government to a private company that owed Government substantial amounts. In 
particular, the AG was requested to evaluate whether:

a.	 the agreement represented value for money; 
b.	 the principles of transparency and good governance were adhered to;
c.	 payments made in the process of the reacquisition of the temporary emphyteusis 

were ethical;
d.	 Government financial procedures were followed; and
e.	 the procedure adopted by Government in this reacquisition was discriminatory 

and could expose public finances to similar requests in the future, in that lessees 
and/or emphyteutae of public property in debt to Government and other 
commercial creditors would expect Government to bail them out as was, in 
effect, this case.

3.	 Furthermore, the AG was requested to establish who were the intermediaries who 
had intervened, directly or indirectly, between Government and CE in securing this 
deal. The salient findings and conclusions drawn by the NAO are presented hereunder.

4.	 By virtue of an agreement entered into on 23 April 1998, Government conceded to CE 
the temporary emphyteusis of the Café Premier. This agreement clearly stipulated the 
contractual breaches that would entitle Government to initiate legal proceedings that 
would lead to the rescission of the contract. On the basis of the NAO’s verification, this 
Office found no evidence that the conditions regarding the use of premises, closure of 
premises and the use of LPG cylinders were breached. On the other hand, evidence 
regarding the possible sub-letting of part of the Café Premier premises without 
the prior requisite consent of the Commissioner of Land and relevant payment of 
laudemium was noted by the NAO. Furthermore, grounds for the instigation of legal 
proceedings in terms of CE’s failure to respect the three-year threshold of ground rent 
payments existed.
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5.	 The sequence of events leading to Government’s reacquisition of the Café Premier 
premises may be traced back to early April 2013, a few weeks following the change in 
administration, when the CE Director Mario Camilleri wrote to the PM. Negotiations 
between CE and Government were concluded in August 2013 and the matter was 
referred to Cabinet and subsequently approved in September 2013. Following which, 
on 29 January 2014, Government and CE signed an agreement whereby Government 
acquired the utile dominium relating to the temporary emphyteusis of the premises 
for the sum of €4,200,000.

6.	 A critically important aspect of the NAO’s analysis of the Café Premier reacquisition 
by Government were the valuations carried out by the Architect appointed by 
Government, those previously prepared for CE by Mangion, Mangion & Partners, as 
well as that drawn up by the NAO’s Technical Consultant. This Office noted that all 
valuations carried out were largely consistent, reflecting the value paid by Government. 
However, the establishment of value in monetary terms, and value for money 
considerations are two distinct matters. The value assigned to the reacquisition of the 
Café Premier premises is but one component of the value for money represented by 
this transfer.

7.	 Other considerations in the determination of value for money were the possible 
alternatives available to Government that would have resulted in the same outcome. 
One such alternative was the possible resort to legal proceedings for the rescission 
of the agreement, particularly in view of the fact that the ground rent due in April 
2013 exceeded the three-year threshold. This coincided with the point at which 
negotiations between CE and Government commenced, yet no consideration of this 
means of redress was made by Government. Although the Government indicated its 
reluctance to pursue legal action on grounds of the lengthy process involved and the 
uncertainty of the outcome, the NAO considers such justification as insufficient.

8.	 The Cabinet memorandum dated 10 September 2013 listed four main objectives 
justifying Government’s reacquisition of the Café Premier, namely, the removal of 
possible danger posed to the National Library by underlying catering establishments, 
the provision of greater accessibility to the Library, resolution of the problem of arrears 
faced by CE and the re-dimensioning of available space resulting in the generation of 
income to Government. The absence of documentation substantiating the detailed 
analysis of needs and alternatives leading to the fulfilment of the above-discussed 
Government policy objectives is considered as a significant shortcoming by the 
NAO. One would have expected the comprehensive analysis of all facets of possible 
action, subsequently leading to the establishment of policy and finally the pursuit 
of corresponding action. Further supporting the NAO’s assertions is the fact that no 
concrete developments have been noted in the premises a year after its reacquisition.

9.	 Notable shortcomings in terms of governance were noted with respect to Government’s 
failure to involve the GPD early in negotiations with CE. This Department is responsible 
for the management and administration of all Government-owned properties, yet 
was only involved at the final stages of the reacquisition of the Café Premier, when all 
had been already agreed upon. Had Government consulted with the GPD, the breach 
relating to the condition that outstanding ground rent was not to exceed the three-
year threshold, might have been brought to the fore earlier on in the negotiations and 
possibly lead to a different outcome.

10.	 The appointment of the GPD Architect to draw up an evaluation of a government-
owned premises also presented various shortcomings in terms of good governance. 
The GPD Architect was given this assignment without the DG GPD’s knowledge, directly 
appointed following the recommendation of Adviser OPM and the PM’s subsequent 
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approval. The NAO considers such a practice as undermining the DG’s authority and 
responsibility for the Department, and could have placed the GPD Architect in an 
awkward situation. The valuation report, despite being prepared on an official GPD 
letterhead was not retained in file. This absence was also confirmed by the DGs GPD, 
who stated that they were not aware of this valuation assignment and the report 
subsequently prepared by the GPD Architect. This anomalous situation is indicative 
of a lack of transparency and poor governance, further confirming Government’s 
reluctance to involve GPD in an official capacity with respect to the matter.

11.	 The establishment of 24 September 2013 as the cut-off date for ground rent was 
deemed as an arbitrary decision by this Office. The NAO considers this decision as 
a shortcoming on the part of Government, and that ground rent should have been 
charged up to the date of the signing of the agreement, similar to the approach 
adopted by other Government Departments involved in this matter. Had the date of 
agreement been considered as the cut-off date, then the chargeable rent due to GPD 
would have increased by approximately €39,000. The NAO deems that it would have 
been more appropriate for GPD to determine the cut-off date. 

12.	 Of serious concern to the NAO is the lack of documentation retained by GPD with 
regard to the withdrawal of its legal action against CE instigated on 12 December 
2012. The only record retained in file was with respect to one of the two cases, and 
simply stated “Kawża ċeduta”, while Court records are sparse in detail. The review 
of internal GPD correspondence exchanged after the withdrawal of the Court case 
renders GPD’s decision more ambiguous, with CE’s repayment of outstanding dues 
cited as the reason for the cessation of Court action. The NAO reviewed such payments 
and established that five out of a possible 12 payments had been effected. This hardly 
represents consistency in repayment, especially when one considers the magnitude 
of the balance due, which at the time was in excess of €290,000 and that repayments 
made prior to the amicable settlement only amounted to €18,600.

13.	 Having failed to establish the motivation leading to the withdrawal of court action by 
GPD and who within the Department instigated such action through the review of 
GPD files, the NAO attempted to formulate an understanding by means of interviews. 
This proved to be an equally futile endeavour, with the GPD Legal Section and the 
Rents Section presenting opposing views as to why such action was taken. Despite 
the circular references provided by GPD, the blurring of decisions taken through 
poor record-keeping practices and the abdication of responsibility accounting 
for such decisions, a clear response, albeit totally incongruent with that stated by 
GPD, was provided to this Office by Mario Camilleri. Camilleri unequivocally stated 
that Government and CE withdrew from legal action against one another in view 
of negotiations under way at the time. Further elaborating on the matter, Camilleri 
argued that the forfeiture of legal proceedings was an obvious part of the deal, and 
once negotiations had commenced, then legal action was to be brought to a halt.

14.	 Evidence obtained by this Office indicated that the €210,000 payment was in effect 
a commission payment to M&A Investments Ltd despite assertions to the contrary 
by Camilleri. The CE Board Resolution dated 28 January 2014 rendered this clearly 
evident, as did the correspondence with Banif Bank dated 19 December 2013. While 
the former terms the €210,000 payment as ‘intermediary costs’, the latter referred to 
this payment as a ‘commission on sale’. Notwithstanding the ambiguity in responses 
provided by Camilleri during interviews with the NAO, this Office considers the above-
cited evidence as sufficient proof of the payment of commissions to M&A Investments 
Ltd.
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15.	 Despite the fact that Government would still have paid €4,200,000, irrespective of the 
arrangement with M&A Investments, this Office is of the opinion that the €210,000 
payment should not have featured in the agreement. The dealings between CE and 
M&A Investments were a private matter, and Government bore no relationship with 
the latter. Moreover, the €210,000 payment made in this respect was unsubstantiated 
and deemed by the NAO as inappropriately included in the agreement. Aside from 
the above, no evidence came to light of other commission payments out of public 
funds except for the €210,000 payment made to M&A Investments.

16.	 The legislative framework regulating the disbursement of public funds was broadly 
respected, with approval sought from the relevant Minister, in this case, the PM, and 
that of the PS MFIN. Furthermore, the management of the payment process was 
well structured, organised and documented. It is in this general sense that the NAO 
considers the relevant financial procedures to have been adhered to. However, the 
financial regulations do not make direct reference to such atypical disbursements 
of public funds. Nonetheless, disbursements of public funds should be made 
judiciously, and it is in this context that the various shortcomings highlighted in this 
Report somewhat detract from the prudence expected when deciding to undertake 
disbursements of such magnitude. 

17.	 With respect to whether the procedure adopted by Government in this reacquisition 
was discriminatory and could expose public finances to similar requests in the future, 
this Office notes that legal precedent can only be created by jurisprudence, that is, 
case law. Advice obtained by the NAO indicated that the setting of a precedent has a 
persuasive value yet is not binding, more so when one considers that the decision was 
taken by Cabinet and not by Court. Applied to this case, Government’s reacquisition 
of the Café Premier does not constrain Government in future possible cases bearing 
elements of congruence. Although no legal precedent was established as a result of 
this reacquisition, Government may nonetheless be exposed to criticism in terms of 
fairness and equality. 

18.	 The NAO’s concern was also drawn to the various instances where repayment 
agreements entered into by CE and GPD for the settlement of outstanding ground 
rent were not honoured. This reflects the poor account management practices 
employed by GPD, including very weak enforcement capabilities and no structured 
system for the follow-up of agreements entered into. While the NAO acknowledges 
the Department’s stance and preference for resolving matters outside of Court, the 
Office considers it necessary for more decisive action to be taken by GPD in the case 
of repeat defaulters as was the case with CE. In this Office’s view, failure to take the 
required action in this regard is ultimately counter-productive, as the Department is 
perceived as ineffective in terms of enforcement.

19.	 A critical limitation faced by the Department in efforts to ensure compliance is the 
absence of a system of penalties and fines applicable in the case of defaulters. In 
this context, there exists no incentive encouraging tenants to settle outstanding 
dues, as failure to pay results in no consequence, barring the occasional judicial letter 
and subsequent repayment agreement. Legislative amendments to the relevant 
provisions intended at strengthening the Department’s enforcement function should 
be considered.

20.	 The NAO fails to understand why the €20,000 payment to Dr Mangion was included 
as part of the agreement. According to Camilleri, Dr Mangion had provided him 
with assistance in terms of contract-related legalities; however, the NAO deems 
that this fee should have been settled privately by CE or Camilleri. Furthermore, 
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the NAO considers Dr Filletti’s involvement in this matter as somewhat ambiguous 
and information gathered by this Office in this respect was conflicting. The DGs GPD 
and Camilleri stated that Dr Filletti withdrew from the process in view of possible 
conflict of interest concerns, yet the NAO noted instances where Dr Filletti was in fact 
involved, even at what could be considered as an advanced stage of the reacquisition. 

21.	 In sum, the NAO maintains notable reservations regarding the manner by which 
this reacquisition was made. Although the amount paid by Government reflects 
a fair market value, this does not necessarily imply that value for money was 
achieved. The lack of rigorous and documented consideration of other options and 
the failure to properly evaluate such alternative courses of action constrains the 
Office in determining whether value for money was achieved. One such alternative 
was the follow-through of legal action, which Government failed to pursue. This 
resulted in the eventual withdrawal of legal proceedings without clear justification 
or documentation, which action detracted from the required level of transparency 
expected in such a decision. This must be seen within a context where the tenant, CE, 
was in breach of the lease agreement with Government, as the three-year threshold 
in ground rent payments had been exceeded when negotiations commenced. Poor 
governance was a factor central to this shortcoming, with Government’s negotiating 
team failing to appropriately involve GPD from the initial stages of negotiations. 
Finally, the NAO established that the payment of €210,000 to M&A Investments was 
an intermediary payment, that is, a brokerage fee or commission, equivalent to five 
per cent of the transfer value of €4,200,000. Aside from this payment, no evidence of 
other commissions being paid out of public funds was found.
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Chapter 1 –  Introduction

1.0.1	 In August 2014, the three Opposition Members on the parliamentary Public Accounts 
Committee (PAC), together with the then Opposition Spokesperson for Home Affairs 
and National Security, requested the Auditor General (AG) to review the reacquisition 
of the utile dominium of the Café Premier premises. According to media coverage 
cited in the request, Government had paid Cities Entertainment Ltd (CE) the sum of 
€4,200,000 for the acquisition of this utile dominium. 

1.1	 Media Allegations

1.1.1	 Reports in the media first started to appear in early March 2014 wherein it was 
alleged that Government had, prior to the expiry of the lease term, reacquired the 
emphyteutical lease originally granted to CE in 1998 for 65 years. It was claimed 
that taxpayers had to fork out the unprecedented sum of €4,200,000 to pay back 
the Café’s outstanding €2,500,000 bank loan, income tax and VAT arrears, utility bills, 
ground rent and other creditors. It was further stated that the €4,200,000 ‘bailout’ 
for the owners of the closed-down cafeteria in Valletta was brokered in January 2014, 
when Government authorised the Department of Land to buy back the remaining 
emphyteusis of the Café Premiere and its ‘Great Siege 1565’ waxworks attraction.

1.1.2	 According to the media reports, prior to the signing of the agreement, the 
Commissioner of Land had retracted judicial action filed by the Government Property 
Department (GPD) against Café Premier owners CE for the settlement of arrears of 
ground rent, amounting to over €200,000, that the Company owed Government. It 
was claimed that matters worsened when, in December 2012, GPD took CE to Court 
insisting that the Company pay the arrears accumulated on the 65-year emphyteusis. 
The reports further indicated that the Company was then paying just over €93,000 in 
annual ground rent; however, in July 2013, lawyers representing the parties informed 
the Court that an agreement had been reached and all judicial action was withdrawn. 

1.1.3	 It was also reported in the media that, instead of forging ahead with its Court action 
to recoup the arrears or even dissolve the emphyteutical grant as Government was 
empowered to, GPD paid CE €4,200,000 to pay the Government arrears and taxes, 
rather than having the Company pay the money owed from its own resources. 
According to the reports, of the total sum, CE had to pay back the following amounts: 
€307,346 to settle outstanding arrears with GPD and €504,000 in capital gains tax 
owed on the land; the sum of €192,748 to the Inland Revenue Department (IRD) 
to settle income tax and social security payments; €227,058 to the VAT Department 
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on outstanding dues and legal procedures instituted by the Department against the 
company; and €130,963 for energy bills to ARMS Ltd. An amount of €210,000 was to be 
paid to one of the Company’s own shareholders, M&A Investments Ltd, and €3,265 to 
one of its creditors. Finally, another €2,560,800 was to be paid to a commercial bank 
in settlement of the outstanding bank loans that CE had with the bank. It was further 
alleged that the €4,200,000 were to be paid in four six-monthly instalments. The deal, 
according to the media, was nothing short of a timely bailout of the Company. The 
Government was recovering the premises and the waxworks museum, but the cash 
had to be used to pay back all the outstanding debts that CE owed Government and 
release it from the 65-year concession.

1.1.4	 Media reports quoted Government sources as stating that the ‘amicable acquisition’ 
was a decision to remove any hazard that the catering establishments in the area could 
pose to the treasures housed in the National Library, located directly above the Café 
Premier. According to the official sources cited, all other tenants of government-owned 
properties sited within the block that housed the National Library were informed that 
Government would not accept any future requests for catering establishments in this 
location. Moreover, Government intended to construct an elevator leading to the 
National Library’s first storey, accessible only through the staircase from the Library’s 
main entrance.

1.1.5	 According to the reports, the official sources had also claimed that, even if Government 
had appropriated the cafeteria forcibly for the protection of the scheduled National 
Library, it would still have had to pay out some form of compensation. It was further 
alleged that these sources had also admitted that the Café had ceased operating, and 
that the owners were negotiating with third parties to sell the business, something 
claimed to be illegal according to the original emphyteutical deed. Furthermore, it 
was stated that the deed forbade the owners from ceasing operations, something 
that would have led to a breach of the emphyteutical grant and given Government 
the right to take back the premises. 

1.1.6	 It was against this backdrop of myriad media allegations that the request to the 
Auditor General was made.

1.2	 Request by the Public Accounts Committee

1.2.1	 On 19 August 2014, the Opposition Members on the PAC, together with the then 
Opposition Spokesperson for Home Affairs and National Security, submitted a request 
for an investigation to the National Audit Office (NAO) (Appendix A refers). In essence, 
they requested the AG to investigate disclosures in the media that Government had 
paid €4,200,000 for the reacquisition of the utile dominium of the Café Premier 
premises, which Government had conceded through an emphyteutical grant to CE in 
1998.

1.2.2	 According to the request, Government had, shortly after the 2013 general elections, 
terminated judicial action that the previous administration had initiated in 2012 against 
CE in its endeavour to recover over €300,000 that were due to the Department of 
Land in unpaid ground rent. It had further emerged that CE owed various Government 
departments considerable amounts, including taxes and unpaid dues. As a minimum, 
CE owed ARMS Ltd the sum of €131,000 on water and electricity consumption, an 
amount of €192,748 in tax arrears and unpaid social security, and over €227,000 to 
the VAT Department.

1.2.3	 Moreover, the PAC request claimed that if Government genuinely wanted to reacquire 
the property, then the latter could have made recourse to the Courts for the rescission 
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of the contract and continued with the judicial action already initiated for the recovery 
of arrears. Such a course of action would have saved the €4,200,000 disbursed out of 
public finances.

1.2.4	 On behalf of the Opposition, the signatories requested the AG to examine all the 
facts related to the payment made by Government to a private company that owed 
Government substantial amounts. In particular, the AG was requested to evaluate 
whether:

a.	 the agreement represented value for money; 
b.	 the principles of transparency and good governance were adhered to;
c.	 payments made in the process of the reacquisition of the temporary emphyteusis 

were ethical;
d.	 Government financial procedures were followed; and
e.	 the procedure adopted by Government in this reacquisition was discriminatory 

and could expose public finances to similar requests in the future, in that lessees 
and/or emphyteutae of public property in debt to Government and other 
commercial creditors would expect Government to bail them out as was, in 
effect, this case.

1.2.5	 Furthermore, the AG was requested to establish who were the intermediaries who 
had intervened, directly or indirectly, between Government and CE in securing this 
deal. A detailed chronology of salient events, together with documentation indicating 
who was responsible for the decision to reacquire the premises at a cost of €4,200,000 
and when this was taken, were to be presented in the report. 

1.3	 Methodology
 
1.3.1	 This investigation was conducted in accordance with Para 9(a) of the First Schedule of 

the Auditor General and National Audit Office Act, 1997 (XVI of 1997) and in terms of 
practices adopted by the NAO. 

1.3.2	 All findings presented in this Report are based on the considerable number of 
interviews, taken under oath, with persons who were directly or indirectly involved 
in the reacquisition process. These included senior Government officials, present 
and previous officers at the GPD and CE Directors. The NAO also sought the sworn 
evidence of Opposition Members of Parliament who had publicly commented on the 
matter. The public officials interviewed by this Office were the Principal Permanent 
Secretary (PPS), the Adviser to the Prime Minister (PM) on GPD-related matters (an 
architect by profession and a former Director General (DG) GPD, hereinafter referred 
to as Adviser OPM), the incumbent and the previous DG GPD, as well as the former 
Commissioner of Land. Interviews under oath were also conducted with several GPD 
officials, including the former Director (Finance and Administration), legal officers at 
the GPD Legal Section and the GPD Architect who had prepared the valuation of the 
remaining utile dominium. This Office took sworn evidence of the two CE Directors 
Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi, as tenants of the Café Premier and party to the 
agreement. The Opposition Members of Parliament Hon. Dr Jason Azzopardi and 
Hon. Ryan Callus were also interviewed, under oath, by the NAO. All the interviews 
held were transcribed by the NAO and a copy submitted to the interviewee involved 
who was requested to, if required, submit clarifications and endorse the transcript. 
Public officers cited throughout the Report are referred to by their designation at the 
time reported on. 
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1.3.3	 The NAO reviewed in detail all the documentation retained by GPD relating to 
the Café Premier premises, in particular the 1998 and 2014 agreements, internal 
correspondence related to the withdrawal of judicial action and exchanges with 
CE. This Office also examined all other documentation and information provided 
by interviewees during the course of the audit. Such documentation included the 
memorandum presented to Cabinet outlining Government’s decision for this 
reacquisition, a copy of the evaluation report prepared by the GPD Architect and 
CE internal correspondence that provided essential information, in particular on 
the payment made to M&A Investments Ltd in the agreement with Government. 
Where required, clarifications and substantiating documentation were requested 
from interviewees, Government departments and other entities that were involved. 
In the main, the latter were the GPD, the IRD, the VAT Department and ARMS Ltd. 
Such requests primarily related to queries in connection with GPD documentation 
of Government’s lease and reacquisition of the Café Premier premises, tax payable, 
the VAT claw back and the determination of outstanding dues in respect of utilities. 
In addition, the NAO reviewed the Police report drawn up in October 2014 by the 
Economic Crimes Unit in response to the media allegations surrounding the matter.

1.3.4	 The NAO also engaged the services of a professional technical adviser to assist the 
Office in its evaluation of technical aspects related to the inquiry. The NAO also 
consulted with a legal adviser in the address of particular aspects that were deemed 
relevant to this investigation.

1.3.5	 Allegations brought to the attention of the NAO were duly scrutinised and resultant 
findings reported upon. Relevant documentation and information required were, in 
most cases and to the best of the NAO’s knowledge, made available to this Office by 
the various parties. The NAO’s findings and conclusions are based on the evaluation 
of such documentation and information supplied, which was thoroughly analysed by 
the investigating team.

1.3.6	 In line with its guiding principles of independence, fairness and objectivity, the 
NAO sought to ensure that the allegations brought to its attention were evaluated, 
investigated and objectively reported upon. The investigating team sought to establish 
the facts, based solely and exclusively on evidence at its disposal. The NAO sought to 
identify any possible shortcoming or irregularity and put forward recommendations 
essentially meant to ensure that the best use of public funds is made.

1.3.7	 The findings of this Report are presented in four chapters. Chapter 1 gives an overview 
of the allegations made in the media and the mandate to the NAO by the PAC, Chapter 
2 deals with the original lease agreement entered into by Government and CE in 1998 
and Chapter 3 with the reacquisition contract signed by the parties in January 2014. 
Chapter 4 presents the NAO’s conclusions and views as to whether the transaction 
represented value for money, the principles of good governance and transparency 
were ensured, and financial regulations were adhered to, and also its assessment on 
the payment, or otherwise, of commissions in the process of this transaction.

 





Chapter 2  
The 1998 Agreement between 

Government and Cities Entertainment Limited
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2.1	 The 1998 Agreement in respect of Café Premier

2.1.1	 By virtue of an agreement entered into on 23 April 1998, Government conceded to 
CE the temporary emphyteusis of the premises at 33 and 34 Old Treasury Street and 
the basement accessed from 35 Old Treasury Street, as well as three shops at 40, 41 
and 42 Old Theatre Street, Valletta, known as Café Premier.1  This Office deemed it 
necessary to outline the salient details of the 1998 agreement, since this provides 
a context against which to better understand the decisions taken later on that led 
to the signing of the 29 January 2014 contract, whereby Government acquired the 
remaining utile dominium of the Café Premier for the sum of €4,200,000. 

2.1.2	 This background provides the basis for certain assertions made, such as the claim 
of the possible rescission of the 1998 agreement as a viable course of action that 
Government could have pursued in the reacquisition of the Café Premier premises. 
Apart from the terms of payment for the emphyteutical lease and other provisions 
that the tenant was to observe, this agreement also stipulated the specific breaches 
that could in effect lead to the rescission of the contract.

Termination of Previous Lease

2.1.3	 The initial part of the 1998 agreement dealt with the termination of the Café Premier 
lease with the then sitting tenants, and the concession of the temporary emphyteusis 
in favour of CE. The premises were initially leased to Joseph Pace, who had acquired 
the utile dominium on 1 July 1962 after the expiration of a 99-year emphyteutical 
concession originally granted in 1863. On 17 August 1995, the heirs of Joseph Pace 
reached an agreement with CE, indicating that they were willing to relinquish the utile 
dominium, against payment, if the company could secure a temporary emphyteusis 
for a minimum of 50 years and subject to a number of other conditions. 

2.1.4	 This led to the signing of a private agreement between the parties and the 
Commissioner of Land on 26 November 1997, which was in line with the policy2 in 

Chapter 2 –  The 1998 Agreement between 
Government and Cities Entertainment Limited

1  Originally, the premises consisted solely of Nos. 33 and 34 as well as the basement at No. 35 Old Treasury Street, Valletta; 
however, a letter dated 4 May 1998 from the Ministry for Public Works and Construction to Director Works Division indicated 
that the shops at Nos. 40, 41 and 42 Old Theatre Street, Valletta were annexed to the existing Café Premier tenement, which 
description now read: Café Premier at Nos. 33 and 34 Old Treasury Street, Basement at No. 35 Old Treasury Street and Shops 
at Nos. 40, 41 and 42 Old Theatre Street, Valletta.

2 The policy entitled “Policy under which utilisti and lessees of Government-owned commercial property may opt to have this 
property granted on new emphyteutical terms by means of a tender procedure” was approved by then Minister of Works and 
Construction on 2 April 1997.   
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force at the time whereby utilisti and lessees of government-owned commercial 
property could opt to have the leased property granted on a new emphyteutical term 
by means of a tender. The term of the new emphyteutical grant was directly linked to 
the permanent improvements that had to be made by the lessee. According to the 
policy, improvements valued:

a.	 up to Lm150,000 (€349,406) would qualify for an emphyteutical concession of 25 
years;

b.	 above Lm150,000 but below Lm350,000 (€815,281) would qualify for an 
emphyteutical concession of 45 years; and

c.	 above Lm350,000 would qualify for an emphyteutical concession of 65 years. 

2.1.5	 Although the utilista was granted the right of first refusal, in cases where the utilista 
opted to introduce a third party, then such right was granted to the latter, as was in 
fact the case in the Café Premier concession. The outright transfer of the premises 
was finalised with the tripartite agreement of 23 April 1998, signed between the 
Commissioner of Land, a representative of the incumbent tenants and two [then] 
Directors of CE. A representative for Bank of Valletta plc and another for Mid-Med 
Bank plc were also signatories to the agreement, safeguarding the interests of the 
banks in view of moneys that were to be paid to these two financial institutions on 
the signing of the agreement.

2.1.6	 The agreement did not give a detailed description of the premises other than that 
it comprised of 33 and 34 Old Treasury Street and the basement accessed from 35 
Old Treasury Street and the three shops at 40, 41 and 42 Old Theatre Street, Valletta. 
However, a detailed description of the emphyteutical premises was drawn up by 
Mangion, Mangion & Partners in 2009, when this firm was appointed to carry out a 
valuation of the property, which indicated that: 

	 “The property consists of part of the ground floor and the basement beneath the 
Public Library (the Bibliotheca) in Queen’s Square, Valletta. It is on a corner site and 
it is bounded by Treasury Street on the North West and by Old Theatre Street on the 
North East. It has a large frontage on the former and a lesser one on the latter street. 
The frontage on Treasury Street measures some 17m and it has three entrances, 
while that on Old Theatre Street measures some 13m and it too has three entrances. 
Along this frontage, Treasury Street is in the form of an arcade which runs beneath 
the Public Library. Both streets are pedestrianised. Queen’s Square lies adjacent to 
Treasury Street from which it is separated by the piers of the arcade. The extreme 
corner between the two streets is occupied by a third party and it is currently occupied 
by a clothes shop. The main entrance to the Public Library lies between the property 
frontage and the clothes shop on Treasury Street. The basement largely underlies the 
ground floor although there are some small variations between the two footprints. 
The height of the ground floor varies considerably as most of the rooms are vaulted 
and thus the room height ranges between 2.3m at the springing and 4.4m at the 
crown of the vaults. The basement floor is also vaulted and the height varies between 
2.6m and 4.4m. It is accessible via a staircase located at the end entrance in Treasury 
Street as well as a second one located behind one of the entrances in Old Theatre 
Street. The Net Floor Area of the ground floor is 579m2 and that of the basement is 
505m2.”3

3  Cities Entertainment Ltd also had encroachment rights in part of the arcade in Treasury Street and in part of Republic Square 
(more commonly known as Pjazza Reġina), Valletta. However, these are outside the scope of this review since encroachment 
rights are not transferable and do not feature in the agreement between Government and CE analysed in this Report.
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	 This description gives a better understanding of the extent of the Café Premier 
premises and of other elements, such as frontage, that were factored in when this 
and subsequent valuations of these premises were made.

Terms and Conditions – Term, Use, Improvements and Upkeep

2.1.7	 According to the second part of the 1998 agreement, the concession of the 
emphyteutical grant in favour of CE was being made on several conditions, including 
the term of the lease, purpose of use and the payment of annual ground rent. According 
to the agreement, the Commissioner of Land conceded the temporary emphyteusis 
to CE for a period of 65 years from the date of contract, that is 23 April 1998. The 
lease would, therefore, expire in 2063. The emphyteuta could not change the nature 
of activity of the business other than that stated in the agreement, namely that the 
premises was to be used solely for cultural purposes. Nonetheless, the emphyteuta 
could operate a cafeteria as an ancillary service to the principal activity. 

2.1.8	 The emphyteuta was to pay the utilista the aggregate sum of Lm850,000 (€1,979,967), 
which was comprised as follows – Lm100,000 (€232,937) for goodwill, Lm500,000 
(€1,164,687) for improvements to property and Lm250,000 (€582,343) for furniture 
and fittings. The emphyteuta was also bound to make permanent improvements to 
the premises valued not less than Lm350,000 (€815,281). These were to be carried 
out within five years from obtaining the relative permits; however, such permits had to 
be applied for within six months from the commencement of the new emphyteutical 
grant. 

2.1.9	 The emphyteuta was to maintain the premises in good condition and was to make good 
any damages sustained. Moreover, the emphyteuta was to insure the premises, and 
improvements thereto, for its full value during the term of the emphyteutical grant. 
The emphyteuta was bound to take all precautionary measures for fire prevention, 
especially with regard to the National Library located above, and was prohibited 
from keeping or using LPG cylinders on the premises. When required, government 
inspectors were to be allowed access to ascertain the condition of the premises and 
ensure that the conditions of this agreement were in fact being observed.

Terms and Conditions – Closure of Premises, Transfer of Utile Dominium and Partnerships 

2.1.10	The second part of the agreement stipulated further contractual conditions that were 
to be observed by CE. The emphyteuta could not carry out structural alterations to the 
emphyteutical immovable, nor could the premises be kept closed without the prior 
written consent of the Commissioner of Land. The emphyteuta was not authorised to 
make easements in favour of third parties, although the immovable granted by the 
temporary emphyteusis was still subject to all existing ones. 

2.1.11	The emphyteuta could not transfer the utile nor was allowed to enter into partnerships, 
management franchises or similar agreements unless the prior permission in writing of 
the Commissioner of Land was obtained. If such approval were granted, Government 
was entitled to a one-time payment, a laudemium, equivalent to that proportion of 
the ground rent being paid pro tempore, which reflected the area being covered by 
such an agreement when compared to the area contemplated in the original (1998) 
agreement. A copy of the contract in respect of such transfers or agreements was to 
be submitted to the Commissioner of Land, and the laudemium paid, within thirty 
days from the date of the contract. 



22                                National Audit Office Malta An Investigation of Government’s Acquisition of the Café Premier  
                        

    23       

Terms and Conditions – Payment of Ground Rent 

2.1.12	The concession of the temporary emphyteusis of the Café Premier premises was made 
against the payment of ground rent due by CE to Government as stipulated in Article 
1 of the agreement. An annual ground rent of Lm40,010 (€93,198) payable a year in 
advance was to be charged; however administrative reductions were to be applied for 
the first eight years of the term and upward revisions due thereafter. Further details 
regarding ground rent payable are presented in paragraph 2.2.5. 

Breaches that could lead to the Rescission of Agreement

2.1.13	Article 17 of the agreement clearly stipulated the breaches that would allow 
Government to initiate legal proceedings to dissolve the contract with CE. Five main 
reasons were indicated that could lead to the rescission of the agreement, namely if:

a.	 the tenant made use of the premises for purposes other than that indicated in 
the agreement;

b.	 the tenant failed to pay the ground rent for three years or, if partial payments 
were made, the outstanding ground rent was equivalent to three years’ ground 
rent;

c.	 the tenant kept the premises closed for a continuous period of one year, as long 
as this was not due to works being undertaken with the prior approval of the 
Commissioner of Land; 

d.	 the tenant transferred the premises contravening the sub-letting conditions 
stipulated in the agreement; and

e.	 the tenant made use of LPG cylinders on the premises. 

2.1.14	Government was bound to give in writing an advance notice of 30 days to any bank 
or financial institution that had advanced loans to the emphyteuta in the event of 
a breach of the agreement that could result in the dissolution of the concession. 
However, Government would not dissolve the concession for any of the above reasons 
if there were pending judicial procedures filed by a bank or financial institution.

Terms of Payment

2.1.15	The terms of payment that the emphyteuta had to effect to the utilista were specified 
in part three of the agreement. It was agreed that CE was to pay the sum of Lm850,000 
(€1,979,967) to the previous lessee for goodwill, improvements to property and 
furniture and fittings. The agreement further stipulated the outstanding amounts 
that were to be paid to various parties on the signing of the agreement, including 
dues to Government, details of which are however deemed irrelevant to the issue 
under consideration. 

2.2	 Adherence to Contractual Conditions

2.2.1	 The 1998 agreement clearly stipulated a number of conditions that were to be 
adhered to by CE during its tenure of the emphyteutical lease of the Café Premier 
premises. Although all the contractual conditions were binding, Government’s right 
to rescind the agreement did not arise from every breach. The conditions that, if 
breached, would enable Government to abrogate the contract with CE and reclaim 
the immovable property were specifically stipulated in Article 17 of the agreement. 
The NAO sought to establish whether any of these conditions were infringed and 
what action, if any, was taken by Government in the event of any such breaches.
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Article 17(i) – Use of Premises for Purposes other than that Stipulated in the Agreement

2.2.2	 Article 17(i) stipulated that CE could not make use of the Café Premier premises for 
purposes other than those stipulated in Article 2 of the agreement. The latter article 
clearly stated that the emphyteutical property was to be utilised solely for cultural 
purposes, although the emphyteuta could operate a cafeteria and a souvenir shop 
as ancillary operations to the principal business activity. When CE acquired the lease 
in 1998, the premises was converted into a walk-through presentation of the 1565 
siege of Malta, which occupied virtually all of the property except for a small café at 
ground floor and a related shop in Old Theatre Street. However, CE undertook major 
restructuring works in 2009 that included a revised and adapted heritage show, which 
was now restricted to the basement floor, and the conversion of the ground floor into 
a food court. Applications made to the Malta Environment and Planning Authority for 
the sanctioning of these works further evidenced that use of the premises was in line 
with that stipulated in the agreement. 

2.2.3	 During the course of this investigation no allegations were made, nor was any evidence 
found, which suggested that the premises were utilised for purposes other than those 
intended.

Article 17(ii) – Failure to Pay Ground Rent 

2.2.4	 Failure by the emphyteuta to pay rent was also ground for the possible rescission of 
the 1998 emphyteutical contract with CE. Article 17(ii) of the agreement stipulated 
that if the emphyteuta failed to pay ground rent for three years, or if making partial 
payments the outstanding dues equalled three years’ ground rent, then Government 
had the right to initiate legal proceedings to rescind the agreement. 

2.2.5	 According to Article 1 of the agreement, the emphyteutical concession was being 
made against the payment of annual ground rent to the amount of Lm40,010 (€93,198) 
payable yearly in advance. However, the ground rent was being administratively 
reduced for the first eight years, that is: for the first two years to Lm20,000 (€46,587); 
for the next two years to Lm25,000 (€58,234); for the next two years to Lm30,000 
(€69,881) and for the next two years to Lm35,000 (€81,528). The full amount of 
ground rent was therefore due at the beginning of the ninth year of the concession. 
Nonetheless, this was to be revised every five years according to the rate of inflation, 
as calculated in line with Article 10(c) of the Housing (Decontrol) Ordinance4 or, in 
case of its abrogation, to the inflation index applicable at the time, or an increase 
equivalent to 20 per cent of the ground rent, whichever of the options was the higher. 
Thereafter, ground rent was to increase every five years by the rate of inflation or 20 
per cent (whichever was higher) over the rent of the previous period. The first such 
revision was, however, to be made five years after the full amount of ground rent was 
paid by the emphyteuta. The first full ground rent was hence due at the beginning of 
the ninth year of concession, that is April 2006, and the initial rate of inflation, or 20 
per cent revision, due in April 2011. Table 1 refers.

4  Chapter 158 of the Laws of Malta, extract:
	 13. (1) The index of inflation for each of the years from 1947 until 1978 shall be that shown in the Schedule to this Ordinance, 

taking 1946 as a basis at 100 points. (2) The index of inflation for each year after 1978 shall be established by the Principal 
Government Statistician as percentage points for each of such years in continuation of the Schedule aforesaid and on the basis 
of the all items retail price index, or a similar index replacing it, and shall be published by him in the Gazette not later than 
the end of March immediately following the year to which the index refers. (3) An increase in inflation shall be established by 
taking the difference between the percentage points for the two relevant years, as shown in the Schedule or as published in 
the Gazette, as a proportion of the first of such years.



24                                National Audit Office Malta An Investigation of Government’s Acquisition of the Café Premier  
                        

    25       

Table 1: Ground rent per annum payable as per agreement

Year Year of 
concession

Ground rent 
(Lm)

Ground rent 
equivalent in €

April 1998 Year 1 20,000 46,587
April 2000 Year 3 25,000 58,234
April 2002 Year 5 30,000 69,881
April 2004 Year 7 35,000 81,528
April 2006 Year 9 40,010 93,198

April 2011 Year 14 (40,010 + 20% or rate of 
inflation) *

(93,198 + 20% or rate of 
inflation) *

April 2016 Year 19 * + 20% or rate of 
inflation 

* + 20% or rate of 
inflation 

2.2.6	 The NAO reviewed all related GPD documentation and the relevant transaction ledger 
to ascertain whether the conditions imposed on CE with regard to the payment 
of ground rent were complied with. This Office also sought to establish whether 
there were instances where the three-year outstanding ground rent threshold was 
breached. Data reviewed indicated a number of instances of non-compliance, with 
considerable accumulations of arrears, several repayment schedules agreed to and 
then not honoured, as well as judicial action resorted to by both parties. The relevant 
ground rent ledger records as maintained by GPD are presented in Appendix B. 

Payment of Ground Rent and Related Issues (1): April 1998 – March 2011 

2.2.7	 This Office initially reviewed the ground rent ledger history held at GPD from April 1998 
to March 2011 to determine whether the conditions regarding the payment of ground 
rent were observed. The March 2011 cut-off was somewhat arbitrarily decided upon 
by the NAO audit team, and merely intended to facilitate understanding by separating 
events that took place well before the transfer of the Café Premier between CE and 
Government from other developments that occurred in the months leading to the 
decision to commence negotiations. This cut-off date also segmented the period 
under review based on the point at which the 20 per cent or rate of inflation revision 
in ground rent was due. In effect, this separate view should be understood as one 
continuous account and analysis of the payment of ground rent and issues relating 
thereto.

2.2.8	 The NAO reviewed the payments effected by CE and the balances due as at 23 April 
of each year, when the ground rent for the next twelve months fell due. In particular, 
the NAO sought to establish whether the outstanding three-year ground rent limit 
stipulated in the 1998 agreement was breached at any time during this period. Table 
2 refers.

2.2.9	 Table 2 indicates that the amounts due by CE as on 23 April of 2004, 2005, 2006 
and 2009 exceeded the allowable three-year limit. It has, however, to be pointed out 
that the above shows the position as on the date that ground rent actually became 
payable and does not take into consideration payments that were effected by CE soon 
after the due date which could, therefore, critically change the position from one of 
default of to one of conformity to the three-year threshold proviso. 
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2.2.10	To address this limitation, the NAO took a closer look at the ledger history, where 
details including date, amount debited/credited and the balance due following each 
transaction were listed. This narrowed down the periods of default of the three-year 
limit to the following:
a.	 23 April 2004 to 25 August 2004;
b.	 23 April 2005 to 31 May 2005;
c.	 23 April 2006 to 8 August 2006; and
d.	 23 April 2009 to 11 September 2009.5	

	 These periods of default in terms of adherence to the three-year threshold proviso 
are reflected in Figure 1, which provides a graphical illustration of the Café Premier’s 
ground rent ledger activity relative to the said threshold.

Table 2: Balances due by CE as compared to three-year threshold (1998-2010)

Date Ground rent as per 
agreement (€)

Balance due as per 
GPD data (€)

Three-year threshold 
(€)

23 April 1998 46,587 46,587 not applicable
23 April 1999 46,587 46,587 not applicable
23 April 2000 58,234 46,587 151,409
23 April 2001 58,234 46,587 163,056
23 April 2002 69,881 114,139 186,350

23 April 2003 69,881 194,503 197,997
23 April 2004 81,528 251,572 221,290
23 April 2005 81,528 244,002 232,937
23 April 2006 93,198 266,014 256,254
23 April 2007 93,198 219,474 267,925
23 April 2008 93,198 238,561 279,595
23 April 2009 93,198 289,901 279,595
23 April 2010 93,198 237,562 279,595

5  Although the ledger history account was debited with ground rent due prior to the 23 April (that is on 15 April in 2004, 14 
April in 2005, 11 April in 2006 and 14 in April 2009), the period of default is considered as commencing from the due date, 
that is 23 April of each year.

Figure 1: Café Premier ground rent ledger activity relative to three-year threshold (1998-2011)

Note:
1.	The balance due represents the ground rent ledger account activity up to 22 April 2011.
2.	On 12 June 2003, a laudemium charge of €9,476 was raised and immediately settled. This accounts for the brief instance 

when the balance exceeded the threshold, but was disregarded by the NAO as it did not relate to the analysis of ground rent 
payments.
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2.2.11	This Office subsequently sought to establish what action, if any, was taken by the 
Department in light of these infringements. Documentation in the related GPD files 
indicated that, notwithstanding several prior reminders to CE to settle outstanding 
balances, on 5 May 2004 the Commissioner of Land submitted a final reminder to CE 
stating that in spite of notices sent, the Company had failed to settle the amount of 
Lm108,000 (€251,572) due as ground rent up to 22 April 2005. A hand-written note 
on the reminder stated that this would be followed by an “official letter”. The matter 
was revisited by GPD on 29 October 2004 when a note in the relative file indicated 
that payments were being effected regularly. 

2.2.12	The matter of outstanding rent resurfaced on 21 March 2006 when the Director (Land) 
GPD informed the Department’s Officer in charge of Rents that “the company has not 
been consistent in effecting payment to offset the arrears by monthly instalments. 
... Under the circumstances please inform the company that unless they call forward 
to bind themselves to effect payment by instalment retrospective from 1 January 
2006 at Lm1,000 (€2,329) weekly without fail and settle immediately the past weekly 
instalments as from 1/1/2006 plus current rent as it falls due, we shall proceed to 
terminate the emphyteusis”. This was shortly followed up when, on 23 March 2006, 
the Director (Land) instructed the Officer in charge of Rents that “the arrears being 
left outstanding by this tenant at the end of each financial year has been discussed 
with DG. ... It has been decided that no further instalments be accepted and that 
action in terms of Article 4666 be proceeded with. As such please ensure that no 
further instalments are accepted and prepare judicial letters for all arrears due to 
date. Please take immediate action.” In fact, on 4 April 2006, a judicial letter was filed 
against CE, requiring the company to settle the balance due of Lm79,200 (€184,486) 
within two days. This position was maintained when, in an internal minute from the 
Director (Land) to the DG GPD dated 28 April 2006 the former recommended that CE’s 
request to lease part of the Café Premier premises to Caffe Cordina dated 25 April 
2006 should only be considered if all arrears of rent were settled. CE was informed 
accordingly.

2.2.13	On 15 June 2006 CE, through their legal representative, informed the Director (Land) 
that the Company agreed to pay arrears due in consideration of the ground rent for 
the period up to 22 April 2007, that till then would accrue to Lm119,200 (€277,661), 
in:

a.	 twelve equal consecutive monthly instalments of Lm5,000 (€11,647) each, the 
first instalment payable on 30 June 2006; and

b.	 the balance (Lm54,200) (€23,268) would be paid in seven equal consecutive 
monthly instalments of Lm8,457 (€19,699) each, the first instalment payable on 
30 June 2007.

	 Moreover, the ground rent which was to become due on 23 April 2007 was to be 
fully paid on the due date in terms of the contractual arrangement. In effect, if the 
payment schedule as proposed by CE was adhered to, rent arrears would have been 
cleared by 31 December 2007. 

6   Article 466 of the Code of Organisation and Civil Procedure, namely:
	 466. (1) Where a head of any government department desires to sue for the recovery of a debt due to a department under his 

direction, or to any administration thereof, for any services, supplies, rent or for any Licence or other fee or tax due, he may 
make a declaration on oath before the registrar, a judge or a magistrate wherein he is to state the nature of the debt and 
the name of the debtor and confirm that it is due. (2) The declaration referred to in sub-article (1) shall be served upon the 
debtor by means of a judicial act and it shall have the same effect as a final judgment of the competent court unless the debtor 
shall, within a period of twenty days from service upon him of the said declaration oppose the claim by filing an application 
demanding that the court declare the claim unfounded. (3) The application filed in terms of sub-article (2) shall be served 
upon the head of department, who shall be entitled to file a reply within a period of twenty days. The court shall appoint the 
application for hearing on a date after the lapse of that period. (4) In the cases of an urgent nature the court may, upon an 
application of the creditor or the debtor, shorten any time limits provided for in this article by means of a decree to be served 
upon the other party.
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2.2.14	Although the Director (Land) was in agreement with the proposed repayment 
schedule, the DG GPD opposed this timeframe, insisting that all outstanding dues had 
to be settled by 31 December 2006. According to internal correspondence this was 
partly motivated by the fact that although CE was effecting payments, these were not 
always being made regularly. Moreover, the value of the payments being made was 
not enough to clear arrears and make good for additional ground rent as it became 
due. On 17 July 2006, GPD informed CE that the settlement of arrears of rent by 
instalments as proposed by the Company on 15 June 2006 was not acceptable to the 
Department and that all rent arrears, inclusive of all current rent due, had to be fully 
paid by the end December 2006 deadline. 

2.2.15	Notwithstanding GPD’s position on the matter, CE effected the payment of two 
instalments of Lm5,000 (€11,647) each after the 17 July 2006 communication. On 
the instructions of the DG GPD and Director (Land), these payments were “cashed on 
account without prejudice”. CE was informed accordingly.

2.2.16	Irrespective of the payments made by CE, the DG GPD maintained his position that 
the repayment schedule should not go beyond end 2006. Furthermore, in internal 
correspondence with the Director (Land) dated 31 July 2006, the DG GPD maintained 
that “court action should not only be for the recovery of all rent dues but also for the 
dissolution of deed”. From documentation in the relative GPD files, it did not appear 
that the matter was actively followed up until the issue was somewhat resolved on 
14 May 2007 with the GPD’s approval of CE’s newly proposed repayment schedule, 
which the company had submitted on 30 November 2006. The GPD’s approval was 
“subjected to the payment of the instalments without fail as they fall due and should 
any instalments remain unpaid, the payment program shall cease and action will be 
taken for the recovery of all the outstanding balance”. Irrespective of the fact that CE 
was effecting regular payments during this period, the NAO noted that the proposed 
schedule was entirely incongruent to and significantly contrasted the GPD’s earlier 
stand in that all outstanding arrears would now be settled by May 2008 rather than by 
end 2006, as previously insisted on by GPD. For that matter, it also differed from the 31 
December 2007 deadline as previously put forward by CE. Moreover, notwithstanding 
the agreement in place, and the several payments made by CE, by June 2008 CE had 
again accumulated arrears, which stood at €238,561.

2.2.17	On 4 June 2008, the Commissioner of Land informed CE of this amount of outstanding 
ground rent and requested that dues be settled within one week from this date. 
Moreover, CE was informed that, should the Company fail to effect payment, judicial 
action would be initiated. Nonetheless, documentation made available to this Office 
by GPD indicated that no immediate follow up was made by the Department. The 
matter was not actively followed up, at least until 5 May 2009, when the Department’s 
Legal Section requested an update of the outstanding balance due on the tenement 
from the Rents Section at GPD. A reply was submitted on the same date, indicating 
that the outstanding balance was €289,901. 

2.2.18	Following this exchange, the GPD filed a judicial protest against CE dated 5 May 
2009, citing the company’s non-adherence to the repayment schedule that CE 
had proposed in November 2006, with outstanding dues that had accumulated to 
€289,901. According to the judicial protest, the Department had no option other than 
to initiate proceedings for the rescission of the emphyteutical agreement with CE. The 
NAO noted that, at €289,901, ground rent due was in fact in excess of the three-year 
limit stipulated in the agreement, which was €279,595. 

2.2.19	Documentation in the relative GPD files indicated that, some time following the 
judicial protest, a meeting between GPD and CE was convened, the conclusions of 
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which were conveyed in a letter by the DG GPD to CE dated 23 May 2009. According 
to this letter, GPD maintained that stated in the judicial protest and reiterated its 
stance that, unless CE regularised its position in accordance with the terms of 
the repayment agreement, the GPD would take further judicial action against the 
Company. Moreover, a cheque issued by CE for €20,000 would not be cashed since 
this could prejudice the Department’s position.

2.2.20	On 2 June 2009, CE submitted a cheque for €93,198 in full settlement of one year’s 
ground rent in respect of the Café Premier premises. This was to replace the two 
cheques submitted earlier for €15,000 and €20,000, respectively. Notwithstanding 
this payment, on 3 June 2009, the GPD returned all three cheques, insisting that the 
full amount of €289,901 be settled immediately, otherwise legal action would be 
instituted. On 9 June 2009, CE deposited the amount of €93,198 at the Law Courts, 
stating that this payment in respect of annual ground rent was due on 23 April 2009 
and which covered the period from this date up to 22 April 2010, was unjustly refused 
by the Commissioner of Land.

2.2.21	It was unclear what, if any, further action was taken, at least until 17 June 2009 when 
CE submitted a letter to the DG GPD. According to this document, a meeting between 
the parties in the presence of the then Parliamentary Secretary was held earlier that 
day where a way forward was proposed by CE. It was further stated that, taking into 
account the payment of €93,198 made in June 2009, CE would still owe €196,702 
in respect of rent arrears, which the company proposed to pay in 36 equal monthly 
instalments. It was also proposed that future ground rent (excluding arrears) would 
be paid six-monthly instead of yearly in advance. 

2.2.22	To this end, a formal agreement was entered into between the parties; however, 
several changes to the terms as proposed by CE were made. According to the 
agreement signed between the GPD and CE on 9 September 2009:

a.	 the cedola for the amount of €93,198 was to be withdrawn;
b.	 the remaining balance of €196,702 was to be paid in 30 monthly instalments, 

payable on the tenth of each month; since the first two instalments were already 
paid, the next payment was due on 10 September 2009;

c.	 in the event that the company defaulted on three of the 30 payments, this 
agreement would be terminated and the outstanding balance would be due as 
one payment; and

d.	 with the exception of arrears that were to be paid as indicated above, rent 
updates were to be paid in advance as these became due as per the 23 April 1998 
agreement.

	 Therefore, to settle all rent arrears CE was to pay 30 monthly instalments of €6,557 
up to December 2011. In addition, annual ground rent of €93,198 was to be paid as it 
fell due, that is, on 23 April of each year. 

2.2.23	In the main, regular payments were being effected until May 2010 when, following a 
meeting between the Commissioner of Land and CE on 26 May 2010, GPD’s tenement 
account in respect of the Café Premier premises was split into two – ‘Tenement 60536 
in Current Account’ in respect of current rent and ‘Tenement 60536 in History’ in 
respect of arrears. Therefore, the amount outstanding of €216,682 was split into:

a.	 Tenement 060536 (in Current Account): €85,432
b.	 Tenement H060536 (in History): €131,250. 
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	 Moreover, as from then on, monthly payments of €7,767 were to be credited to the 
Current Account in respect of current rent and monthly payments of €6,557 were 
to be allocated to the History Account in respect of arrears. No explanations as to 
the reason[s] for this division was found in GPD files; the NAO however noted that, 
contrary to the agreement signed in September 2009, current rent would now be paid 
in monthly instalments rather than yearly in advance as it became due. 

2.2.24	Despite the agreement entered into on 9 September 2009 and the ‘concession’ that 
current rent was to be paid in monthly instalments rather than yearly in advance, 
by February 2011 both accounts had once again fallen considerably in arrears. On 
7 February 2011, GPD informed CE that arrears of €54,366 had accumulated on 
Tenement 060536 in respect of ground rent due up to 22 April 2011. In another letter 
that the Department submitted on the same day, CE was informed that rent arrears 
due up to 22 April 2010 on H060536 had accumulated to €111,580. Both accounts 
were to be settled “at the earliest possible”. 

2.2.25	Several payments were made by CE after the 7 February 2011 letters; however, these 
were not sufficient to settle the outstanding dues. There was no evidence in the 
GPD documentation made available to the NAO that further action was taken by the 
Department, until at least 17 February 2012 when copies of the ledger history of both 
the current and the history accounts were inserted in the GPD file relating to this 
tenement. The balances indicated were €64,552 and €78,796, respectively.

Payment of Ground Rent and Related Issues (2): April 2011 – April 2013 

2.2.26	The status quo persisted until 13 November 2012 when, in an internal minute in the 
relative GPD file, instructions were given for judicial letters to be prepared since the 
May 2010 repayment schedule was not being adhered to by CE. According to GPD, the 
outstanding balances due were now €152,750 in respect of the current rent (060536) 
and €68,463 in arrears of ground rent (H060536), amounting to a total balance due 
of €221,213. Two separate judicial letters in respect of the two rent-related accounts, 
namely 060536 and H060536, were subsequently filed against CE on 12 December 
2012. According to the judicial letters, the settlement of all outstanding dues was to 
be effected within two days.

2.2.27	Providing context to the above-cited judicial action is the NAO’s analysis of ground 
rent balances due by CE to the GPD with respect to the period April 2011 to April 
2013 (Table 3 refers). Rendered evident are two salient issues. First, that at the instant 
when judicial letters were filed against CE, the balance due was below the three-
year threshold. Second, a point of fundamental importance, is the fact that according 
to GPD records, the three-year threshold with respect to ground rent payments had 
been exceeded by CE on 23 April 2013. Specifically, the balance due was €16,300 in 
excess of the applicable threshold.

Table 3: Balances due by CE as compared to three-year threshold according to GPD data 
(2011-2013)

Date
Three-year 
threshold 

(€)
Balance due as per 

GPD data (€)
Variance 

(€)

23 April 2011 279,595 230,497 49,098
23 April 2012 279,595 236,546 43,049
23 April 2013 279,595 295,895 (16,300)
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2.2.28	Only one payment was made after 23 April 2013, which was dated 10 May 2013 and 
amounted to €4,650. A detailed graphical illustration of the Café Premier’s ground 
rent ledger activity for the period April 2011 to May 2013, in terms of adherence to 
the three-year threshold, is presented in Figure 2.

Figure 2: Café Premier ground rent ledger activity relative to three-year threshold (2011-2013)
 

2.2.29	This Office, however, disputes the outstanding amount due as established by GPD and 
cited in the judicial letters. According to the NAO, the current ground rent account 
should have included a revision in rent as per rate of inflation or 20 per cent, whichever 
was the higher, which was due in April 2011 in respect of the period 23 April 2011 
to 22 April 2012. According to the 1998 agreement, the full amount of ground rent 
was due at the beginning of the ninth year of the concession. However, this was to be 
revised every five years according to the rate of inflation or an increase equivalent to 
20 per cent of the ground rent, whichever was the higher. The first such revision was 
to be made following five years of being charged full ground rent. Since the first full 
ground rent was due in April 2006, the first rate of inflation, or 20 per cent revision, 
should have been made in April 2011. Such a revision should have also been reflected 
in terms of ground rent payable in 2012, 2013, 2014 and 2015. This revision was not 
effected in invoices raised by GPD in April 2011 and 2012 that, therefore, should have 
been for the amount of €111,838 and not €93,198. 

2.2.30	As a result of this oversight, these revisions were not reflected in the balance due 
quoted in the judicial letter in respect of the current account 060536 filed by the 
Department on 12 December 2012. This was in fact understated by €37,280 and 
should have read €190,030 and not €152,750. In addition to this amount, €68,463 
was due in respect of arrears of ground rent as per rent ledger account H060536 
to bring the total actual amount of outstanding dues as at 12 December 2012 to 
€258,493 and not €221,213 as quoted by GPD. 
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2.2.31	In light of this omission, this Office sought to establish the outstanding amounts, 
as per due date (that is, 23 April), for the years 2011 to 2013. Table 4 indicates the 
amount of ground rent due as charged by GPD and as established by the NAO, taking 
into consideration the revisions that were to be effected as per agreement.

Table 4: Ground rent as determined by GPD and as per NAO workings

Date As per GPD Data As per NAO workings
Total outstanding (€) Total outstanding (€)

Due Current History Total Due Current History Total
23 April 2011 93,198 54,366 98,466 246,030 111,838 54,366 98,466 264,670
23 April 2012 93,198 64,552 78,796 236,546 111,838 83,192 78,796 273,826

23 April 2013* 93,198 143,534 59,163 295,895 111,838 180,814 59,163 351,815
	 *     if charged up to 22 April 2014 

2.2.32	According to the DG GPD, however, the index of inflation or 20 per cent revision could 
only be computed after 17 February 2012 when Legal Notice 70/2012 was published 
and, by virtue of which, the Index of Inflation for 2011 was established. However, 
irrespective of whether or not this was actually the case, it has to be noted that, 
according to the DG GPD, the revisions in ground rent were brought to the attention 
of CE only in September 2013. Moreover, an entry in GPD’s Café Premier rent ledger 
history indicated that the corresponding adjustments for the period 23 April 2011 to 
22 April 2014 were only effected by the Department in November 2013. Therefore, 
the rent ledger account was erroneous until November 2013, when the due revisions 
were finally made by the GPD.

2.2.33	According to the NAO’s workings (Table 5 refers), when taking into consideration the 
revisions that were due, the comprehensive amount of unpaid ground rent exceeded 
the three-year threshold in April 2013 and the GPD could, potentially, have initiated 
legal proceedings for the rescission of the contract. As expected, the extent of the 
discrepancy in terms of ground rent due as compared to the three-year threshold was 
that of €16,301. The similarity to the previously cited figure of €16,300 as presented 
in Table 3 is attributable to the fact that a 20 per cent revision was applied by the NAO 
to the ground rent due as well as to the applicable three-year threshold, resulting in 
a stable difference of €16,300. 

Table 5: Comparison of outstanding ground rent as per NAO workings with the three year threshold

Date
Three-year 
threshold 

(€)

Outstanding ground
rent as per 

NAO workings 
(€)

Difference (€)

23 April 2011 298,234 264,670 33,564
23 April 2012 316,874 273,826 43,048

23 April 2013* 335,514 351,815 (16,301)
	 *     if charged up to 22 April 2014

2.2.34	As stated earlier, the GPD had only effected the due adjustments in November 2013, 
and despite the intermittent payments of ground rent being made, the Department 
took no other legal action aside from the filing of the judicial letters on 12 December 
2012. The DG GPD acknowledged that the Department had failed to carry out the 
required adjustment in ground rent but maintained that since the tenant was not 
informed of the revision, then the GPD could hardly enforce payment thereof: “... Id-
Dipartiment ma għamilx dik ir-revision u ma infurmax lit-tenant li ha ssir ir-revision, 
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allura għaldaqstant aħna min-naħa tagħna ma stajniex nitolbuh għall-arretrati li ma 
kienx infurmat li huma dovuti min-naħa tiegħu. Kien żball tal-GPD.”7

2.2.35	The DG GPD conceded that it is not acceptable for the Department to enter into 
contracts and stipulate conditions that it is then not able to monitor: “Mhijiex 
aċċettabli żgur dik għax jien jekk ħa nagħmel condition f’kuntratt irrid inkun kapaċi 
li nissorveljah.”8 With regard to the ‘repeated’ repayment agreements entered into 
and which then were time and again not honoured, the DG GPD stated that the 
Department’s position in this regard was to, where possible, arrive at a workable 
arrangement with the tenant: “L-idea tad-Dipartiment hi, kienet u għadha, li jekk aħna 
kapaċi naslu b’repayment agreement, aħjar milli noqogħdu nidħlu l-Qorti, niġġieldu u 
nillatikaw u ma naslu mkien ħafna drabi. ... Allura qed nippruvaw naħdmu fuq sistema 
fejn l-arretrati ma nħalluhomx jakkumulaw.”9

2.2.36	Following the filing by the GPD of the judicial letters in December 2012, CE filed 
counter-protests to each of the Department’s letters, stating that GPD’s claims were 
unfounded. The counter-protest relating to account H060536 was filed on 7 January 
2013, while that in respect of account 060536 was dated 25 January 2013. CE further 
requested the Court to suspend legal proceedings against the Company until the 
amounts of outstanding ground rent due were correctly established. 

2.2.37	In spite of the judicial action initiated against each other, once again both parties 
entered into a ‘new’ repayment agreement. According to an email submitted on 15 
January 2013 by the Director (Finance and Administration) GPD to the CE Director 
Neville Curmi, the parties had, in a meeting held earlier that day, agreed that,

“arrears on tenements 60536 and H060536 will be paid as follows:

P60536 file number 339/63/IV arrears of €152,833.75
H60536 file number 339/63 arrears of €68,463.12.

The two tenements total to an amount of €221,298 however you agreed to pay €9,300 
per month. As from May 2013 apart from the amount of €9,300 you will also be paying 
a further amount of €7,750 to cover the rent amount of €93,198.23 (sic)10.

As soon as you acknowledge the above agreement, I will insert in file and withdraw 
judicial letter. May I remind you to keep with the above agreement, as failing to do so 
the Department will have no other option but to proceed in court. Furthermore, the 
rent section will be monitoring your account to ascertain that payments are effected 
regularly.”

2.2.38	In a separate email submitted on the same date, the Director (Finance and 
Administration) GPD forwarded a copy of the two ledger statements to Curmi. 
However, the emails were not acknowledged as, on 16 January 2013, the Director 
(Finance and Administration) GPD informed Curmi that, “I appreciate your acceptance 
regarding the below content as otherwise I will not be in a position to stop the judicial 
action.”

7	 The Department did not effect the revision and did not inform the tenant that a revision was due, therefore it was not possible 
for us (GPD) to request the payment of arrears that the tenant was not aware of. It was a shortcoming of the GPD. 

8 This is certainly not acceptable, as if I am to stipulate a condition within a contract, then I should be able to monitor it.
9 The Department’s (GPD) understanding, was and still is, that if we are able to resolve matters by means of a repayment 

agreement, then this is better than resorting to the Courts, which would result in arguments as well as conflicts, but not to 
the matter’s resolution. To this end, we (GPD) are trying to implement a system whereby arrears are addressed early on, with 
a view to limiting their possible accumulation.

10 The amount of €93,198.23 quoted by Director Finance and Administration GPD should have been €111,838 as per revisions 
due, reported in the preceding paragraphs of the Report. 
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2.2.39	On 23 January 2013, Curmi responded to this email stating that he was abroad, hence 
the delay in replying. Furthermore, Curmi indicated that, “what you wrote is exactly 
what we agreed. I have since examined the contract of use and discovered that a rent 
review will be made in April 2013, this year. The agreement goes that there will be 
an increase in line with the cost of living or of at least 20% per annum, for the next 
5 years. I assume that the 20% will take precedence. Therefore from May 2013 there 
will be an increase of about euro 18,600 per annum. This is of course substantial. In 
view of the increase I would ask whether you would be able to consider our arrears 
to be repaid over a period of 3 years instead of the 2 as we agreed. The remaining 
agreement that we would carry on with the payment of annual rent monthly over the 
year as and when due will of course remain.”

2.2.40	In the reply submitted by the Director (Finance and Administration) GPD on 25 January 
2013, Curmi was advised to, “...start paying the first instalments as agreed and then 
we review after an increase in the rent amount is worked out.” Curmi indicated his 
agreement with this arrangement in an email submitted that same day. 

2.2.41	Notwithstanding the repayment programme agreed to by GPD and CE, on 5 February 
2013 the Department filed a Risposta to the counter-protests filed by CE on 7 January 
and 25 January 2013. In its submission to the Courts, GPD stated that, contrary to what 
was indicated in the counter-protests by CE, the amounts due had previously never 
been contested by the Company. According to the GPD, this was clearly evidenced by 
the fact that the Company had entered into a repayment programme for the defrayal 
of dues, so much so that one of the Directors had requested an extension of time 
over which outstanding amounts were to be settled – three years instead of two. 
The Department further indicated that, notwithstanding the agreement reached in 
emails and other correspondence exchanged between GPD and CE, the repayment 
programme had not been formalised. This hindered the Department in pursuing 
legal action for the rescission of the lease/emphyteutical grant. The GPD maintained 
that the filing of the counter-protests by CE was merely a delaying tactic, aimed at 
extending the period over which the Company would settle the outstanding dues.

2.2.42	The notices of the hearings were issued by the Law Courts on the 6 February 2013 
and 15 February 2013, respectively. One case (in respect of the ‘arrears’ account – 
H060536), was assigned to the Hon. Justice Farrugia Sacco, and was due for hearing 
on 20 March 2013, while the other (in respect of the ‘current’ rent account – 060536) 
was to be presided over by the Hon. Justice Meli and was due for hearing on 17 May 
2013.

2.2.43	In the interim, correspondence exchanged between CE’s legal representative and 
GPD’s Legal Section, indicated that CE had defaulted with respect to payments 
due. As a result, according to an email submitted by GPD on 20 February 2013, 
the Department was not in a position to withdraw its legal action unless payments 
were effected. On 22 February 2013, CE made their first instalments as per agreed 
repayment programme, with €4,650 paid on each account (060536 and H060536), 
leaving an overall outstanding balance of €211,997. The ensuing developments on 
the two Court cases and the eventual cessation of proceedings are reported on in 
depth in the ensuing Chapter, where the withdrawal of all legal action is discussed in 
detail.

2.2.44	The Café Premier was indefinitely closed on 8 March 2013. Nonetheless, the terms 
and conditions of the 23 April 1998 agreement remained binding. 
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Article 17(iii) – Closure of Premises 

2.2.45	The 1998 agreement, in particular Article 17(iii), clearly stated that the emphyteuta 
could not retain the premises closed for a continuous period of one year, if not to 
carry out works, for which the prior approval of the Commissioner of Land had to be 
obtained. Infringement of this condition would enable Government to initiate legal 
proceedings to rescind its contract with CE. 

2.2.46	To address assertions, albeit informal, that the Café Premier was closed for intermittent 
periods during the CE’s tenure of the premises, this Office sought to verify these claims 
with the CE Directors Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi. The NAO also sought the 
views of officials of the GPD, given its inherent responsibility for the administration 
of Government immovable property and the fact that the Commissioner of Land was 
the signatory on behalf of Government to the 1998 agreement with CE.

2.2.47	During interviews with the CE Directors, both denied that Café Premier had remained 
closed for any significant period after the signing of the 23 April 1998 agreement. 
According to Mario Camilleri, after the first years in operation, the premises was 
briefly closed when there were some transfers in the company’s shareholding. 
Correspondence in GPD files, wherein CE requested the Commissioner of Land’s 
clearance and approval for the allotment and transfer of shares in the Company from 
one shareholder to another, as required by Article 15 of the agreement, indicated 
that this took place sometime in mid-2009.11 The premises was again closed, this time 
over a longer period, when major refurbishment works were carried out in 2009. 
This was in the main confirmed by Neville Curmi, the other CE Director, who stated 
that when the Company initially took over the premises, this was briefly closed when 
refurbishment works and other improvements were undertaken. Curmi confirmed 
that more substantial renovation works were made to the premises in 2009, resulting 
in the closure of the premises for a considerably longer period. These works were 
completed in July 2009 and between this date and March 2013 the premises was 
always in operation. Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi confirmed that any periods 
during which the Café Premier was closed did not exceed, or even came close to, the 
one-year limit laid down in the agreement.

2.2.48	To further obtain an objective corroboration to the affirmation made by the CE 
Directors, that the premises was never closed for any considerable period of time, the 
NAO requested a copy of utility bills (water and electricity) from ARMS Ltd covering 
the period of lease to CE. This Office sought to establish consumption patterns 
and determine whether there were unexplained fluctuations in consumption, not 
attributable to, for example, seasonal factors. According to ARMS Ltd, the Integrated 
Water Management System was used for billing during the period 1998 to 2009, and 
was then replaced by SAP12 sometime during 2010. Extractions from both systems 
covered the entire period under review. Consumption data provided was reviewed 
in some detail by the NAO. No unusual electricity consumption patterns were noted 
although data in respect of water consumption was atypical for short phases during 
the period reviewed. Although an adequate explanation for this apparent anomaly 
was not given by the CE Directors, this irregularity was deemed as insufficient evidence 
that the premises was closed for any considerable duration.

2.2.49	This Office also sought to establish what procedures were in place at the GPD that 
enabled the Department to monitor contractual conditions stipulated in agreements 
with regard to commercial properties. In particular, the NAO sought to confirm the CE 

11 Changes in the shareholding of Cities Entertainment Ltd are discussed in detail in Chapter 3. 
12 SAP is an enterprise software to manage business operations and customer relations.
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Directors’ assertion that the Café Premier premises was, for the duration of CE’s lease, 
not kept closed beyond the stipulated period. According to the DG GPD, in such cases 
the Department generally relied on third parties, for instance neighbours or passers-
by, to inform GPD that a particular premises was closed. The Department followed 
up such reports by sending its inspectors on different days and at different times to 
verify the claims made. Once confirmed, GPD would contact the lessee to establish 
whether there was a valid reason for this. If not, GPD followed the matter with what 
further action was deemed necessary in the given circumstances. The DG GPD further 
stated that, with regard to the Café Premier premises, there was no indication in any 
of the Department’s files that the premises were kept closed during CE’s tenure of the 
premises. This was corroborated in the NAO’s review of the relevant GPD files.

2.2.50	According to the NAO, the above adequately established that the premises were not 
closed for any considerable periods during CE’s tenure, until early March 2013 when 
the Café Premier was indefinitely closed. This date was confirmed by both the CE 
Directors in interviews with the NAO.

Article 17(iv) – Sub-letting of Premises 

2.2.51	Article 15(i) of the 1998 agreement between Government and CE stated that the 
emphyteuta could not transfer part of the utile without the prior approval of the 
Commissioner of Land. Furthermore, according to Article 15(ii), the emphyteuta could 
not enter into partnerships, management franchises or similar agreements unless the 
prior permission in writing of the Commissioner of Land was obtained. If approval 
was granted in either of the scenarios contemplated in Article 15, Government was 
then entitled to a one-time payment, a laudemium, equivalent to that proportion of 
the ground rent being paid pro tempore, which reflected the area in square meterage 
being covered by such an agreement when compared to the original area in square 
meterage contemplated in the agreement. A copy of the contract in respect of such 
transfers or agreements was to be submitted to the Commissioner of Land, and the 
laudemium paid, within thirty days from the date of the contract. A penalty would be 
imposed in the event of non-compliance with any of the two conditions.

2.2.52	Article 17(iv) of the agreement made direct reference to Article 15 and indicated 
that breaches of the latter article would give Government the right to initiate legal 
proceedings to rescind the agreement.

2.2.53	This Office sought to establish whether CE had, during its tenure of the emphyteutical 
property, leased all or part of the premises to third parties and whether, in the event 
of such a transfer, the relevant provisions were observed. A comprehensive review of 
GPD files revealed a number of instances where sub-letting agreements were entered 
into by CE with third parties, details of which are given hereunder.

2.2.54	On 19 May 2003, CE informed the Commissioner of Land that the Company intended 
to lease part of the Café Premier premises to J.F. Caterers Ltd with effect from 15 
June 2003, in terms of Article 15(ii) of the emphyteutical concession agreement. 
The sum of Lm4,068 (€9,476) reflected the ground rent pro rata to the size of the 
premises that was leased out, that is 15.67m2, that was payable to GPD on approval. 
Approval was granted to CE on 10 June 2003 and a lease agreement was entered into 
between the parties on 5 June 2003, which in fact pre-empted the Commissioner of 
Land’s approval. The agreement was for a period of ten years, terminating on 19 June 
2013, against the payment of a fixed annual rental fee, an additional monthly charge 
equivalent to a percentage of the monthly turnover and the one-time payment of a 
premium.
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2.2.55	On 11 July 2003, the Commissioner of Land requested CE to amend its lease agreement 
with J.F. Caterers Ltd since this included an area forming part of Pjazza Reġina, which 
was held on encroachment terms, and therefore did not form part of the emphyteutical 
grant. The lease was duly revised and an amended version was submitted to GPD on 
25 September 2003. By May 2005, J.F. Caterers Ltd had accumulated rent arrears of 
over Lm26,000 (€60,564) and CE requested that a warrant of prohibitory injunction 
be issued by the Law Courts against the Company. The NAO did not come across any 
other details regarding the subletting agreement with J.F. Caterers Ltd in any of the 
GPD files reviewed; however, in April 2006 CE informed the Commissioner of Land of 
its intention to now sub-let part of the Café Premier to Caffe Cordina.

2.2.56	On 19 April 2006, CE requested the approval of the Commissioner of Land for the sub-
letting of part of the Café Premier premises to Caffe Cordina in accordance with the 
1998 agreement. On approval, the laudemium would be payable to GPD, reflecting 
the pro rata ground rent of the area, 162m2 (equivalent to 13.56 per cent of the 
entire area) being leased out. However, on 8 May 2006 GPD informed CE that the 
Department was not prepared to consider the request unless all arrears of rent were 
fully settled by CE. Following lengthy discussions between CE and GPD, a repayment 
programme in respect of all outstanding rent was reached (this is discussed in detail 
in paragraphs 2.2.12 to 2.2.16) and, on 14 May 2007, approval for the sub-let was 
granted, subject to the payment of the laudemium due to GPD.

2.2.57	A copy of the sub-letting agreement was submitted to the Director (Land) on 
13 May 2007, together with the payment of Lm5,425 (€12,639) in full settlement 
of the laudemium. The agreement was, however, dated 27 April 2006, which was 
considerably earlier than the 14 May 2007 approval given by the Director (Land). 
Moreover, the lease agreement again included an area in Pjazza Reġina for the placing 
of tables and chairs, which did not form part of the emphyteutical premises and which 
was, in fact, subject to an encroachment permit that was not transferable.

2.2.58	This was, to an extent, corroborated in a reply to a parliamentary question (PQ No. 
19351) dated 22 May 2006, wherein clarifications were requested as to why Caffe 
Cordina had taken over Café Premier’s encroachment in Pjazza Reġina without a call 
for tenders13. In the reply dated 23 May 2006, the DG GPD indicated that the area 
referred to was held by CE, which had been granted the temporary emphyteusis to 
Café Premier. Moreover, CE had made a request to GPD to lease to Caffe Cordina 
parts of the property as per the emphyteutical agreement. The PQ and GPD’s reply 
indicated that the Department’s attention was drawn to this apparent infringement, 
and indirectly inferred that although the Department was aware of the situation, no 
action was taken.

2.2.59	It was only on 4 June 2008 that GPD drew CE’s attention to this irregularity, although 
no reference was made to the fact that the agreement with Caffe Cordina was 
entered prior to the approval by the Director (Land). In this communication, the GPD 
requested CE to take immediate steps to amend the lease so as to exclude the area 
held on encroachment terms. CE was also requested to indicate whether it was willing 
to relinquish its encroachment permit in favour of a new one that would be issued to 
Caffe Cordina. In its reply dated 9 June 2008, CE contended that GPD’s assertion, that 
the area in Pjazza Reġina held on encroachment terms was leased to Caffe Cordina, 
was contradicted by the contract referred to by GPD. The contract in fact clearly 
stated that Caffe Cordina was granted the “right to use, enjoy and benefit from the 

13 In effect, encroachment permits are neither transferable nor are these granted through a call for tenders; these are granted 
at the “pleasure of Government”. 
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tables and chairs”; therefore, CE emphasised, the area was not transferred but Caffe 
Cordina was merely allowed to benefit therefrom. Moreover, CE had no intention of 
renouncing the encroachment permit issued to it.

2.2.60	No other action was taken until 30 January 2009 when GPD requested Caffe Cordina 
“not to make further use of the area” covered by the encroachment permit made 
reference to in the agreement dated 27 April 2006 with CE. Caffe Cordina did not 
contest this decision and on the same date informed GPD that it will be “respecting 
the Government’s order”. However, CE contested GPD’s position on the matter and, on 
2 February 2009, initiated court proceeding requesting that a warrant of prohibitory 
injunction be issued against GPD. The Department filed its reply on 6 February 2009, 
and the matter was finally resolved on 17 February 2009. It is to be stated that this 
matter fell outside the scope of the emphyteutical grant, and reference to this was 
made solely by way of information and the indirect bearing that this had on the 1998 
agreement.

2.2.61	The issue of sub-letting was brought up by this Office in interviews with both the 
incumbent DG GPD and the former DG GPD. According to the current DG GPD, 
although the approval of the GPD is to be sought in instances of sub-letting, GPD would 
not withhold its approval unnecessarily and is required to be a signatory to the sub-
letting agreement. Nonetheless, when such requests are made, GPD as a rule ensures 
the settlement of any outstanding dues. According to the DG GPD, this is an effective 
factor that is used to the Department’s advantage in negotiations with lessees. In this 
particular case, a repayment schedule in respect of outstanding dues was agreed to 
with CE. With regard to the sub-letting of encroachment areas, DG GPD categorically 
stated that these cannot be sub-let to third parties since encroachment permits are 
non-transferable. With regard to the signing of the agreement prior to the approval 
of the Department, DG GPD stated that this was a matter that the Commissioner of 
Land and the GPD’s legal team would normally address. In the absence of related 
correspondence, then this shortcoming may have gone unnoticed. However, the DG 
GPD added that it was pertinent and fair to point out that CE had, prior to signing the 
agreement, already made their request to GPD as per conditions of emphyteutical 
lease.

2.2.62	On 20 January 2009, CE made another request to the Director (Land) for his approval 
for the sub-letting of a small part of the Café Premier complex, in particular 40 Old 
Theatre Street, to another third party. Payment for the pro rata laudemium reflecting 
the area being leased out, that is 83m2 equivalent to 6.946 per cent of the total area, 
was enclosed.

2.2.63	On 11 January 2010, CE informed GPD that, despite the considerable time lapse, no 
approval to CE’s 20 January 2009 request was received. In view of this, the parties had 
agreed that the business could no longer be concluded and the deal had therefore 
fallen through. Since the change of user had effectively never taken place, CE 
requested GPD to refund the Company the sum of €6,473, or offset this sum against 
amounts due by CE. On 22 January 2010, GPD informed CE that this amount was 
allocated to the Company’s rent account ‘Ten 60536’.

2.2.64	These were the three instances of sub-letting agreements that this Office came across 
during its review of the relevant GPD files. It was however noted that the evaluation 
of the Café Premier premises carried out by Mangion, Mangion & Partners in 2009 
made reference to a lease to Café Palazz, citation to which was not found in any GPD 
documentation. The Mangion, Mangion & Partners report indicated that this was 
a “newly constituted lease ... with an area of 59m2, the rate per m2 of this rental 
is €792/m2 p.a.”. Requested to provide details of this lease, the CE Director Mario 
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Camilleri stated that CE had obtained the verbal go ahead of the Commissioner of 
Land, and that this must have been followed by written approval. However, Camilleri’s 
recollection of the details was vague, partly because he was, at the time, not wholly 
involved in the running of the premises. Camilleri maintained that the lease was 
retracted after less than a year since rent due was not being paid. Notwithstanding 
Camilleri’s claim, no documentation of the lease, nor evidence of the payment of a 
laudemium, was traced in GPD files.

2.2.65	Article 17(iv) of the 1998 agreement clearly stated that any transfers of the 
emphyteutical property not in line with the provisions of Article 15 could result in the 
initiation of legal proceedings leading to the rescission of the agreement. Although 
in this case the major infringements with regard to sub-letting mainly involved 
encroachment, the NAO could not entirely rule out that there could have been other 
breaches related to the emphyteutical grant. This Office could not ignore the fact 
that no evidence of the sub-let to Café Palazz was traced in GPD documentation. 
Under such circumstances, GPD is wholly dependent on the emphyteuta to provide 
the necessary details and effect the relevant payments due. In reality, this curtails 
what amendatory action can be taken by Government to address such breaches. 

Article 17(v) – Use of Gas Cylinders on the Premises

2.2.66	In addition to the requirement of Article 16(i) whereby CE was obliged to take all 
necessary “fire prevention/protection” measures, especially in view of the National 
Library overlying the Café Premier, this article further stipulated that the use of LPG 
cylinders on these premises was prohibited. Moreover, Article 17(v) made further 
emphasis on this prohibition, indicating that any breach in this regard was serious 
enough that it could result in Government’s termination of its agreement with CE.

2.2.67	The NAO sought to establish whether there was any infringement in this regard, 
considering the emphasis made to this condition in the agreement. This Office found 
no evidence of use of LPG cylinders on the premises, except for the PPS’s claim to 
the contrary. However, it was not possible to confirm, or otherwise, this assertion 
post facto. It was also not possible to determine, or otherwise, the possible breach of 
this condition with GPD, since the Department rarely proactively monitors contracts 
with lessees, even those for commercial leases, mostly due to the limited number of 
enforcement officers assigned to it.

2.2.68	Notwithstanding the fact that the use of LPG cylinders on Café Premier premises 
remained unsubstantiated, a policy prohibiting the establishment of catering outlets 
underlying the National Library has since been issued. This policy is discussed in detail 
in Chapter 3 of the Report. 
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Chapter 3 – The 2014 Agreement

3.1	 Negotiations between Government and Cities Entertainment Ltd

3.1.1	 On 29 January 2014, Government and CE signed an agreement whereby Government 
acquired the utile dominium relating to the temporary emphyteusis of the premises 
known as Café Premier for the sum of €4,200,000. Hereunder is a detailed account 
of negotiations undertaken, culminating towards eventual agreement, as well as a 
review of the contract, with specific attention directed towards payments arising 
therefrom.

Commencement of Negotiations

3.1.2	 The sequence of events leading to Government’s reacquisition of the Café Premier 
premises may be traced back to early April 2013, a few weeks following the change 
in administration. The CE Director Mario Camilleri wrote to the PM on 4 April 2013 
requesting a meeting indicating that he intended to discuss an area where his business 
interests came into contact with Government. The PM replied later that same day and 
stated that a meeting was to be scheduled in a few weeks’ time. Furthermore, the 
PM remarked that he was aware that Camilleri was also meeting the Parliamentary 
Secretary for Competitiveness and Economic Growth within the Ministry for the 
Economy, Investment and Small Business.

3.1.3	 Subsequent correspondence exchanged between the PM and Mario Camilleri on 6 
May 2013 confirms that the aforementioned meeting was in fact held on 17 April 
2013, where the possibility of the Café Premier premises passing back to Government 
was discussed. This was not the first attempt by Camilleri to transfer the Café Premier 
back to Government, as Camilleri had disclosed to the NAO that he had approached 
the previous Administration with this proposal. The outcome at the time was negative 
and the matter was not pursued any further. 

3.1.4	 During the 17 April 2013 meeting, Camilleri informed the PM that he was discussing 
the sale of the Company to third parties and that one offer had already been tabled. 
According to Camilleri, the PM indicated that he would be evaluating how the matter 
could be approached and that somebody would be contacting him regarding the 
matter.

3.1.5	 The matter was subsequently brought up for discussion by the PM in a meeting with 
Adviser OPM, where the latter was informed that Government had been offered the 
opportunity to reacquire the premises. According to Adviser OPM, this meeting took 
place around May 2013 and also in attendance were the Chief of Staff of the Office of 
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the Prime Minister (OPM) and the PPS. Adviser OPM’s formal role at this early stage 
of the process was not yet formalised, as his engagement as Adviser to the PM was 
with effect from 1 June 2013; however, the PM instructed him to establish contact 
with Mario Camilleri to explore what was being expected by CE and report back.

3.1.6	 The meeting with Adviser OPM must have taken place prior to, or on 17 May 2013, as 
on this date initial correspondence was exchanged between CE and Government with 
respect to Café Premier-related negotiations. Here, Mark Camilleri of CE wrote to 
Adviser OPM with respect to the Company’s interest in returning the property back to 
Government, should agreement regarding price and payment schedule be reached. 
Also quoted were CE's liabilities due to Government, here stated as approximately 
€675,000 and composed of outstanding dues relating to rent, tax and utilities.

3.1.7	 Attached to this email were two valuations carried out by Mangion, Mangion & 
Partners, one in 2002 and the other in 2009. On one hand, the 2002 report, addressed 
to the CE’s Directors, estimated the overall value of the leasehold property and its 
accompanying encroachment at Lm1,981,745 (€4,616,224). Deducting the value 
of the encroachment (Lm160,000, equivalent to €372,700) results in a leasehold 
property value of Lm1,821,745, equivalent to €4,243,524. On the other hand, the 
2009 report, which was addressed to a commercial bank, sets the net value of the 
leasehold at €4,352,286.

3.1.8	 One final aspect of particular interest with respect to the 17 May 2013 email is 
Camilleri’s assertion that CE was discussing the sale of the Company with several third 
parties and already had an offer that was close to conclusion. The NAO sought to 
verify the veracity of such claims, which aside from determining the reliability of CE’s 
negotiating position, would also provide a benchmark against which to measure the 
eventual deal reached with Government. Information provided by the CE Director 
Neville Curmi fully substantiated claims made by Mark Camilleri in his email of 17 May 
2013. In fact, on 16 May 2013, a third party submitted a draft heads of agreement to 
the CE Directors Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi. The offer was that of €3,500,000 
and entailed the purchase of CE’s entire shareholding. Curmi stated that had this 
agreement gone through, then he would have been entitled to a brokerage fee 
payable in view of his role in conducting negotiations with the third party.

3.1.9	 Adviser OPM replied to Mark Camilleri’s email on 18 May 2013 stating that he 
disagreed with the conclusions reached by Mangion, Mangion & Partners and was 
now awaiting CE’s proposal regarding the monetary consideration that the Company 
was expecting from the sale of the remaining period of the emphyteutical lease. More 
specifically, Adviser OPM disagreed with the value attributed to the encroachment 
concession.

Establishing Value

3.1.10	Following the correspondence exchanged on 17 and 18 May 2013, which effectively 
reflected the documented commencement of negotiations, CE submitted an initial 
request on 20 May 2013, terming the 2009 valuation of €5,370,000 as a starting point 
for discussions. This figure differed to the €4,352,286 valuation cited earlier, in that the 
€5,370,000 (which was a rounded figure for the €5,379,567 cited in the report) also 
included a valuation of the encroachment area adjoining the premises, capitalised at 
€1,027,281. This email, submitted by Mark Camilleri and addressed to Adviser OPM, 
imparted a sense of urgency arising in view of other offers received from third parties 
while simultaneously conveying a willingness to negotiate price and payment terms.
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3.1.11	On receiving CE’s initial request, Government sought to obtain a valuation of its own. 
To this end, Adviser OPM recommended a Senior Architect within GPD (hereinafter 
referred to as Architect GPD) to the PM, who duly concurred. Architect GPD stated 
that no documentation relating to his assignment on this task was exchanged, and 
claimed that Adviser OPM had verbally communicated such instructions.

3.1.12	In view of the manner by which Architect GPD was approached, it was impossible 
for the NAO to precisely determine his date of engagement; however, by 4 June 
2013, Architect GPD had completed his valuation report and submitted it to Adviser 
OPM (Appendix C refers). No copy of this report was noted in all GPD files reviewed 
in relation to this matter, despite the report being issued under the Department’s 
letterhead. Copies of the report were in fact provided to the NAO by Architect GPD, 
Adviser OPM and PPS. Furthermore, the review of GPD files indicated that the 
Department’s management was not made aware of its Architect’s assignment. This 
was confirmed by Architect GPD, who stated that he had not informed his superiors 
despite being aware that this was contrary to the procedure ordinarily employed by 
the GPD in cases of valuations.

3.1.13	The valuation report prepared for Government estimated the value of the remaining 
50 years of utile dominium burdening the property at €4,400,000 to €4,500,000. 
At a general level of analysis, the valuation report prepared by Architect GPD was 
detailed and efforts at augmenting objectivity were noted through the application of 
established rates.

3.1.14	The methodology deemed most suitable by Architect GPD for the purpose of his 
report was the comparison method, which choice was conditioned by the absence of 
any financial accounts of the operating business. Furthermore, valuation was based 
on the following characteristics:

a.	 the internal layout of the property as per plans attached to the 23 April 1998 
deed;

b.	 the weighted area of the property, calculated as being 704.5m2;
c.	 the property forms part of the historical and unique National Library building;
d.	 the exposure of the premises onto Pjazza Reġina;
e.	 local plan and level of protection is subject to Grade 1 limitations;
f.	 fixtures and fittings within the property related to the nature of the operation; 

and
g.	 the applicable rate of €500/m2 per annum, which is the standard rate used by the 

GPD under the Valletta Commercial Scheme (VCS).

3.1.15	Two points merit further elaboration, that is, calculations relating to the weighted 
area of the property and the per metre rate established as per the VCS. With respect 
to the first point, the basement and mezzanine levels were assigned a weight of 0.5 
prime, therefore, the 483m2 and the 61m2 resulted in a combined weighted area of 
272m2. The ground floor zones were sub-categorised and weighted, with the first 
seven metres in depth considered as prime area, the next seven metres as 0.75 prime, 
while the remaining area deemed as 0.5 prime. This sub-categorisation implied that 
the 650m2 of ground floor area was in effect reduced to a weighted area of 432.5m2. 
Combining the 272m2 with this 432.5m2 resulted in the cited 704.5m2 weighted area. 
The NAO queried whether the assignment of weights, as applied in this case, were 
regulated by professional standards or a Departmental policy; however, Architect 
GPD stated that this aspect of the valuation is conditioned by the valuer’s discretion, 
which in turn is influenced by the various characteristics of the property being valued 
and the valuer’s attribution of worth to such characteristics.
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3.1.16	With regard to the second point, the VCS first became operational in December 2012 
and was intended to extend and better regulate the lease of Government-owned 
properties in Valletta for commercial purposes while simultaneously ensuring the 
generation of more rental income. Under this Scheme, Valletta was categorised into 
four zones, depending on the centrality of location of the commercial premises. Zone 
1 featured the most central streets and open spaces in Valletta, and therefore the rate 
charged for premises situated in this zone was the highest, effectively set at €500/m2. 
On the other hand, zones 2, 3 and 4 featured premises with gradually reducing per 
metre rates. The Café Premier premises was situated at the border between zones 1 
and 2, yet the per metre rate applied in Architect GPD’s valuation was that pertaining 
to zone 1, that is, €500/m2.

3.1.17	Based on these two variables, Architect GPD was able to determine the freehold 
value of the premises. The capitalisation rate utilised in this case was that of 5.5 per 
cent. When queries were raised by the NAO as to why this rate was applied, Architect 
GPD stated that the determination of the rate bore an element of subjectivity and 
that GPD normally capitalised at 5 per cent. However, given the commercial nature of 
the premises, the rate was accordingly increased. The application of the 5.5 per cent 
capitalisation rate to the cited €500/m2 to the 704.5m2 weighted area resulted in a 
freehold value (F) of €6,404,545 (Box 1 refers).

Box 1: Determination of Freehold Value

3.1.18	Having established the site’s freehold value, the valuation report proceeded to 
determine the directum dominium. Here, the report made reference to Ministerial 
Direction provided by means of MFEI 007/09, entitled ‘Policy Direction in connection 
with Ministerial Direction MFEI 004/08 in order to establish a fair value of Government 
commercial property for the disposal of Public Land by way of sale of the Temporary 
Directum Dominium and relative ground rent.’ This Ministerial Direction was issued 
on 28 July 2009 by the then Minister of Finance, the Economy and Investment.

3.1.19	MFEI 007/09 referred to another Ministerial Directive, that is, MFEI 004/08, wherein 
it was established that, “All disposal of Public Land by way of sale of the Temporary 
Directum Dominium and relative ground rent should be made at the market value of 
the property and which basis of estimation should be the freehold value of the said 
property.” This Ministerial Direction effectively established the basis on which the fair 
value of the commercial property could be arrived at. Here it was assumed that the 
freehold value at the end of the contract, together with the total yearly emphyteusis, 
would be equal to the maximum sum that the Government would obtain from the 
property. In turn, this should be equal to the redemption price compounded at a 
determined interest.

3.1.20	With reference to the report drawn up by Architect GPD, the redemption price was 
deemed equivalent to the directum dominium and the formula quoted in MFEI 
007/09 was used in determining such a value (Box 2 refers).

F = rate/m2 x weighted area x rate of capitalisation

F = €500 x 704.5m2 x (100/5.5)

F = €6,404,545
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Box 2: Calculation of Directum Dominium

3.1.21	Two figures cited in Box 2 merit further explanation, that is, the €130,050 yearly 
emphyteusis and the 5.5 per cent interest rate. The €130,050 yearly emphyteusis 
was arrived at following the correction for inflation of ground rent charged in 1998. 
While the rate of inflation in 1998 stood at 580.61, the rate of inflation in 2012 was 
that of 810.16. The Lm40,010 notionally payable in 1998, would be equivalent to a 
rounded €93,200 per annum. Correcting for inflation by applying an index of 1.3954 
(810.16/580.61) results in the cited yearly emphyteusis of €130,050.

3.1.22	On the other hand, the interest rate utilised was that of 5.5 per cent, which was 
established as the rate to be used when providing advice for the sale of temporary 
directum dominium and relative ground rent of Government-owned commercial 
property. This rate was established by virtue of correspondence circulated within GPD 
on 28 August 2009 and issued by the Manager, Coordination Services on behalf of the 
DG.

3.1.23	Architect GPD proceeded to explain that while the property was valued at €6,400,000, 
the 15 years that had passed over the 65-year emphyteutical agreement implied 
that €1,959,845 of the value of the premises had returned to Government. The 
remaining 50-year period represented the utile dominium held by CE, hereby valued 
at €4,440,155.

3.1.24	As part of the NAO review of the valuation carried out by the Government-appointed 
Architect, this Office engaged the services of a technical consultant to assist its 
audit team. The NAO consultant stated that while most aspects of the valuation 
were regulated by Government policies, directives or internal GPD procedures, the 
weighting of the premises’ area was the one aspect subject to the Government 
Architect’s discretion. Elaborating on the matter, the NAO consultant indicated that 
the rental value of retail floors is calculated by the zoning method and the principle 
of halving is applied to inner portions, while a quarter of the rate is taken for deeper 

DD = (1.025nF + En)
          (1 + i)n

DD = (1.02550x€6,400,000 + €130,050 x 50)
             (1 + 0.055)50

DD = €1,959,845

Where: DD = directum dominium | n = number of years until end of contract | 
F = site freehold value without any building | E = yearly emphyteusis | i = interest rate

F = DD + UD

UD = F – DD

UD = €6,400,000 - €1,959,845

UD = €4,440,155

Where: F = freehold value | DD = directum dominium (owned by Government) | 
UD = utile dominium (owned by CE)

Box 3: Calculation of Utile Dominium
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ground floor zones, as well as for basement and upper levels. The Government 
valuation utilised higher ratios of 0.75 for inner ground and 0.5 at basement level.

3.1.25	Notwithstanding the discrepancy in the weights applied, the valuation arrived at by 
the NAO consultant was higher than that established by the Government appointed 
Architect. This was largely attributable to the higher per metre rate applied by the 
NAO consultant, who was not constrained by the €500/m2 rate stipulated in the VCS.

Offers and Counter-Offers

3.1.26	Following the submission of Architect GPD’s €4,400,000 to €4,500,000 valuation to 
Adviser OPM on 4 June 2013, the latter requested the PM’s authorisation to table an 
initial offer of €3,500,000, with the possibility of negotiating upwards to €4,000,000. 
Such authorisation was provided by the PM later that same day by means of an email 
sent to Adviser OPM and copied to the PPS and Chief of Staff OPM. On 4 June 2013, 
Adviser OPM submitted Government’s initial offer for the utile dominium belonging 
to CE, which was set at €3,300,000. The submitted offer was for the purchase of the 
property as a running concern, and was to include all furniture and fittings. The offer 
was to be paid in three equal instalments without interest.

3.1.27	A counter-proposal was submitted by Mark Camilleri of CE in an email sent to Adviser 
OPM on 11 June 2013. Here, Camilleri stated that Government's proposal fell short 
of other offers that were being considered by CE and was €2,200,000 less than their 
2009 valuation. CE’s counter-offer set terms as follows:

a.	 A consideration of €4,200,000 that was net of any tax payable on the sale of 
immovable property. Substantiating the ‘net of tax’ argument, CE stated that 
they had received offers for the purchase of the Company that would not entail 
the incurrence of any tax arising from the transfer of property, and therefore 
CE highlighted the necessity of considering this element in its workings. In this 
respect, CE raised the idea of Government exempting them from this tax given 
that the property was being transferred to Government. Should this not be 
possible, CE stated that the element of tax arising from the transfer of property 
would have to be factored into the price.

b.	 Approximately €700,000 due to governmental entities, which was to be 
immediately set off against the consideration. This amount included social 
security payments due, value added tax (VAT), GPD-related fees and utility costs.

c.	 The remaining balance of approximately €3,500,000 was to be paid over eight 
equal quarterly instalments.

d.	 Finally, CE referred to Government’s offer to purchase the property as a ‘running 
concern’. While the Company indicated its willingness to include all fixtures and 
fittings relating to the Great Siege of Malta tourist attraction, CE was not including 
the restaurant-related fixtures as part of the agreement.

3.1.28	Pursuant to this counter-proposal, Chief of Staff OPM requested details of amounts 
due by CE to a number of governmental entities. Correspondence to this effect was 
exchanged with the Commissioner of Revenue, the Acting Chief Executive Officer of 
ARMS Ltd and DG GPD. The requested information, barring social security-related 
data for 2011 and 2012 (which returns had not yet been submitted by CE to the IRD), 
was provided by all three sources and forwarded to Adviser OPM by Chief of Staff 
OPM on 12 June 2013.

3.1.29	A difficulty relating to the communication channels employed in negotiations 
between CE and Government arose on 13 June 2013. This emerged from the review 
of correspondence exchanged by Adviser OPM and a certain Mr Curmi (presumably 
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David Curmi). Here, Adviser OPM confirmed that negotiations were under way with 
Mario Camilleri as a representative of CE and that it was Government’s belief that 
Camilleri bore responsibility to keep interested parties within the Company informed 
of developments. The implication of Adviser OPM’s response is that Curmi was not 
aware of negotiations between CE (as represented by Camilleri) and Government, let 
alone the content and progress of such.

3.1.30	Following further correspondence, Mario Camilleri wrote to Adviser OPM (also copied 
to Neville Curmi and David Curmi) on 14 June 2013 stating that David Curmi had 
been kept up to date on progress registered and apologised for the inconvenience 
caused as a result of CE’s internal miscommunication. More importantly, Camilleri 
stated that negotiations were to proceed in the same manner as before and assumed 
responsibility for referring any firm commitments to CE’s Board of Directors for 
decision-making should the need arise. The PM was informed of such developments 
by Adviser OPM later that same day.

3.1.31	The CE request of €4,200,000 (net of tax) dated 11 June 2013 and sent to Adviser OPM 
was forwarded to the PM on 25 June 2013. Adviser OPM acknowledged the delay 
and explained that this was due to the fact that he had been waiting for documents 
substantiating CE's claim that it would be more advantageous for them to sell the 
Company than transfer the property, as the latter option resulted in the payment 
of capital gains tax, while the former did not. Finally, Adviser OPM enquired as to 
whether the documentation provided by CE should be forwarded to the Commissioner 
of Revenue for comment. 

3.1.32	The documentation referred to by Adviser OPM was a Pricewaterhouse Coopers (PwC) 
report addressed to CE regarding the likely capital gains that could arise with respect 
to each shareholder following the transfer of shares by the Company to third parties, 
considered in the context of multiple possible scenarios. The PwC report compares 
this position to an outright sale of the property by CE.

3.1.33	The PM directed Adviser OPM to seek the Commissioner of Revenue’s views with 
respect to PwC’s report, which response was provided later that same day, that is, 25 
June 2013. In his email to Adviser OPM, copied to the PM, Chief of Staff OPM and PPS, 
the Commissioner of Revenue confirmed that PwC's report was correct in stating that 
the shareholders of CE would pay a substantial amount of tax if they were to transfer 
the property instead of the shares.

3.1.34	The Commissioner of Revenue further elaborated on this point when stating that the 
transfer of the property would not be subject to capital gains tax since the property had 
been owned for more than 12 years, and therefore, such a transfer would be subject 
to a final withholding tax of 12 per cent payable by CE. However, the Commissioner 
proceeded to state that since the shareholders were reluctant to transfer the property 
due to this 12 per cent tax (which tax would not have been incurred had CE opted to 
transfer the Company instead), then the buyer must consider paying a higher price to 
compensate the Company for this tax.

3.1.35	Two other points of interest and relevance to this case were made by the Commissioner 
of Revenue. First, although the Income Tax Act provides that the Minister of Finance 
may issue an exemption from tax, this was not recommended due to various reasons, 
one of which being that such an exemption would constitute a breach of European 
Commission state aid rules. 

3.1.36	Second, the Commissioner commented that if VAT had been paid on improvements to 
immovable property and such VAT had been claimed as input tax, a claw back of such 
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input tax would arise if the property was sold before the lapse of twenty years from 
the year the improvements were made. Reference was hereby being made to the 
Capital Goods Adjustment Rules issued under the VAT Act. Under such circumstances, 
the input VAT paid would be clawed back on a pro rata basis and the Commissioner 
strongly recommended not to compensate the Company for any claw back of VAT that 
could arise.

3.1.37	On 27 June 2013, Adviser OPM sent an email to the PM, Chief of Staff OPM and 
PPS citing that, as per explanation provided by the Commissioner of Revenue, CE's 
offer of €4,200,000 net of tax implied that Government's offer would have to be 
that of €4,772,727. Adviser OPM stated that, in his opinion, this request was too 
high, particularly when one considered Architect GPD's valuation of €4,400,000 
to €4,500,000, which he agreed with. To this end, Adviser OPM proposed that 
Government submit a final offer of €3,850,000 net of tax, which would imply an offer 
of €4,375,000. This offer would be on condition that €1,375,000 be paid on signing 
of the contract (which sum would immediately be recouped by Government, given 
outstanding dues payable) and the payment of the remaining balances in tranches of 
€750,000, payable every six months without interest. Finally, Adviser OPM stated that 
he was of the opinion that Government could agree to CE's request to retain catering-
related fittings.

3.1.38	Subsequent to this, the PM proposed that Government tables an offer of €3,500,000 
net of tax, that is, an offer of €3,977,272. On 2 July 2013, Adviser OPM enquired with 
the PM whether Government was going to declare this as its final offer. Adviser OPM 
stated that he was of the opinion that if this offer was to be tabled, then Government 
should allow for other negotiations. The review of correspondence exchanged on this 
matter rendered evident that Adviser OPM was basing this opinion on what he had 
heard from undisclosed sources, namely, that a third party (referred to in paragraph 
3.1.9) had offered between €3,600,000 and €3,750,000. Ultimately, the PM instructed 
Adviser OPM to proceed as proposed, hereby understood by the NAO as allowing for 
further negotiations and not terming this offer as Government’s final position.

3.1.39	In this context, on 2 July 2013, Adviser OPM tabled a Government offer by means of 
an email sent to Mark Camilleri. The offer was in line with discussions captured in the 
preceding paragraphs, that is, €3,977,272 (equivalent to €3,500,000 net of tax), as 
opposed to Government's previous offer of €3,300,000 (equivalent to €2,900,000 net 
of tax). CE's earlier request at this point of negotiations was for €4,772,272 (€4,200,000 
net of tax). Furthermore, Adviser OPM stated that Government found no objection 
in excluding restaurant-related fixtures from the deal, as long as the Great Siege of 
Malta tourist attraction was included, together with fixtures and fittings related to the 
function and safety of the building. Notional agreement on the duration over which 
payments were to be settled was also reached, that is, two years instead of three.

3.1.40	On 5 July 2013, Mark Camilleri tabled another CE proposal in an email to Adviser 
OPM. The proposal was that of €4,488,636 (equivalent to €3,950,000 net of tax). 
All other aspects of the deal had, at this point, already been agreed to. A few days 
later, that is, on 9 July 2013, Adviser OPM forwarded correspondence to the PM, 
copied to Chief of Staff OPM and PPS, indicating CE's €4,488,636 proposal. In this 
correspondence, Adviser OPM stated that he had a meeting with the Camilleris 
(presumably Mario Camilleri and Mark Camilleri) to try and better understand the 
basis of their request. Adviser OPM stated that the Camilleris would prefer to finalise 
a deal with Government rather than the third party preferred by their partners 
(presumably Neville Curmi), but to do so would require a better deal than that on 
offer by the third party. One must note that the offers tabled by Government and the 
third party were in fact identical in terms of value; however, there is no evidence to 



50                                National Audit Office Malta

suggest that Government was aware of this situation. Notwithstanding, Adviser OPM 
proceeded to state that he sensed Government's offer of €3,977,272 as very close to 
this third party offer and that perhaps it was time for Government to put forward a 
non-negotiable offer.

3.1.41	To this end, the PM stated that the €3,977,272 (equivalent to €3,500,000 net of 
tax) was in fact Government's final offer. In line with instructions provided by the 
PM, Adviser OPM sent an email to Mark Camilleri on 9 July 2013 indicating that 
Government was not accepting CE's request of €4,488,636 (equivalent to €3,950,000 
net of tax) but was maintaining its ground and insisting on its last offer of €3,977,272.

3.1.42	In response to Government’s stance, Mario Camilleri sent an email to the PM, copied 
to Adviser OPM and Mark Camilleri, requesting a meeting. Here, Camilleri stated 
that Adviser OPM had informed him that he could not engage in any direct price 
negotiation, since he was merely taking direction on the issue, and it was in this 
context that a meeting with the PM was requested. 

3.1.43	On 11 July 2013, the PM indicated his willingness to meet during the following week. 
According to Mario Camilleri, in attendance at this meeting were the PM, Adviser 
OPM and the PPS. During this meeting, discussions and negotiations intended at 
establishing agreement on price were concluded.

3.1.44	Pursuant to this, Mark Camilleri sent an email to Adviser OPM on 5 August 2013 
outlining CE’s €4,200,000 proposal (equivalent to €3,696,000 net of tax). Details 
regarding the amount to be paid on signing and four ensuing six-monthly payments 
were put forward. Subsequently, on 6 August 2013, Adviser OPM forwarded CE’s latest 
proposal of €4,200,000 to the PM, copying in Chief of Staff OPM and PPS. Adviser OPM 
was of the opinion that CE’s request was reasonable, making particular reference to 
Architect GPD’s €4,400,000 to €4,500,000 valuation. Finally, Adviser OPM requested 
further instructions from the PM.

3.1.45	In turn, the PM sought the views of Chief of Staff OPM and the PPS. While the Chief 
of Staff stated that he considered the offer a fair deal subject to the valuation being 
correct, no record of written feedback provided by the PPS to the PM was retrieved. 
Nonetheless, on 7 August 2013, the PM instructed the PPS to consult with the Ministry 
for Finance (MFIN) (Appendix D refers). The PPS consulted with Permanent Secretary 
(PS) MFIN on 17 August 2013, whereby the latter was requested to review the draft 
Cabinet memorandum prepared with respect to Government’s acquisition of the Café 
Premier utile dominium.

3.1.46	In his response dated 18 August 2013, PS MFIN commented on various matters, 
particularly with respect to the importance of retaining appropriate documentation 
of the negotiation process. PS MFIN also highlighted that if Cabinet approved this 
recommendation to purchase, then an additional €1,400,000 would be required 
in that year’s budget and the remaining amount accounted for in the ensuing two 
budgets. In addition, PS MFIN claimed that if the established price was fair and 
reasonable, then he agreed with the proposed acquisition.

3.1.47	Aside from other correspondence exchanged, on 2 September 2013, Adviser OPM 
sent an email to the PPS, copied to the PM and Chief of Staff OPM. Among other 
matters clarified, Adviser OPM claimed that if Government was not going to provide 
CE with a response, then the opportunity to reacquire the premises would be missed. 
At this point, the PPS enquired as to the way forward with PS MFIN, who promptly 
informed him that once Cabinet approval was obtained, then GPD would draw up the 
relevant agreement. Accordingly, the PPS informed Adviser OPM that he would be 
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presenting a memorandum to Cabinet on 10 September 2013 and offered him the 
opportunity to assist in its preparation. Adviser OPM was in fact the memorandum’s 
original author and did contribute to its review as he proposed the inclusion of a 
provision that prohibited catering in any part of the Café Premier premises should this 
ever be leased again. This proposal, which served as a means of ensuring that GPD 
adhered to this provision given its specific reference in a Cabinet memorandum, was 
agreed to by the PPS.

The Cabinet Memorandum

3.1.48	The memorandum entitled ‘Café Premier, Valletta’, dated 10 September 2013, 
was approved by Cabinet on 17 September 2013 (Appendix E refers). In essence, 
the memorandum briefly made reference to the salient facts relating to the 1998 
temporary emphyteusis granted by Government to CE and that this Company had run 
into financial difficulties over the last years, resulting in the closure of the premises 
in April 2013. The substantial dues to various Government entities were also cited, 
quoted at €689,984 and payable to ARMS Ltd, GPD, the IRD and the VAT Department.

3.1.49	With respect to the negotiation process, the memorandum stated that after an 
approach by CE, Government took the initiative to commence negotiations with a 
view to acquiring the remaining utile dominium. It was stated that this acquisition 
would enable Government to:

a.	 remove possible danger to the National Library posed by the kitchen forming part 
of the Café Premier;

b.	 create vertical circulation to the National Library by providing space for the 
installation of a lift;

c.	 resolve the problem of arrears due to various entities; and
d.	 generate income through the re-dimensioning of the available space and leasing 

out of such space for commercial purposes, while ascertaining that business 
carried out therein poses no danger to the National Library.

3.1.50	In the Cabinet memorandum, reference was made to CE’s negotiations with third 
parties and to the fact that the Company’s initial request was of €5,370,000, based on 
the valuation carried out in 2009 by Mangion, Mangion & Partners. Also highlighted 
was the valuation prepared by the Government-appointed architect, who valued the 
utile dominium of the remaining emphyteusis at €4,400,000 to €4,500,000 in June 
2013.

3.1.51	The memorandum stated that CE had informed Government that the Company was 
willing to sell the utile dominium remaining on the Café Premier for €4,200,000, 
with a payment of €1,839,200 on signing of the deed and the remaining €2,360,800 
payable in four equal instalments spread at six-monthly intervals without interest. 
Furthermore, it was stated that CE were prepared to bind themselves to pay all 
outstanding dues to the aforementioned entities as well as the 12 per cent final 
withholding tax (which amounted to €504,000) on signing of the deed. In line with 
negotiations, it was stated that CE were to leave all fixtures and fittings related to the 
running of the ‘Great Siege of Malta’ tourist attraction, but were not including the 
kitchen and restaurant-related fixtures as part of their offer.

3.1.52	Finally, the memorandum concluded, “It is being recommended that Cabinet approves 
the transaction as described in the last paragraph of this memorandum [paragraph 
3.1.52 refers] and its objectives listed above in bullet form [paragraph 3.1.50 refers].”
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3.1.53	On 18 September 2013, the DG Cabinet Office informed DG GPD of Cabinet’s approval 
of the transaction agreed with CE following negotiations held and provided a copy of 
the memorandum. To this end, the DG GPD was requested to initiate the process for 
the acquisition of the remaining utile dominium of the property in concern. On the 
basis of correspondence reviewed and that stated by all GPD officials to the NAO, this 
correspondence represented the first instance when GPD were formally notified of 
negotiations with CE in relation to the Café Premier premises.

3.1.54	Upon receipt of correspondence from the DG Cabinet Office, the DG GPD informed 
the PS MFIN of the need for additional funds required with respect to the planned 
acquisition, namely, an additional €1,839,200 to Vote 7014 - Acquisition of Property 
for Public Purposes; and an additional €1,180,400 for the 2014 and 2015 Votes. The 
assumption underlying the DG GPD’s request was that the transaction would be 
effected in 2013. On 20 September 2013, following correspondence with the DG 
Budgetary Affairs, the PS MFIN informed the DG GPD that additional funds were being 
provided for the acquisition of Café Premier from CE.

3.1.55	On 24 September 2013, Adviser OPM informed Mark Camilleri that Government had 
accepted CE’s offer of 5 August 2013, that is, at an agreed amount of €4,200,000. 
Copied in this key communication were Mario Camilleri, the PM, Chief of Staff OPM 
and PPS. Camilleri was also informed that the GPD had been instructed to draw up the 
relative deed and that officials from this Department would be in contact with him on 
the matter (Appendix D refers).

3.1.56	This exchange, dated 24 September 2013, effectively brings to a close the process 
of negotiation entered into by CE and Government in May 2013. Table 6 provides 
an overview of amounts tabled by CE and Government throughout the negotiating 
process highlighting the key stages and dates leading to eventual agreement.

Table 6: Overview of negotiated offers and counter-offers

Date of CE’s request Amount requested 
by CE

Amount offered by 
Government

Date of 
Government’s offer

20 May 2013 €5,370,000 - -
- - €3,300,000 4 June 2013

11 June 2013 €4,772,727 - -
- - €3,977,272 2 July 2013

5 July 2013 €4,488,636 - -
- - €3,977,272 9 July 2013

5 August 2013 €4,200,000 - -
- - €4,200,000 24 September 2013

3.2	 Preparation of the Draft Deed of Acquisition

3.2.1	 On 18 September 2013, following the receipt of the Cabinet memorandum, the DG 
GPD instructed a Department Notary to prepare a draft deed of acquisition of the Café 
Premier tenement by Government. A key aspect of the preparatory work undertaken 
by GPD in the deed drafting process was the establishment of dues payable by CE to 
various Government entities. The DG GPD sought to formally and precisely establish 
the amounts due, initiating such efforts by means of correspondence exchanged with 
PS MFIN on 26 September 2013 and 30 September 2013. 
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3.2.2	 Hereunder is an account of how amounts payable to each of the Government entities, 
as well as to other creditors, were established. The following is a list of all parties paid 
as per Government’s agreement with CE:

a.	 GPD;
b.	 IRD;
c.	 VAT Department; 
d.	 ARMS Ltd;
e.	 Dr Malcolm Mangion;
f.	 Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd;
g.	 M&A Investments;
h.	 Banif Bank; and
i.	 CE Ltd.

Government Property Department

3.2.3	 The amount due to the GPD by CE was established on 19 November 2013, following 
the exchange of a number of emails by the Department’s DG, Director (Finance and 
Administration), Assistant Director (Finance and Administration), Revenue Manager 
and Notary. As per GPD correspondence, the amount due was that of €307,347, which 
included ground rent payable as well as encroachment-related fees. The NAO noted 
that the cited €307,347 was somewhat inaccurate and should have read €306,975, as 
rendered evident in Table 7.

Table 7: Amount due by CE to GPD

Account Account details Balance due
H060536 Ground rent arrears account €59,163
060536 Ground rent account €223,656

Ground rent sub-total €282,819
094320 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (A) €22,633
E21016 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (B) €1,473
096075 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (C) (€372)
E21017 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (D) €89
E21018 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (E) €155
E21019 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (F) €89
E21020 Encroachment – Tables & Chairs (G) €89

Encroachment sub-total €24,156
Total €306,975

3.2.4	 The encroachment sub-total amounted to €24,156 and was arrived at following the 
establishment of 27 September 2013 as the cut-off point. The setting of this date as 
the cut-off point was based on correspondence issued by Revenue Manager GPD to CE 
on 27 September 2013, whereby the Company was informed that all encroachment 
permits for the placement of tables and chairs in Pjazza Reġina and Old Treasury 
Street were being terminated with effect from the date of the letter.

3.2.5	 The ground rent sub-total of €282,819 was composed of dues arising out of two 
accounts, namely, 060536 and H060536. In the case of the latter account, that is, 
the arrears account, the balance cited was a straightforward matter, with GPD simply 
stating the amount due as per its records.



54                                National Audit Office Malta

3.2.6	 On the other hand, the manner by which GPD arrived at the balance due on the 
060536 account requires some degree of explanation. The amount of ground rent due 
by CE on this specific account when agreement was reached with Government stood 
at €232,082. In actual fact, this figure was not precisely representing amounts due by 
CE, as on April 2011, the ground rent payable should have been revised upwards by 
20 per cent.14  Such a revision should have also been reflected in terms of ground rent 
payable in 2012 and 2013. To this end, GPD debited CE’s account with the amount of 
€55,919, which corresponded to an annual increase of €18,640. This figure is correct, 
in the sense that it is equivalent to 20 per cent of the annual ground rent of €93,198 
(which was the actual ground rent charged in 2011, 2012 and 2013). Therefore, 
with this revision, the balance payable to Government increased from €232,082 to 
€288,001.

3.2.7	 However, an additional revision was also required and implemented by GPD with 
respect to ground rent paid for the period 23 April 2013 to 22 April 2014. The cut-off 
period established in this case was set at 24 September 2013 and an email sent by 
the DG GPD on 18 November 2013 to various officials of the Department confirmed 
this. An explanation as to the basis of the selection of this date as the cut-off for 
chargeable ground rent was provided by Adviser OPM. Here, Adviser OPM stated that, 
on 11 November 2013, he had written to the PM, copying in Parliamentary Secretary 
for Planning and Simplification of Administrative Processes, Chief of Staff OPM and 
PPS. In this correspondence, Adviser OPM explained that since CE was advised that 
agreement had been reached on 24 September 2013; then, in his opinion, the same 
date should be considered as the cut-off date for the computation of outstanding 
dues to Government. Nonetheless, Adviser OPM enquired whether all concurred 
with this arrangement. On 14 November 2013, the PPS submitted a reply indicating 
agreement, after consultation with Permanent Secretary, MFIN. 

3.2.8	 The establishment of 24 September 2013 as the cut-off date for ground rent was 
deemed as an arbitrary decision by this Office. The NAO considers this decision as 
a shortcoming on the part of Government, and that ground rent should have been 
charged up to the date of signing of the agreement, similar to the approach adopted 
by other Government Departments involved in this matter. If the date of agreement 
was considered as the cut-off date until when ground rent was to be charged, then 
the chargeable rent due to GPD would have increased by approximately €39,000. The 
difference in terms of days between the 24 September 2013 cut-off date and the 29 
January 2014 agreement date was 127 days. The daily ground rent rate applicable 
was that of €306.40, which when applied to the 127 days, resulted in a balance of 
€38,914.

3.2.9	 In view of the 24 September 2013 cut-off, the rent due for the period 24 September 
2013 to 22 April 2014 was credited to CE’s account, which amount was determined 
by GPD to be equivalent to €64,345. Deducting the €64,345 from the previously cited 
balance of €288,001 results in the actual amount due to GPD, which in this case was 
€223,656.

Inland Revenue Department

3.2.10	The IRD was responsible for the collection of CE’s dues to Government in terms of 
capital gains tax arising from this transaction, income tax payable by the Company, 
as well as income tax and social security contributions (SSC) corresponding to the 
Company’s employees. Calculation of the amount of capital gains tax payable by CE 

14 The 20 per cent revision in ground rent was due as per article 1 of the 1998 agreement between CE and Government, details 
pertaining to which are provided in paragraph 2.2.5.
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was a straightforward matter, as applying the 12 per cent rate to the agreed price of 
€4,200,000 resulted in €504,000 in capital gains tax due.

3.2.11	With regard to company tax payable by CE as well as income tax and SSC corresponding 
to the Company’s employees, correspondence submitted by the Commissioner of 
Revenue to the DG GPD on 4 October 2013 indicated that the Company had not 
submitted its tax returns for the years of assessment 2011 and 2012. CE had also 
failed to submit relevant Final Settlement System (FSS) documents.

3.2.12	The Commissioner proceeded by indicating that CE had failed to submit the end of 
year documents for 2011 and 2012 and that its Directors were to be summoned to 
Court. Further elaborating on the matter, it was indicated that with respect to 2011, 
payments were made for January, February and March, while in the case of 2012, the 
only payment submitted was that of August. In view of the failure to file returns for 
years of assessment 2011 and 2012, estimations had been issued by the IRD, which at 
the point of correspondence stood at €145,700.

3.2.13	The company tax balance of €145,700 was calculated as follows:

a.	 €145,500 as tax due from estimations, as well as additional tax and interest for 
years of assessment 2011 and 2012; and

b.	 €200 as an additional tax for the late return of the 2010 year of assessment 
submission.

	 Following the submission of returns for the years of assessment 2011 and 2012, the 
tax due from estimations was cancelled and statements issued on 22 January 2014 
indicated a balance due of €800 for 2011 and €400 for 2012, which, in both cases, 
represented penalties for late filing. A statement for the year of assessment 2013 was 
also issued on 22 January 2014 with a penalty of €50 for the filing of a late return. 
These amounts, together with the €200 for the year of assessment 2010, brought the 
total balance due to €1,450.

3.2.14	In the case of income tax and SSC corresponding to CE’s employees, the balance due 
as at 24 January 2014, that is, following the submission of end of year documents for 
2011, 2012 and 2013, was that of €191,298. Based on information supplied by the 
IRD, the €191,298 constituted amounts due as represented in Table 8.

Table 8: FSS and SSC due by CE

Year FSS SSC FSS fines SSC fines Total
1998 €21 €1 €16 €0 €38
2010 €0 €188 €0 €61 €249
2011 €23,338 €50,016 €4,517 €13,088 €90,958
2012 €26,211 €44,862 €2,808 €5,720 €79,601
2013 €9,641 €10,811 €0 €0 €20,452
Total €59,211 €105,877 €7,341 €18,869 €191,298

3.2.15	GPD were informed of amounts due to Government by CE on 24 January 2014, 
following the aforementioned submission of documents by the Company. To this end, 
the IRD claimed that amounts due were as follows:

a.	 €1,450 due in terms of company tax; and
b.	 €191,298 due in terms of FSS and SSC, that is, tax and national insurance withheld 

from the income of CE’s employees.
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VAT Department

3.2.16	Initial correspondence was exchanged between the VAT Department and GPD on 
4 October 2013, wherein the Director (Debt Management) VAT indicated to the 
DG GPD that the precise amount of VAT and related legal fees due by CE would be 
communicated at a later date; however, an indicative amount of €226,000 was cited. 
Subsequent to this, on 7 November 2013, further correspondence was exchanged 
between the DG GPD and Director (Debt Management) VAT, whereby the latter stated 
that unless payment was made by 30 November 2013, CE would not be eligible for 
the Remittance of Interest and Administrative Penalties incurred under the VAT Act 
Scheme. The deadline for registered persons to qualify for remittance under this 
Scheme was set at 30 November 2013 by virtue of Legal Notice 240 of 2013, which 
accordingly amended Subsidiary Legislation 406.18. 

3.2.17	Article 10 of Annex A of Subsidiary Legislation 406.18 states that, “No remittance shall 
have effect in the account of the registered person unless and before the person effects 
the final payment, as agreed, to the satisfaction of the Commissioner.” This Office is of 
the opinion that the statement made by the Director (Debt Management) VAT to the 
DG GPD was based on this understanding as well as the provision stipulating the 30 
November 2013 deadline.

3.2.18	Further correspondence was exchanged in early December 2013, at which point the 
Director (Debt Management) VAT informed the GPD Notary tasked with drafting the 
deed that aside from VAT due by CE, as well as interest incurred every month until 
full payment was effected, the Department was to recover legal fees incurred, which 
amounted to €6,354. Moreover, GPD’s attention was drawn to the fact that the VAT 
Department had been instructed to collect all balance due up to the date of the 
signing of the contract and not up to 24 September 2013, as per GPD’s understanding 
of the matter.

3.2.19	One final matter addressed at this stage was the cancellation of privileges, which was to 
take place once the VAT Department received payment. The VAT Department provided 
Notary GPD with documentation relating to all privileges filed by the Department 
against CE. In turn, the Notary indicated that a clause would be incorporated into 
the deed, whereby the VAT Department’s legal representative would cancel such 
privileges.

3.2.20	Ultimately, on 24 January 2014, the Director (Debt Management) VAT informed 
Notary GPD of the final amounts deemed payable to the Department by CE. The 
amount of VAT payable was €220,309, while legal fees amounted to €6,354. The VAT 
Department stated that it was of utmost importance that the above-cited amounts 
were paid through three separate bank drafts/cheques, as follows:

a.	 €95,809 to cover tax declared and not paid on returns due from November 2011 
to date;

b.	 €124,500 as the remaining balance up to 14 January 2014; and
c.	 €6,354 for legal fees.

3.2.21	Requested to provide further clarifications by the NAO, the VAT Department claimed 
that the €95,809 presented in the preceding sub-paragraph (a) referred to tax declared 
as due between November 2011 to the date of the Budget Scheme remittance letter. 
On the other hand, the €124,500 stipulated as per sub-paragraph (b) related to the 
VAT amount due by CE with respect to the period prior to 16 October 2011, once again 
citing the 2012 Budget Remittance Scheme rules. In clarifications provided, the VAT 
Department stated that one of the criteria to be satisfied for eligibility to the scheme 
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was the payment of all tax declared due from 15 November 2011 up to the date 
of the remittance letter. In the case of CE, owing to the fact that eventual payment 
was going to be made in one lump sum on the date of signing of the contract, the 
VAT Department separated the two figures and asked for two separate drafts as the 
processing had to be carried out in two stages.

3.2.22	In light of the incongruity arising from correspondence issued by the VAT Department 
regarding CE’s eligibility to the Scheme and the 30 November 2013 deadline, the NAO 
sought to establish:

a.	 when CE applied to participate in the Scheme; 
b.	 whether the Company was in effect eligible; and
c.	 whether the VAT Department applied the relevant provisions as stipulated in 

Subsidiary Legislation 406.18.

3.2.23	CE’s request to participate in the Remittance of Interest and Administrative Penalties 
incurred under the VAT Act Scheme was dated 26 September 2013, yet this was 
received by the VAT Department on 14 November 2013, that is, two weeks prior to 
the Scheme deadline. Article 11 of Annex A of Subsidiary Legislation 406.18 provides 
that “...the Commissioner may allow a registered person to qualify for remittance 
under the scheme where in his opinion the failure on the part of that person to qualify 
for remittance was due to a reasonable excuse.” The reason cited by Mario Camilleri, 
the CE Director who completed the relevant form to participate in the said Scheme 
was “Lack of funds”, which reason was deemed acceptable by the Commissioner 
on 24 January 2014, that is, a few days prior to the signing of CE’s agreement with 
Government.

3.2.24	The matter regarding CE’s eligibility to the Scheme drew this Office’s attention, 
particularly in view of the above-cited 7 November 2013 email in which the Director 
(Debt Management) VAT stated that unless payment was made by 30 November 
2013, CE would not be eligible for the Scheme, and subsequent action to the contrary. 
Asked to provide an explanation as to why the Department backtracked on its original 
advice, the Director stated that by 30 November 2013, a VAT-registered person only 
had to request to participate in the said Scheme, and need not have effected payment. 
The Department indicated that there had been some form of misunderstanding 
regarding the precise understanding of Article 11, “...which date is considered final 
for the purposes of allowing registered persons to qualify for remittance under the 
scheme.” The Director (Debt Management) VAT indicated that at first, this had been 
understood as meaning that all returns due after 15 October 2011 were to be paid by 
the 30 November 2013 deadline. However, at some point after the email sent to the 
DG GPD on 7 November 2013, this Article was understood as implying that a request 
for participation in the said Scheme had to be submitted by the 30 November 2013 
deadline, and therefore full payment of relevant VAT returns due by this date was not 
necessary.

3.2.25	Following the Commissioner’s approval, correspondence was sent to CE by the VAT 
Department on 6 March 2014, whereby the Company was requested to select an 
instalment plan out of the four options presented by the Department, the selection of 
which would determine the amount remitted. Understandably, the shorter the period 
within which full settlement was achieved, the greater the reduction in interest and 
administrative penalties, which in this case varied from a reduction of €32,071 (in the 
case of immediate settlement) to a remittance of €20,044 (in the case of settlement 
over an 11 month period). In reality, the letter was nothing more than a formality, as 
the full payment of the balance due had already been effected on 29 January 2014, 
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on the signing of the agreement with Government, and therefore the total remitted 
was that of €32,071.

3.2.26	This Office queried the basis upon which the VAT Department remitted 80 per cent 
(€32,071) of the total interest and administrative penalties due. To this end, the VAT 
Department cited Article 11 of Annex A of Subsidiary Legislation 406.18, wherein it is 
stated that, “Provided further that where a registered person is so allowed to qualify 
for remission, the Commissioner shall determine new dates for payments in respect 
of the option under paragraph 5 of this Annex.” In essence, Article 5 establishes a 
range of dates which, depending on when payment of balance is effected, accordingly 
determine the rate of remittance of interest and penalties. The VAT Department 
indicated to the NAO that the Commissioner had determined the payment deadline 
as that of 7 April 2014 as per letter issued on 6 March 2014.

3.2.27	The NAO maintains reservations regarding the VAT Department’s interpretation of 
the provisions stipulated in Article 11 of Annex A of Subsidiary Legislation 406.18, 
particularly with respect to the application of the 30 November 2013 deadline for 
allowing registered persons to qualify for remittance under the Scheme. This Office 
considers the provisions stipulated in Article 11 as ambiguous, as a VAT registered 
person may be considered as qualifying for the Scheme when submitting the relevant 
application form, or equally so, when approval by the Commissioner is granted. 
Finally, the possibility of applying the least favourable rate of remittance (50 per cent) 
in cases that extend beyond the 30 November 2013 deadline should be considered by 
the VAT Department.

ARMS Ltd

3.2.28	Information relating to amounts payable by CE to ARMS Ltd was provided to GPD a 
few days prior to the date of signing of the agreement. Aside from correspondence 
authorising various ARMS Ltd officials to appear on the deed on behalf of this Entity, 
the total amount due was established as being that of €130,964. Substantiating 
documentation was provided to GPD in the form of two invoices corresponding to 
separate CE accounts, that is:

a.	 €127,591 corresponding to account 1010 0008 6645; and
b.	 €3,373 corresponding to account 1010 0008 5769.

Dr Malcolm Mangion

3.2.29	In the days leading to the contract, that is, on 27 January 2014, Notary GPD exchanged 
correspondence with Dr Malcolm Mangion regarding dues payable with respect to 
legal consultancy services provided to CE. Notary GPD requested details regarding 
legal consultancy fees that were to be claimed in Dr Mangion’s personal capacity, as 
well as details pertaining to fees that were to be claimed on behalf of colleagues who 
were somehow involved in the process.

3.2.30	In his response, Dr Mangion indicated that the sum of €20,000 was intended as a legal 
consultancy fee; however, reference in the contract was to be solely made to him and 
that he would subsequently make the necessary arrangements in terms of tax due as 
well as payments to colleagues.

3.2.31	According to Camilleri, the €20,000 payment was intended for Dr John Gauci and 
Dr Mangion. Although ambiguous in his response, Camilleri claimed that his legal 
representatives carried out the required research prior to the signing of the contract 
and ensured that all was dealt with in a timely manner. On the other hand, Neville 
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Curmi claimed that he was hardly involved in matters relating to the drafting of the 
agreement and that when he queried Dr Mangion’s role with Camilleri, the latter 
informed him that Dr Mangion had provided assistance in terms of contract-related 
legalities. When pressed on the matter, Curmi stated that he was not entirely certain 
as to what Dr Mangion’s role in the matter entailed.

3.2.32	When queried by the NAO, Mario Camilleri stated that Dr Mangion was brought in 
by Dr Gauci, who in turn was resorted to after Dr Stefano Filletti ceased representing 
Camilleri on ground of possible conflict of interest arising from his, Dr Filletti’s, 
relationship with GPD. The NAO noted that Dr Filletti was still representing Camilleri 
on 8 November 2013, when Dr Filletti wrote to the DG GPD indicating that he was 
assisting Camilleri in taking over Curmi’s share of the Company, among other matters.

3.2.33	The two DGs responsible for GPD during the time of drafting of the agreement 
confirmed to the NAO that Dr Filletti provided legal counsel to the Department, 
particularly in complex cases; however, one DG went on to state that Dr Filletti 
had indicated the possibility of a conflict of interest situation arising and therefore 
withdrew from involvement on the case, while the other DG (who was appointed late 
in the process) categorically denied Dr Filletti being engaged by GPD.

3.2.34	Correspondence substantiating the above was noted in file, and in fact, on 14 
November 2013, Dr Filletti sent an email to Notary GPD, among others, indicating 
that he would henceforth not be able to proceed further on the matter and that Dr 
Gauci and Dr Mangion were to assume responsibility. Attached to this email were 
two documents, that is, the convenium that was to be signed by Government and 
CE, and a draft version of the agreement. The convenium was never seen through, 
yet the draft agreement forwarded by Dr Filletti provided the basis for the eventual 
agreement signed in late January 2014.

3.2.35	Nonetheless, documentation retained by GPD indicated that subsequent 
correspondence exchanged between the Department and third parties was copied to 
Dr Filletti and Dr Mangion on 15 November 2013 (Dr Gauci also copied in), 6 December 
2013 and 12 December 2013, although no record of interventions made by the two 
were noted in GPD files.

3.2.36	An element of explanation was provided by Notary GPD, who stated that Mario 
Camilleri had informed her that a payment relating to legal consultancy services was 
to be effected. Notary GPD claimed that Dr Filletti had subsequently contacted her 
and informed her that payment was to be made to Dr Mangion and that such payment 
was to be termed as legal consultancy. Following such developments, Notary GPD 
sought the approval of the DG GPD as well as that of the Commissioner of Land, and 
the former found no objection in view of Government securing dues payable by CE in 
its respect.

3.2.37	Further to the above, Notary GPD indicated that as the agreement signing date drew 
nearer, it was Dr Gauci whom she would consult with. In fact, Notary GPD stated that 
Dr Gauci was responsible for handling the M&A Investments issue (this matter is dealt 
with in greater detail later on in this Report) and assisted Camilleri at contract signing 
stage.

3.2.38	Notwithstanding the above-detailed views, on 27 January 2014, Banif Bank’s 
legal representative wrote to Dr Filletti in relation to GPD’s request for the total 
cancellation of the hypothecs burdening the Café Premier. Some form of compromise 
was proposed by the Bank’s legal representative and Dr Filletti was asked to indicate 
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whether such an arrangement was agreeable to GPD. Dr Filletti subsequently 
exchanged correspondence on the matter with the Commissioner of Land.

3.2.39	The NAO considers Dr Filletti and Dr Mangion’s involvement in this matter as 
somewhat ambiguous. According to information gathered by this Office, Dr Filletti 
did not represent GPD or Camilleri, yet clearly contributed to the process in some 
capacity as rendered evident through records of correspondence exchanged on the 
matter. Furthermore, it is evident that GPD and Camilleri were aware of Dr Filletti’s 
involvement, as both were copied in various email exchanges. On the other hand, 
the only evidence reviewed in relation to the Dr Mangion’s role was his request for 
payment dated two days prior to the signing of the contract.

Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd

3.2.40	Aside from representing CE’s interests, Dr Mangion also represented Golden Harvest 
Manufacturing Company Ltd. This matter came to the fore on 23 January 2014, 
when Notary GPD informed CE’s Directors that the Department had become aware 
that Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd were owed money and that the 
Company had secured a judicial hypothec. To this end, CE were requested to specify 
the exact amount owed to this Company, in order to ensure payment and cancellation 
of the judicial hypothec on signing of the deed.

3.2.41	The information requested by GPD was provided by a representative of Golden Harvest 
Manufacturing Company Ltd, who sent an email to Notary GPD on 27 January 2014, 
confirming that the amount due to the Company was that of €3,265. Furthermore, 
the Company’s representative provided Notary GPD with an extract from the minutes 
of the Company’s Board of Directors authorising Dr Mangion to appear for and on 
behalf of Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd in order to:

a.	 Collect the debt of €3,265 due from CE; and
b.	 After the resolution of ‘a’, cancel the hypothec 15286/2013 and undertake the 

necessary arrangements to cancel any warrants of prohibitory injunction or 
seizure originally issued in connection with the same debt due.

M&A Investments Ltd

3.2.42	On 6 December 2013, the GPD Notary tasked with drafting the agreement between 
Government and CE sent an email to Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi, copied 
to Adviser OPM, the DG GPD, the Commissioner of Land, Director (Finance and 
Administration) GPD, Dr Filletti and Dr Mangion. The email was lengthy and detailed, 
addressing multiple facets of the agreement that was reached; however, this email 
also represented the first documented instance of the amount due to the creditor 
M&A Investments.

3.2.43	Approximately a week later, that is, on 12 December 2013, Notary GPD sent another 
email to the DG GPD, copied to Adviser OPM, the Commissioner of Land and Director 
(Finance and Administration) GPD, stating that she had included the €210,000 
payment that was to be made to M&A Investments. Aside from indicating that M&A 
Investments were to be part of the deed, the Notary stated that she had spoken to 
Adviser OPM (who was in copy) with respect to the amount due to M&A Investments.

3.2.44	Notwithstanding the above correspondence, the inclusion of the €210,000 payment 
that was to be made to M&A Investments remained an issue of great contention up 
till the actual signing of the agreement between Government and CE. In fact, on 27 
January 2014 (two days prior to the signing of the agreement), Notary GPD sent an 
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email to Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi enquiring as to whether M&A Investments 
was to feature in the agreement, or otherwise. The GPD Notary proceeded to explain 
the source of her confusion, with Camilleri claiming that M&A Investments should 
feature in the agreement, while Curmi maintaining that this should not be the case.

3.2.45	Curmi replied to Notary GPD’s email confirming that the inclusion, or otherwise, of 
M&A Investments in the deed was the source of disagreement between the two CE 
Directors. To this end, Curmi indicated that the matter was being addressed by their 
respective legal advisers.

3.2.46	The matter appears to have come to a conclusion later on 27 January 2014, at which 
point Camilleri wrote to Notary GPD and informed her that following a meeting 
with Curmi, the two CE Directors had agreed that everything with respect to M&A 
Investments’ inclusion in the deed was to remain as originally planned. Copied in this 
correspondence were Neville Curmi, Adviser OPM, the DG GPD and the Commissioner 
of Land.

3.2.47	Indirectly related to the matter, yet of significant interest no less, is the matter raised 
by Camilleri with regard to the payment of trade creditors. In this email, Camilleri 
stated that Dr Mangion was to contact Notary GPD with respect to the inclusion 
of a clause for the benefit of trade creditors. No evidence of such correspondence 
submitted by Dr Mangion was noted in GPD files, and ultimately, trade creditors were 
not specifically mentioned in the agreement signed by Government and CE.

3.2.48	The NAO queries relating to the €210,000 payment made to M&A Investments were 
addressed to the CE Directors and in this context, Camilleri stated that this payment 
was simply the settlement of one of CE’s dues with a creditor – the creditor in this case 
being M&A Investments whose sole Director, according to Malta Financial Services 
Authority (MFSA) records, was Mario Camilleri.

3.2.49	Further commenting in this respect, Camilleri stated that the repayment corresponded 
to a shareholder’s loan issued by M&A Investments. The NAO’s review of the latest 
accounts submitted to the MFSA by M&A Investments, that is, the Annual Report and 
Financial Statements as at 31 December 2009 indicated that the Company owned 
29 per cent of shares within CE. Aside from M&A Investments, a number of other 
companies owned by Camilleri and Curmi held the absolute majority of shares in CE 
(Table 9 refers).

Table 9: CE account of shares

Shareholder Number of shares held Percentage shareholding
Jamco Ltd1 618,250 39.442
M&A Investments Ltd 453,250 28.915
Daneta Ltd 330,000 21.053
Caballero Entertainments Ltd 165,000 10.526
Impact (Consultancy & Developments) Ltd 1,000 0.001
Total2 1,567,500 100.000

Notes:
1.	Jamco Ltd holds all of CE’s issued ‘A’ shares, that is, 411,500 shares and 206,750 of ‘B’ shares.
2.	The total shareholding does not add up to precisely 100 per cent; however, this is due to a rounding error.

3.2.50	Camilleri was specifically requested to provide documentation substantiating the 
€210,000 claim for payment and, to this end, provided the NAO with a signed copy 
of M&A Investments’ balance sheet as at 31 December 2002. Making reference to 
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the balance sheet, Camilleri stated that this confirmed that M&A Investments had 
invested Lm200,000 (€465,875) in CE. The NAO considered the evidence provided as 
insufficient, as this merely indicated that M&A Investments owed a creditor, probably 
Mario Camilleri and the other M&A Director whose signature was on the balance 
sheet, the sum of Lm200,000 and established no link between the €210,000 payment 
effected by CE to M&A Investments as per agreement with Government. Had M&A 
Investments sold its shareholding in CE, then the possibility of payment would have 
been considered plausible, yet no such explanations were put forward by Camilleri 
and the review of MFSA records relating to the transfer of shares within CE indicated 
no transactions of the sort. 

3.2.51	Aside from this line of questioning, which sought to establish the understanding of 
facts through the review of M&A Investments’ records, the NAO also adopted a CE 
oriented perspective, which entailed the review of this Company’s accounts in an 
attempt to arrive at a possible explanation as to the €210,000 payment. CE’s Annual 
Report and Financial Statements as at 31 December 2012, submitted to the MFSA 
on 21 March 2014, indicate directors loans as amounting to €867,873. When the 
NAO queried why the specific provision was for €210,000 and not the full amount of 
circa €867,000, Camilleri’s response was as follows, “Because I couldn’t get the full 
amount out of the sale proceeds. If there would have been enough revenue I would 
have insisted that I will get my shareholders’ loan of course. So that is the maximum I 
could take looking at the figures over here.”

3.2.52	In light of explanations provided by Camilleri, the NAO requested documentation 
substantiating the above-cited directors loans, particularly that relating to the 
€210,000 payment. The evidence furnished entailed a number of disbursements 
from Jamco Ltd to CE, Curmi & Partners and Marcam Ltd. Given that the €210,000 
payment was made from CE to M&A and justified as a loan, the transactions between 
Jamco and CE were not considered as related evidence in this case and therefore not 
deemed as an appropriate explanation by this Office. Furthermore, the terms and 
conditions regulating such a loan agreement were not provided.

3.2.53	The NAO questioned Mario Camilleri with regard to the €210,000 payment at great 
length, specifically seeking to establish whether the payment was simply the recovery 
of a shareholder’s/director’s loan as discussed above, or a commission payment. 
Statements made by Camilleri did not provide a clear understanding as to which of 
the two explanations, that is, the shareholder’s loan or the commission payment, was 
valid. Box 4 to Box 10 substantiate the ambiguity of responses elicited by the NAO.

Box 4: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

NAO And so what is the reason for the specific inclusion of this €210,000 
payment to M&A Investments in the contract?

Mario Camilleri I felt that I done the deal. I’ve worked very hard to put the deal 
together. I put a lot of money in the Company, at least I’ll be taking 
some of the money out. And that was part of the agreement with 
the Curmis which they signed on the dotted lines... .

NAO So is it because you were a creditor?
Mario Camilleri I was a creditor.
NAO Or because you carried out the deal?
Mario Camilleri No, no, no. I was a creditor. And I said because I done the deal I 

want to have part of the shareholders loan paid back to M&A 
Investments.

NAO So every single payment is accounted for, and there are documents 
justifying each payment, except for the €210,000 payment.

Mario Camilleri

The €210,000 was going to a shareholder. I’m the person that’s 
selling, I am the person that’s dictating, it was agreed by my 
partner that one of the shareholders will take as part of the 
shareholder’s loan the €210,000 and that’s it. I don’t see why one 
would ask for documentation on that. I mean at the end of the day, 
if I sell a property and I say divide the payments into this category, at 
the end of the day the important thing is that the Government got 
paid on the day, that’s why questions were asked.
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Box 5: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

Box 6: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

Box 7: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

Box 8: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

NAO So you’re denying that this €210,000 was your commission on the deal?
Mario Camilleri It’s not a commission. No, no.
NAO Senserija qalu il-media. [The media stated that it was a brokerage fee.]

Mario Camilleri

No, no, no. That’s where I got very, very upset. I mean the media 
says a lot of things without doing their proper homework. 
This was a proper business deal, I had the strings in my hands 
at the time and I said look this deal will happen, I will go 
and sign the contract, I have been negotiating it, I want 
some of my shareholder’s loan back. Period.

Mario Camilleri And this €210,000 has created even a bigger concern, because the 
€210,000 is a percentage of the full price.

NAO Five per cent.

Mario Camilleri

Five per cent of the full price. If I had an agent I would have paid five 
per cent for the full price, but instead of me saying ok I want to be 
paid for it, I said I want part of my shareholder’s loan back. So I know 
your question, your question is have you paid anybody any money? 
No, I have not. I never pay any money to anybody unless he is an agent 
and a declared agent. ... there was no agent in this. I went in personally. 
I spoke to the PM, no third party got involved, [Adviser OPM] came 
from the PM as the person to advise on how to go about the deal and 
negotiate the deal and that’s it. As far as I am concerned I had to pay 
nobody a penny as a commission.

NAO So every single payment is accounted for, and there are documents 
justifying each payment, except for the €210,000 payment.

Mario Camilleri

The €210,000 was going to a shareholder. I’m the person that’s 
selling, I am the person that’s dictating, it was agreed by my 
partner that one of the shareholders will take as part of the 
shareholder’s loan the €210,000 and that’s it. I don’t see why one 
would ask for documentation on that. I mean at the end of the day, 
if I sell a property and I say divide the payments into this category, at 
the end of the day the important thing is that the Government got 
paid on the day, that’s why questions were asked.

NAO So it’s a sheer coincidence that €210,000 happens to be five per cent 
of the €4.2 million.

Mario Camilleri

It’s a sheer coincidence. Listen if it was going to be something
commissioned to anybody you think I would have brought it straight 
out in the open like this? I gave this to Lands [shows documents with 
workings relating to the agreement] to tell them exactly how the 
money is going to be divided. My son presented this. ... if there was 
anything to be hidden you wouldn’t be seeing it. Rest assured. But 
we’re not that kind of people.
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Box 9: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

Box 10: Extract from interview with Mario Camilleri

3.2.54	Additional evidence and views with respect to the M&A Investments payment of 
€210,000 were obtained from Neville Curmi, who, on the basis of that stated by 
Mario Camilleri, had posed an element of resistance by opposing such a transaction. 
Providing background on the matter, Curmi stated that on 1 August 2013, an offer 
to buy out his share in CE was submitted by M&A Investments. The €150,000 offer 
was put forward by Paul Camilleri and witnessed by the Company’s accountant. 
According to MFSA records, Paul Camilleri was at the time no longer a Director of 
M&A Investments given his resignation dated 30 July 2013.

3.2.55	Curmi claimed that he was not aware of progress registered by Camilleri in terms 
of negotiations then still under way with Government and was considering M&A’s 
proposed buy-out. The offer envisaged the take-over of all assets and liabilities, and 
entailed the transfer of all shares held by Daneta Ltd and Caballero Entertainments 
Ltd, as well as all rights involving CE, to M&A Investments. Corroborating evidence 
relating to this take-over by M&A Investments was noted in an email dated 11 October 
2013 sent by the DG GPD to the DG Cabinet Office among others, whereby the latter 
was informed that Camilleri was in the process of acquiring the shareholding of Curmi 
to become the sole shareholder of CE prior to the deed of sale with Government. 
Further corroborating evidence was noted in an email sent by Dr Filletti to the DG 
GPD on 8 November 2013, wherein it was stated that plans were afoot to buy Curmi’s 
share out.

3.2.56	An integral part of this arrangement was the release of Curmi from any personal 
guarantees held by CE’s Bank. Curmi indicated that Camilleri had informed him that 
all arrangements involving the bank’s release from personal guarantees had been 
attended to; however, following further consultations with the Bank, it emerged that 
personal guarantees would remain in place and therefore the possibility of M&A 
Investments taking over Curmi’s shareholding was rejected.

3.2.57	Curmi subsequently indicated to the NAO that a few days after the Bank’s rejection 
of release from personal guarantees held in CE’s respect, Camilleri informed him of 
the deal reached between CE and Government. In this context, Curmi expressed a 
sense of having been misled by Camilleri, as he later realised that agreement with 
Government had already been reached many weeks before.

NAO
So your explanation to this is that in effect you are paying yourself 

for 
a loan issued to the company.

Mario Camilleri Absolutely. Absolutely. That is exactly how it is. It is not what I am 
saying. It is what it is.

NAO And the reason why you did that is because that way you ensured 
that you would be paid on the first payment.

Mario Camilleri You got it. You got it.

NAO
Did I understand you well when you said that when your partner saw 
the draft agreement at first he did not want to sign because of these 
€210,000?

Mario Camilleri

He made a big fuss about it. He made a big fuss. I said look I mean I 
believe I’ve got a deal done over here, this is how it’s gonna be done, 
this is how the figures are gonna be split and you’re gonna come 
and sign. If you don’t come and sign we’re both liable for €2 million 
each. He said no, no, we’ll pay it later, I said no. He said but it’s been 
coming to you. I said it doesn’t matter.
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3.2.58	According to Curmi, it was at this moment that Camilleri requested the payment of 
a five per cent commission, which when applied to the agreed €4,200,000, results in 
a payment of €210,000, that is, equivalent to the amount paid to M&A Investments. 
When asked to substantiate this claim, Curmi provided the NAO with a copy of a CE 
Board Resolution dated 28 January 2014, a day prior to the signing of the agreement 
with Government. 

3.2.59	According to Curmi, the Resolution was drafted by Camilleri, and provided evidence 
in this respect, in particular, an email sent by Mario Camilleri to Neville Curmi on 
29 January 2014. In this email, Camilleri stated that attached was the Resolution 
that was to be signed when the two were to meet at GPD (later on that day to 
sign the agreement). Comparison of this version of the Board Resolution with that 
ultimately signed indicates a few changes, which were carried out by Curmi. These 
changes entailed reference to CE’s share register and how this did not reflect the 
correct position of ownership, as well as the addition of precise figures relating to the 
settlement of remaining Company debt. Camilleri was asked by the NAO to provide 
a copy of the Resolution, which was furnished to this Office on 16 December 2014 
and corroborated that stated by Curmi (Appendix F refers). It must be noted that 
Camilleri had, in two interviews prior to this date, failed to make reference to this key 
information despite being pressed on the matter by the NAO.

3.2.60	The Board Resolution as signed by Neville Curmi and Mario Camilleri highlighted 
various aspects of importance relating to the agreed price of €4,200,000 (further 
details specifically relating to this are provided in the ensuing section). Of pivotal 
importance to this investigation was one of the conditions listed in the Board 
Resolution, hereby quoted verbatim, “Intermediary costs payable to M&A Investments 
related to the successful conclusion of the deal, equal to 5% of the sale value will be due 
upon contract and this will amount to €210,000.” Based on that stated in the Board 
Resolution, it is evident to the NAO that the amount payable to M&A Investments 
did not relate to a shareholder’s loan issued to CE, but more precisely reflected the 
payment of a brokerage fee arising out of the successful completion of the deal. In 
the NAO’s understanding, the brokerage fee, or intermediary costs payable to M&A 
Investments, equivalent to five per cent of the agreed transfer price, is more in line 
with a commission payment rather than any other explanation provided to this Office 
by Camilleri.

Banif Bank p.l.c.

3.2.61	On 9 December 2013, the Directors of CE, Camilleri and Curmi, submitted 
correspondence to the Chief Executive Officer of Banif Bank, outlining the salient 
details of interest to the Bank, relating to the agreement reached with Government 
(Appendix G refers). Details relating to the expected structure of the deal, the schedule 
of payments and how funds received were to be utilised were elaborated upon. A 
draft copy of the agreement was attached therewith to substantiate that stated.

3.2.62	The CE Directors proposed a repayment programme that would regulate the manner 
by which the Bank would receive its dues. The proposed schedule of repayment 
envisaged full settlement over a period of 24 months. Payments to the Bank, amounting 
to €2,000,000, were intended to mirror those received by CE from Government, and 
were scheduled as follows:

a.	 €200,000 upon signature of the contract;
b.	 €400,000 within six months;
c.	 €500,000 as the second instalment;
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d.	 €400,000 as the third instalment; and
e.	 €500,000 as the fourth and final instalment.

3.2.63	In view of the assured source (Government) and quick repayment, the CE Directors 
requested consideration with respect to the payment of interest on the outstanding 
balance. Aside from the matter of whether interest was to be charged, or otherwise, the 
CE Directors informed the Bank that since it was to be one of the main beneficiaries of 
the agreement reached with Government, then it would of course appear in the deed 
of sale where a privilege was to be retained in its favour. Furthermore, the personal 
guarantees of both Directors were to be retained and released when payment in full 
was received by the Bank.

3.2.64	Concluding their correspondence with the Bank, the CE Directors provided a full 
summary of payments, which is reproduced in tabular format in Table 10. Rendered 
clearly evident in the penultimate line is the description relating to the €210,000 
payment, which is here stated as a ‘commission on sale.’

Table 10: Extract from correspondence sent by CE Directors to Banif Bank

Summary of payments € €
Sale proceeds 4,200,000
Privileged creditors 1,443,717
Bank 2,000,000
Trade creditors (including garnisheed creditors) 428,000
Commission on sale 210,000
Balance left to pay unsecured creditors 118,283

3.2.65	A response to CE’s letter dated 9 December 2013 was issued by Banif Bank’s legal 
representatives on 19 December 2013. The Bank declined CE’s request for the 
crystallisation of its position in relation to facilities availed of, and therefore, the 
interest rate that was to be charged on the full exposure was that of 5.5 per cent.

3.2.66	In addition, the Bank did not accept the repayment schedule as proposed by CE and 
requested adjustment as follows:

a.	 €200,000 on signing of deed;
b.	 €500,000 after six months;
c.	 €500,000 after 12 months;
d.	 €450,000 after 18 months; and
e.	 €518,228 on 31 December 2015.

	 The above schedule was based on the assumption that the deed would be signed 
on 31 December 2013. The Bank informed CE that should the deed be signed at a 
later date, then interest would continue to accrue and impact upon the indicated 
repayments.

3.2.67	With respect to the security relating to the balance concerned, the Bank indicated 
that the General Hypothec and Special Hypothec burdening the Café Premier were 
to be retained. The Bank proposed that the hypothecs would be reduced accordingly 
with each payment. This matter was subject to further discussions between the Bank 
and GPD, and consensus on the matter was reached on 27 January 2014.

3.2.68	Here, the Bank’s legal representative sent an email to Dr Filletti with respect to GPD’s 
request for the total cancellation of hypothecs burdening the Café Premier. It was 
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indicated that while the Bank was prepared to reduce the relative notes as far as 
the cancellation of the Special Hypothec was concerned, the Bank would keep the 
General Hypothec against CE unfettered. Dr Filletti advised the Commissioner of Land 
that this position was legally correct and thus, the matter was resolved.

3.2.69	On 28 January 2014, the Bank wrote to CE stating that it was willing to waive its 
Hypothecary rights emanating from various notes on the temporary utile dominium 
of the remaining period from the original emphyteutical grant relating to the Café 
Premier premises. This waiver was to be issued on the condition that the following 
amounts were to be deposited into the Company’s account held with the Bank as 
follows:

a.	 €200,000 on date of deed;
b.	 €500,000 by 31 July 2014;
c.	 €500,000 by 31 January 2015;
d.	 €450,000 by 31 July 2015; and
e.	 €531,075 by 31 January 2016.

3.2.70	Finally, Notary GPD was provided with a letter of authorisation issued by Banif Bank 
with respect to its representative, whereby the latter was provided with the power to 
appear for and on behalf of the Bank for the purpose of executing the deed.

Cities Entertainment Ltd

3.2.71	CE was to receive the residual amount following payment of the agreed €4,200,000 and 
relevant settlement of all of the above-mentioned creditors. In the aforementioned 
Board Resolution, it was stated that despite no tangible profit for the shareholders, 
this deal with Government presented CE with the only viable option of repaying all 
secured as well as unsecured creditors.

3.2.72	Furthermore, the CE Board Resolution dated 28 January 2014 stated that any residual 
funds which remained after the settlement of bank dues as well as any funds generated 
through the sale of assets would be utilised in their entirety to address the remaining 
Company debts in the following order:

a.	 garnishee orders equivalent to approximately €43,000;
b.	 unprivileged trade creditors equivalent to approximately €410,000;
c.	 loans made to CE by Curmi-owned companies (Daneta Ltd and Caballero 

Entertainments Ltd), equivalent to an approximate €370,000; and
d.	 other shareholder related loans on a 50/50 (Camilleri/Curmi) per cent basis.

3.2.73	One final note of importance recorded in the Board Resolution related to CE’s 
shareholding, whereby it was stated that notwithstanding the fact that the share 
register denoted a majority of shares held by the Camilleri-owned companies (M&A 
Investments Ltd and Jamco Ltd), on a 70/30 basis, this position was in fact incorrect. 
The correct proportion of ownership of CE was that Curmi and Camilleri owned CE on 
a 50/50 basis.

3.3	 The 2014 Agreement

3.3.1	 The agreement between Government and CE for the transfer of the utile dominium 
with respect to the remaining temporary emphyteusis pertaining to the Café Premier 
premises was signed on 29 January 2014 (Appendix H refers). The GPD Notary who 
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was tasked with the drafting of the deed notarised the agreement reached, while all 
interested parties were represented as follows:

a.	 the Commissioner of Land, appearing for and on behalf of Government and GPD;
b.	 Mario Camilleri and Neville Curmi as representatives of CE;
c.	 a lawyer appearing on behalf of the IRD;
d.	 a lawyer appearing on behalf of the VAT Department;
e.	 a representative of ARMS Ltd;
f.	 Dr Mangion appearing in his own personal capacity, as well as on behalf of Golden 

Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd;
g.	 Mario Camilleri appearing on behalf of M&A Investments; and
h.	 a representative of Banif Bank Malta p.l.c.
 

3.3.2	 Following the statement of all parties represented in the agreement, note of the 
Bank’s consent to reduce various hypothec privileges was recorded. Notarised within 
the deed were provisions relating to the manner by which hypothecs burdening the 
property yet safeguarding the Bank’s interests were to be gradually and accordingly 
reduced with each payment.

3.3.3	 Aside from the reduction of hypothecs encumbering the premises, the transfer was 
subject to a number of other conditions relating to the scheduling of disbursement of 
funds as well as the establishment of amounts payable to each of the aforementioned 
third parties. For ease of understanding, and in line with that stated in the agreement, 
the €4,200,000 may be categorised into two sets of payments (details of which are 
presented in Table 11).

a.	 First, the sum payable on the date of signing of the agreement, which amounted 
to €1,839,200 and was offset against dues payable to the GPD, CGT, the IRD, 
the VAT Department, ARMS Ltd, M&A Investments Ltd, Dr Mangion and Golden 
Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd. A partial payment of the amount due to 
Banif Bank was also settled, while the residual amount from the €1,839,200 went 
to CE.

b.	 Second, the remaining €2,360,800 were to be paid in four equal instalments of 
€590,200 payable in six-month intervals. The first payment of €590,200 was to 
be made six months after the date of signing of the agreement. A portion of 
each payment was to be made to Banif Bank, while the residual amount was to 
be received by CE. Details on the relative apportionment of each payment are 
presented in Table 11.

3.3.4	 Reference was also made to items of inventory that were to form an integral part 
of the agreement, namely, items related to the ‘Great Siege of Malta’ attraction as 
well as all remaining items that were not to be taken by the outgoing tenants. On 
the latter point, a comprehensive list of items was drawn up by GPD prior to the 
agreement and was reproduced as an appendix to the deed. Inventory items that 
were to be taken by the outgoing tenants included all equipment and fittings relating 
to the industrial kitchen; all catering-related equipment and fittings including tables 
and chairs; all office-related equipment and furniture; and all company records, as 
well as other loose items (such as souvenirs and picture frames). Furthermore, the 
agreement stipulated that all items of inventory that were not carted away within 
three months from the date of signing would become Government property.
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Table 11: Classification and scheduling of payments as per agreement

Classification Debtor / Details of payment Amount

Part 1
[payable on date of signing 
of the agreement]

GPD €307,347
CGT €504,000
IRD Company Tax

FSS & SSC
€1,450

€191,298 €192,748
VAT Department VAT1

VAT2
Legal Fees

€95,809
€124,500

€6,750 €227,059

ARMS Ltd €130,964
M&A Investments Ltd €210,000
Dr Malcolm Mangion €20,000
Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd €3,265
CE €43,817
Banif Bank p.l.c. €200,000
Sub-total Part 1 €1,839,200

Part 2
[payable in six monthy 
intervals from the date 
of signing of the 
agreement]

Payment 1 Banif Bank p.l.c.
CE

€500,000
€90,200 €590,200

Payment 2 Banif Bank p.l.c.
CE

€500,000
€90,200 €590,200

Payment 3 Banif Bank p.l.c.
CE

€450,000
€140,200 €590,200

Payment 4 Banif Bank p.l.c.
CE

€531,075
€59,125 €590,200

Sub-total Part 2 €2,360,800

Overall
Sub-total Part1 €1,839,200
Sub-total Part 2 €2,360,800
Total €4,200,000

3.3.5	 Aside from all of the above, numerous standard contractual clauses featured in the 
agreement between Government and CE, including that the premises was being 
transferred free and unencumbered of debt, hypothecs, privileges and/or garnishee 
orders. Such clauses were followed by the specific cancellation of hypothecs as a 
result of payments arising out of this agreement, namely those registered to the 
Government, the VAT Department and Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd.

3.3.6	 All persons present at the GPD offices for the drafting of this deed (as indicated in 
paragraph 3.2.2), as well as by Notary GPD, signed the agreement. Annexed to the 
agreement were the various letters of authorisation empowering representatives of 
the IRD, the VAT Department, ARMS Ltd, Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd 
and Banif Bank to act on their behalf, together with the aforementioned inventory.
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3.4	 Other Issues of Note

VAT Claw Back as per Capital Goods Adjustment Rules

3.4.1	 As indicated earlier in this Chapter, during Government’s negotiations with CE, the 
Commissioner of Revenue’s views were sought with respect to certain tax-related 
matters. Among other issues discussed, the Commissioner commented on the VAT 
Regulations with respect to adjustments relating to input tax on capital goods (as 
stipulated in Subsidiary Legislation 406.12) by means of an email sent to Adviser 
OPM on 25 June 2013, and copied to the PM, Chief of Staff OPM and PPS. Here, 
the Commissioner stated that if VAT had been paid on improvements to immovable 
property and such VAT had been claimed as input tax, a claw back of such input tax 
would arise if the property was sold before the lapse of twenty years from the year 
the improvements were made. Under such circumstances, the input VAT paid would 
be clawed back on a pro rata basis and the Commissioner strongly recommended not 
to compensate the Company for any claw back of VAT that could arise.

3.4.2	 The NAO enquired with the VAT Department whether any of the input VAT claimed by 
CE was subsequently refunded to the Department following the transfer of the Café 
Premier premises to Government in accordance with the capital goods adjustment 
rules. The VAT Department informed the NAO that as at 17 November 2014, no capital 
adjustments had been effected.

3.4.3	 In view of the advice provided by the Commissioner of Revenue and inaction reported 
by the VAT Department, the NAO sought to determine whether any VAT that had 
been claimed as input tax was in fact due to be recovered. It must be stated that this 
exercise was somewhat tangential to the main audit objectives, and in this context, 
the Office based its calculations solely on data provided by the VAT Department and 
the accounts and financial statements submitted by CE to the MFSA.

3.4.4	 Limitations persisted with respect to both sources of data. In the case of information 
provided by the VAT Department, this Office was informed that there is no specification 
included as to whether capital expenditure declared was incurred in relation to 
moveable capital assets or improvements to property. Furthermore, the Department 
informed the NAO that the VAT Act does not establish the requirement for supporting 
documentation to be submitted with VAT returns. The implication of this inability to 
distinguish between moveable capital assets and improvements to property relates 
to the period of reference within which adjustments are to be made. In the case 
of capital goods excluding immovable property, a period of five years is deemed to 
be the period of reference, whereas in the case of immovable property, the period 
utilised is that of twenty years.

3.4.5	 To address this difficulty in determining what portion of tax claimed related to 
immovable and what portion related to moveable capital goods, the Office resorted 
to accounts and financial statements submitted by CE to the MFSA. Where possible, 
the NAO identified costs incurred with respect to immovable capital assets and others 
incurred with respect to moveable capital assets. This was possible for 10 out of the 16 
years in the period under review. With respect to these ten years, the Office assumed 
that the ratio between costs incurred in relation to immovable and moveable capital 
assets, as presented in CE’s accounts, was to be reflected in the apportionment of 
input tax calculations based on VAT submission data.

3.4.6	 Accounts relating to the remaining six years had either not been submitted or were 
in an abridged format, which therefore rendered the process of distinguishing 
between immovable and moveable improvements impossible. In the case of these six 
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years, input tax claimed was apportioned on a 50/50 basis between immovable and 
moveable capital goods.

3.4.7	 Based on these two assumptions, the NAO estimated that the VAT Department 
should have clawed back an approximate €60,000 in tax, with €57,000 arising in 
relation to immovable property improvements and €3,000 with respect to moveable 
capital goods. It must be emphasised that this Office did not seek to establish with 
absolute precision the magnitude of the VAT claw back due, yet solely undertook this 
approximate analysis to bring this matter to the fore.

Withdrawal of Legal Proceedings

3.4.8	 On 12 December 2012, GPD instigated legal action against CE. Two judicial letters were 
sent to CE, giving the Company two days to settle balances of €152,750 and €68,463, 
that is, amounting to a total balance due of €221,213. The reason why two separate 
judicial letters were sent to CE was attributable to the two rent-related accounts 
retained by GPD, referred to in the preceding Chapter as 060536 and H060536.

3.4.9	 A counter-protest was subsequently submitted by CE’s legal representatives with 
respect to each of the judicial letters, with that relating to account H060536 dated 
7 January 2013, while the other, which related to account 060536, was dated 25 
January 2013. The judicial protests filed by CE claimed that the requests for payment 
raised by the Commissioner of Land were unfounded and that legal action should be 
suspended until the correct amounts due were established.

3.4.10	Rendered aware of judicial action taken by CE on 31 January 2013, the Director 
(Finance and Administration) GPD exchanged correspondence with the Department’s 
Legal Section informing them that a repayment programme had been agreed to with 
Neville Curmi. To this end, the Commissioner of Land responded to CE’s counter-
protest dated 25 January 2013 on 5 February 2013, claiming that these dues were in 
fact correct, as they had previously formed the basis of a repayment programme that 
had been agreed to by CE. The Commissioner of Land proceeded to state that the 
judicial protests filed by CE were simply a delaying tactic. 

3.4.11	Notices of hearing of a case were issued on 6 February 2013 and 15 February 2013, 
with one case (4007/12) assigned to the Hon. Justice Farrugia Sacco and due for 
hearing on 20 March 2013, while the other (4009/12) was to be presided over by the 
Hon. Justice Meli and due for hearing on 17 May 2013.

3.4.12	In the interim, correspondence was exchanged between CE’s legal representative 
and GPD’s Legal Section, culminating in an email sent on 20 February 2013, whereby 
GPD indicated that CE had defaulted with respect to payments due and therefore, 
the Department was not in a position to withdraw its lawsuit unless payments 
were effected. A few days later, that is, on 22 February 2013, CE effected their first 
instalment as per the agreed repayment programme, and the Director (Finance 
and Administration) GPD proposed a revision of the account in three months’ time, 
presumably, to better gauge necessary action.

3.4.13	The Senior Legal Officer GPD indicated to the Department’s Director (Finance and 
Administration) that GPD should not withdraw its lawsuit for the time being as 
payments submitted could be a ploy to lead the Department to believe that CE 
was going to honour its obligations. Accordingly, when appearing on behalf of the 
Department on the scheduled 20 March 2013 hearing with respect to case 4007/12, 
the Senior Legal Officer informed the Court that two payments had been effected 
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as per repayment programme and asked for a deferment, which was set for 14 June 
2013.

3.4.14	Similarly, another GPD Legal Officer appearing on behalf of the Department on 7 May 
2013 with respect to case 4009/12 informed the Courts that some payment was made 
by CE and asked for time to resolve the issue in an amicable manner. Court records 
indicated that this case was deferred to 10 July 2013 for what was to be the probable 
cessation of proceedings. The payments referred to by the GPD Legal Officers are 
presented in Table 12.

Table 12: Payments effected by CE after the initiation of legal proceedings

Account Date of payment Amount paid Overall balance due
060536

H060536 22 February 2013 €4,650
€4,650 €211,997

060536
H060536 18 March 2013 €4,650

€4,650 €202,697

060536 10 May 2013 €4,650 €291,245

3.4.15	Court records relating to the hearing of 14 June 2013 with respect to case 4007/12 
indicated that agreement had been reached and payments were being effected. This 
was corroborated by the Legal Officer representing the Department on the case, who 
stated that when she had informed the Court of payments received by GPD, the Judge 
had pressed the Department to decide on its intended course of action, as the Court 
had no role to play if payments were in order. The case was deferred to four days later 
for the presentation of the aforementioned agreement. Consequently, on 18 June 
2013, the Commissioner of Land produced a notice of cessation of legal proceedings 
with respect to Rikors 34/2013, citing agreement between the parties involved. 
The letter was signed by a GPD Legal Officer. Subsequent to this, CE withdrew legal 
proceedings with respect to Rikors 34/2013, also citing agreement between the 
parties involved.

3.4.16	Mirroring developments registered with respect to case 4007/12 were events relating 
to case 4009/12, or rather, Rikors 33/2013. Here, on 10 July 2013, GPD retracted 
its case on ground that agreement had been reached between the two parties. CE 
followed suit, also withdrawing legal proceedings.

3.4.17	Deemed somewhat ambiguous by the NAO was an email sent by the GPD Senior 
Legal Officer to the Department’s DG, Director (Finance and Administration) and 
Legal Officer on 6 August 2013. In this context, the GPD Senior Legal Officer enquired 
whether payments were being made by CE, as it appeared that the case had been 
dropped, despite the substantial arrears due. In response, the Director (Finance and 
Administration) stated that the withdrawal of legal proceedings was inevitable in view 
of objections raised by the presiding Judge, as could be attested by the Legal Officer 
who attended the hearing. The Director proceeded to state that prior to authorisation, 
CE were effecting payments.

3.4.18	The NAO deemed the assertion made by the Director (Finance and Administration) on 
6 August 2013 as tenuous, the basis of which is rendered clearly evident in Table 12. 
Out of a possible twelve payments (€4,650 per account over a period of six months 
– February 2013 to July 2013), CE had in fact effected five payments, which in this 
Office’s opinion, hardly provides the level of assurance required in acquiescing to the 
withdrawal of legal proceedings.
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3.4.19	Of interest in this regard is an email sent by a GPD Legal Officer on 6 August 2013 
to the Department’s DG, Director (Finance and Administration) and Senior Legal 
Officer, among others, indicating that discussions were being held between CE and 
OPM. In the NAO’s understanding, this email represents the first instance when GPD 
acknowledge awareness of pending negotiations between Government and CE.

3.4.20	Notwithstanding the above-established facts, the NAO sought to identify and better 
understand the sequence of events that resulted in the cessation of legal action 
by GPD against CE. The review of GPD files was of no aid at all, as the only record 
relating to the forfeiture of legal proceedings by the Department was an office note 
signed by the GPD Legal Officer succinctly stating “Kawża ċeduta.” This note related 
to case 4007/12, and no equivalent record of any sort was found with respect to case 
4009/12.

3.4.21	Having failed to establish the motivation leading to the withdrawal of court action by 
GPD and who within the Department instigated such action through the review of 
GPD files, the NAO attempted to formulate an understanding by means of interviews. 
This proved to be an equally futile endeavour, with the GPD Legal Section claiming 
that determining whether payments were being effected related to the work of the 
Rents Section (which formed part of the Finance & Administration Directorate). On 
the other hand, the Director (Finance and Administration) claimed that this was purely 
a legal matter, and that the withdrawal of legal proceedings was not her decision to 
make.

3.4.22	Despite the circular references provided by GPD, the blurring of decisions taken 
through poor record-keeping practices and the abdication of responsibility accounting 
for such decisions, a clear response, albeit totally incongruent with that stated by 
GPD, was provided to this Office by Mario Camilleri. Camilleri unequivocally stated 
that Government and CE withdrew from legal action against one another in view 
of negotiations under way at the time. Further elaborating on the matter, Camilleri 
argued that the forfeiture of legal proceedings was an obvious part of the deal, and 
once negotiations had commenced, then legal action was to be brought to a halt.

An Analysis of Policy Inputs

3.4.23	It is not within the NAO’s mandate to question Government policy, and in this case, 
the policy, if this may be termed as such, emanates from the Cabinet memorandum, 
dated 10 September 2013 and approved on 17 September 2013. Four main objectives 
were listed in this document, namely:

a.	 Remove possible danger to the National Library posed by the kitchen forming 
part of the Café Premier;

b.	 Create vertical circulation to the National Library by providing space for the 
installation of a lift;

c.	 Resolve the problem of arrears due to various entities; and
d.	 Generate income through the re-dimensioning of the available space and the 

leasing out of such space for commercial purposes, while ascertaining that 
business carried out therein poses no danger to the National Library.

3.4.24	Queries relating to the formulation of the above points were addressed to the PPS, 
who stated that no other documentation relating to these policy objectives was 
available or in fact necessary. Pressing further on the matter, the NAO enquired 
whether business plans had been drawn up in Government’s evaluation of possible 
courses of action; in this respect, the PPS did not provide this Office with any evidence 
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of the analysis carried out on the above policy objectives prior to Government’s 
decision to pursue negotiations with CE. 

3.4.25	Enquiring on the first objective, that is, the removal of possible danger to the National 
Library, specifically in the sense of what policy inputs fed into this decision-making 
process, the PPS made reference to the Partit Laburista’s electoral manifesto. The PPS 
proceeded to state that reference in this context was in general terms and highlighted 
the importance of the National Library as well as other libraries. The NAO reviewed 
the aforementioned electoral manifesto and noted that the only reference made to 
the National Library indicated a general strengthening of this Institution; hence, any 
link between the manifesto and the above policy objective is not so clear or evident.

3.4.26	Furthermore, and of greater concern to this Office in terms of its analysis of 
information utilised by Government in arriving at the policy decision to safeguard 
the National Library is the fact that there is no record of the consideration of other 
possibilities that could have resulted in the attainment of this same goal. For example, 
Government could have considered:

a.	 The amendment of the 1998 agreement, specifically the exclusion of the cafeteria-
related clause, through negotiations with CE.

b.	 The inclusion of a provision in any possible future transfer of the emphyteusis 
to third parties within this same term of lease, prohibiting future tenants from 
utilising the premises for catering purposes. This provision could have also been 
considered had the transfer of lease been effected under the guise of a transfer in 
shareholding of CE. This course of action was in fact pursued by GPD with another 
tenant whose premises were located under the National Library immediately 
after the approval of the Cabinet memorandum. 

c.	 Other ways of managing the risk of accidental fire, such as through the installation 
of advanced fire prevention, detection and suppression systems. There is no 
evidence of any form of risk assessment having been carried out by a competent 
authority.

3.4.27	As highlighted, no documentation and/or explanations were provided to this Office 
illustrating the consideration of other avenues of action besides direct negotiation 
with CE for the purchase of the utile dominium relating to the temporary emphyteusis 
of the Café Premier. Clearly supporting this argument is evidence provided by Adviser 
OPM, who unequivocally stated that his role did not contemplate the consideration 
of other options aside from assisting in the negotiations undertaken by Government 
in view of the reacquisition of the premises. Given Adviser OPM’s direct involvement 
in the process a mere few weeks after the PM was first approached by Camilleri, then 
it is highly unlikely that other possible means for safeguarding the National Library, 
aside from direct negotiation with CE, were considered.

3.4.28	Similar concerns emerge with regard to the second objective, that is, the creation 
of vertical circulation to the National Library through the installation of a lift. While 
the NAO fully supports initiatives intended at promoting accessibility for all, this 
Office maintains that an appropriate analysis of the anticipated use and benefit of 
the incurrence of such costs should have been undertaken. Such preliminary analysis 
would have been useful for comparative purposes, particularly in terms of cost-benefit 
prioritisation, thereby identifying where best to invest and improve accessibility. 
More specifically, the NAO expected some form of technical analysis to be carried out 
prior to the commencement of negotiations with CE, whereby the most favourable 
point of access to the National Library would have been identified.
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3.4.29	The third point, that is, the resolution of the problem of arrears due to various entities 
may hardly be considered as a policy objective. The issue of outstanding balances 
due to various Government entities should have bore no impact on Government’s 
decision-making process. The Government entities owed substantial dues certainly 
have other means of redress that are regularly utilised in their efforts to recover 
amounts payable. In this Office’s opinion, it is most certainly not the business or 
responsibility of Government to resolve the financial difficulties of private persons or 
companies.

3.4.30	The fourth objective, that is, the generation of income through the re-dimensioning 
of the available space was to be achieved by means of leasing out such space for 
commercial purposes while simultaneously ascertaining that business carried 
out therein posed no danger to the National Library. While this Office considers 
the objective reasonable and possibly representing sound business sense, no 
documentation supporting how such an objective was arrived at was provided to the 
NAO. One would have expected detailed proposals on how the area could be sub-
divided and forecasts of revenue that was to be generated through the lease of the 
accordingly re-dimensioned space. The absence of relevant documentation, which 
should have notionally served as an input to the policy decision-making process, 
detracts from the rigour of analysis expected in arriving at the stated objective.

3.4.31	In the NAO’s understanding, a favourable opportunity, as perceived by Government, 
presented itself when Camilleri approached the PM regarding the possible 
reacquisition of the Café Premier premises, and Government proceeded to capitalise 
upon such an opportunity. One must recall that CE had received an offer from a third 
party on 17 May 2013, comparable to that eventually agreed to with Government. 
Of note is the fact that this offer had been tabled by the third party to CE prior to the 
commencement of negotiations with Government. In this context, the NAO questions 
whether the above-discussed policy objectives would still have been actively pursued, 
had the third party offer been accepted by CE. In this sense, the priority assigned to 
protecting the National Library and creating vertical access thereto, were contingent 
upon agreement not being reached elsewhere, which hardly represents the ideal 
manner of drawing up policy.

3.4.32	The absence of documentation substantiating the detailed analysis of needs and 
alternatives leading to the fulfilment of the above-discussed Government policy 
objectives is considered as a significant shortcoming by the NAO. In this Office’s 
view, the objectives detailed in the Cabinet memorandum of 10 September 2013, 
as approved on 17 September 2013, appear to have been formulated as justification 
of Government’s proposal to acquire the Café Premier, and the analysis required 
to support such a course of action is insufficient. One would have expected the 
comprehensive analysis of all facets of possible action, subsequently leading to the 
establishment of policy and finally the pursuit of corresponding action. 
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Chapter 4 – Conclusions and Recommendations

4.1	 The Facts of the Case

4.1.1	 By virtue of an agreement entered into on 23 April 1998, Government conceded to CE 
the temporary emphyteusis of the premises at 33 and 34 Old Treasury Street and the 
basement accessed from 35 Old Treasury Street, as well as three shops at 40, 41 and 
42 Old Theatre Street, Valletta, known as Café Premier. 

4.1.2	 The 1998 agreement between Government and CE clearly stipulated the contractual 
breaches that would entitle Government to initiate legal proceedings that would lead 
to the rescission of the contract. On the basis of the NAO’s verification, this Office 
found no evidence that the conditions regarding the use of premises, closure of 
premises and the use of LPG cylinders were breached. On the other hand, evidence 
regarding the possible sub-letting of part of the Café Premier premises without 
the prior requisite consent of the Commissioner of Land and relevant payment of 
laudemium was noted by the NAO. Furthermore, ground for the instigation of legal 
proceedings in terms of CE’s failure to respect the three-year threshold of ground rent 
payments existed.

4.1.3	 The sequence of events leading to Government’s reacquisition of the Café Premier 
premises may be traced back to early April 2013, a few weeks following the change in 
administration, when the CE Director Mario Camilleri wrote to the PM. Negotiations 
between CE and Government were concluded in August 2013 and the matter was 
referred to Cabinet and subsequently approved in September 2013. Following which, 
on 29 January 2014, Government and CE signed an agreement whereby Government 
acquired the utile dominium relating to the temporary emphyteusis of the premises 
known as Café Premier for the sum of €4,200,000.

4.1.4	 In early March 2014, details of this agreement appeared in the media alleging 
Government’s bailout of CE and the payment of commissions among other matters 
raised. Pursuant to this, the PAC tasked the NAO with the investigation of the Café 
Premier transfer in August 2014. Hereunder (Table 13 refers) are the most salient 
events relating to the transfer of the Café Premier from CE to Government. This 
Office’s conclusions with respect to this matter follow and are structured according to 
the request raised by the PAC.
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Table 13: Timeline of events

Date Event

23 April 1998
Agreement signed between Government and CE for the transfer 
of the temporary emphyteusis of the Café Premier premises for 
65 years

23 April 2004
Breach of Article 17(ii) relating to the payment of ground rent, 
where the three-year threshold was exceeded until 25 
August 2004

23 April 2005 Breach of Article 17(ii) relating to the payment of ground rent, 
where the three-year threshold was exceeded until 31 May 2005

4 April 2006 Judicial letter filed against CE by GPD

23 April 2006 Breach of Article 17(ii) relating to the payment of ground rent, 
where the three-year threshold was exceeded until 8 August 2006

15 June 2006 CE proposed a repayment schedule, yet this was rejected by the 
DG GPD

30 November 2006 CE submitted a new repayment schedule
14 May 2007 GPD approved CE’s proposed repayment schedule

4 June 2008 GPD requested CE to settle outstanding ground rent within one 
week, failing which judicial action would be taken

18 April 2009

Breach of Article 17(iv) relating to the sub-letting of part of the 
premises without the prior requisite approval of the Commissioner 
of Land. The sub-letting to Café Palazz was made reference to in 
the valuation report prepared by Mangion, Mangion & Partners 
(2009).

23 April 2009
Breach of Article 17(ii) relating to the payment of ground rent, 
where the three-year threshold was exceeded until 11 September 
2009

5 May 2009 GPD filed a judicial protest against CE in view of the Company’s 
non-adherence to the 30 November 2006 repayment schedule

17 June 2009 CE proposed a new repayment agreement

9 September 2009 CE’s proposed repayment agreement was entered into subject to 
certain amendments

26 May 2010 CE’s tenement account was split into two, that is, 060536 and 
H060536

12 December 2012
GPD filed judicial letters (relating to accounts 060536 and 
H060536) against CE in view of the Company’s non-adherence to 
the 9 September 2009 repayment schedule

7 January 2013 Counter protest filed by CE with respect to account H060536

15 January 2013 A new repayment agreement between CE and GPD was entered 
into 

25 January 2013 Counter protest filed by CE with respect to account 060536

5 February 2013 GPD filed a Risposta to CE’s counter protests of 7 and 25 January 
2013

8 March 2013 Closure of Café Premier premises
20 March 2013 Court hearing scheduled in respect of account H060536
4 April 2013 Mario Camilleri wrote to the PM requesting a meeting

17 April 2013
Meeting between Mario Camilleri and the PM whereby the 
possibility of the transfer of the Café Premier back to Government 
was discussed

23 April 2013
Breach of Article 17(ii) relating to the payment of ground rent, 
where the three-year threshold was exceeded until the 
agreement with Government

May 2013 Meeting between the PM, Adviser OPM, Chief of Staff OPM and 
the PPS, where CE’s Café Premier proposal was discussed
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16 May 2013 A third party submitted a bid of €3,500,000 to CE for the Café 
Premier

17 May 2013 Initial correspondence exchanged between CE (Mark Camilleri) 
and Government (Adviser OPM)

17 May 2013 Court hearing scheduled in respect of account 060536

20 May 2013 CE submitted an initial request of €5,370,000 as a starting point 
for discussions

4 June 2013 Architect GPD completed valuation report citing a value of 
€4,400,000 to €4,500,000 and submitted same to Adviser OPM

4 June 2013 Adviser OPM submitted Government’s initial offer of €3,300,000 
following the PM’s authorisation

11 June 2013 Counter proposal made by CE for €4,772,727 (equivalent to 
€4,200,000 net of CGT)

12 June 2013
Chief of Staff OPM informed Adviser OPM of outstanding dues 
owed to Government Departments by CE, namely to the IRD, VAT 
Department, ARMS Ltd and the GPD

2 July 2013 Offer by Government of €3,977,272 (equivalent to €3,500,000 
net of CGT)

5 July 2013 Counter proposal made by CE for €4,488,636 (equivalent to 
€3,950,000 net of CGT)

9 July 2013 Offer by Government of €3,977,272 (equivalent to €3,500,000 
net of CGT), which offer was termed as final

11 July 2013
PM confirmed meeting with Camilleri, during which negotiations 
were concluded (meeting also attended by Adviser OPM and the 
PPS)

5 August 2013 CE submitted a proposal of €4,200,000 (equivalent to €3,696,000 
net of CGT)

6 August 2013
Adviser OPM forwarded CE’s proposal of €4,200,000 to the PM 
stating that the request was reasonable – Chief of Staff OPM also 
considered the offer as a fair deal subject to the valuation being 
correct – No written comment from the PPS

10 September 2013 Cabinet memorandum regarding the transfer of the Café Premier 
premises presented by the PPS

17 September 2013 Memorandum approved by Cabinet

18 September 2013

The DG Cabinet Office informed DG GPD of Cabinet’s approval of 
the transaction and was requested to initiate the process of 
acquisition (this represented the first instance where GPD were 
formally notified of Government’s intention to reacquire the 
premises)

18 September 2013 The DG GPD informed Notary GPD to prepare the draft deed of 
acquisition

24 September 2013 Adviser OPM informed CE that the €4,200,000 proposal had 
been accepted by Government

24 September 2013 Cut-off date regarding the accumulation of ground rent due by 
CE to GPD – balance cited by GPD was that of €282,819

27 September 2013 Cut-off date for encroachment fees payable by CE to GPD, with a 
balance of €24,156

18 November 2013 Upward revision of ground rent due by 20 per cent with respect 
to the period April 2011 to April 2014

24 January 2014 IRD informed GPD that the balance due by CE in terms of FSS, SSC 
and company tax was that of €192,748

24 January 2014 VAT Department informed GPD that the balance due by CE was 
that of €226,663

24 January 2014 ARMS Ltd informed GPD that the balance due by CE was €130,964
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27 January 2014 Camilleri informed GPD that the sum of €210,000 payable to 
M&A Investments Ltd was to be included in the agreement

27 January 2014
Dr Malcolm Mangion informed GPD that legal consultancy fees 
claimed on his behalf and on that of colleagues amounted to 
€20,000

27 January 2014
Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company Ltd confirmed with 
the GPD that the balance due was €3,265, which when paid 
would result in the cancellation of the warrants of prohibitory 
injunction

28 January 2014 Banif Bank stated its willingness to waive its hypothecary rights 
on condition of the staggered repayment of €2,181,075

28 January 2014
The CE Board Resolution indicated that the intermediary cost 
payable to M&A Investments related to the successful conclusion 
of the deal, equal to five per cent of the contract value, that is, 
€210,000, was due

29 January 2014 Government and CE signed an agreement whereby the Café 
Premier was reacquired by Government for €4,200,000

29 January 2014
€1,839,200 was paid on the date of signing of the agreement,with 
disbursements to GPD, IRD, the VAT Department, ARMS Ltd, 
Dr Malcolm Mangion, Golden Harvest Manufacturing Company 
Ltd, M&A Investments, Banif Bank and CE

31 July 2014 First instalment of €590,200 was settled, with €500,000 paid to 
Banif Bank and €90,200 paid to CE

31 January 2015 Second instalment of €590,200 was settled, with €500,000 paid 
to Banif Bank and €90,200 paid to CE

31 July 2015 Third instalment of €590,200 is to be settled, with €450,000 to 
be paid to Banif Bank and €140,200 to be paid to CE

31 January 2016 Fourth instalment of €590,200 is to be settled, with €531,075 to 
be paid to Banif Bank and €59,125 to be paid to CE

4.2	 Value for Money

4.2.1	 A critically important aspect of the NAO’s analysis of the Café Premier reacquisition 
by Government were the valuations carried out by the Architect appointed by 
Government, those previously prepared for CE by Mangion, Mangion & Partners, as 
well as that drawn up by the NAO’s Technical Consultant. This Office noted that all 
valuations carried out were largely consistent, reflecting the value paid by Government. 
However, the establishment of value in monetary terms, and value for money 
considerations are two distinct matters. The value assigned to the reacquisition of the 
Café Premier premises is but one component of the value for money represented by 
this transfer.

4.2.2	 Other considerations in the determination of value for money were the possible 
alternatives available to Government that would have resulted in the same outcome. 
One such alternative was the possible resort to legal proceedings for the rescission 
of the agreement, particularly in view of the fact that the ground rent due in April 
2013 exceeded the three-year threshold. This coincided with the point at which 
negotiations between CE and Government commenced, yet no consideration of this 
means of redress was made by Government. Although the Government indicated its 
reluctance to pursue legal action on grounds of the lengthy process involved and the 
uncertainty of the outcome, the NAO considers such justification as insufficient. This 
Office considers the resort to legal action as a necessary tool in the rectification of 
serious and repeated contractual default, and should not be ruled out on grounds of 
delay and uncertainty of outcome.
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4.2.3	 The Cabinet memorandum dated 10 September 2013 listed four main objectives 
justifying Government’s reacquisition of the Café Premier, namely, the removal of 
possible danger posed to the National Library by underlying catering establishments, 
the provision of greater accessibility to the Library, resolution of the problem 
of arrears faced by CE and the re-dimensioning of available space resulting in the 
generation of income to Government. The absence of documentation substantiating 
the detailed analysis of needs and alternatives leading to the fulfilment of the above-
discussed Government policy objectives is considered as a significant shortcoming by 
the NAO. In this Office’s view, the objectives detailed in the Cabinet memorandum 
appear to have been formulated as a justification of the Government’s proposal to 
acquire the Café Premier, and the analysis required to support such a course of action 
is insufficient. One would have expected the comprehensive analysis of all facets 
of possible action, subsequently leading to the establishment of policy and finally 
the pursuit of corresponding action. Further supporting the NAO’s assertions is the 
fact that no concrete developments have been noted in the premises a year after its 
reacquisition.

4.3	 Good Governance and Transparency

4.3.1	 Notable shortcomings in terms of governance were noted with respect to Government’s 
failure to involve the GPD early in negotiations with CE. This Department is responsible 
for the management and administration of all Government-owned properties, yet 
was only involved at the final stages of the reacquisition of the Café Premier, when all 
had been already agreed upon. Had Government consulted with the GPD, the breach 
in terms of Article 17(ii), that outstanding ground rent was not to exceed the three-
year threshold, might have been brought to the fore earlier on in the negotiations and 
possibly lead to a different outcome.

4.3.2	 The appointment of the GPD Architect to draw up an evaluation of a government-
owned premises also presented various shortcomings in terms of good governance. 
The GPD Architect was given this assignment without the DG GPD’s knowledge, directly 
appointed following the recommendation of Adviser OPM and the PM’s subsequent 
approval. The NAO considers such a practice as undermining the DG’s authority and 
responsibility for the Department, and could have placed the GPD Architect in an 
awkward situation.

4.3.3	 The valuation report, despite being prepared on an official GPD letterhead was not 
retained in file. This absence was also confirmed by the DGs GPD, who stated that they 
were not aware of this valuation assignment and the report subsequently prepared 
by the GPD Architect. This anomalous situation is indicative of a lack of transparency 
and poor governance, further confirming Government’s reluctance to involve GPD in 
an official capacity with respect to the matter.

4.3.4	 The establishment of 24 September 2013 as the cut-off date for ground rent was 
deemed as an arbitrary decision by this Office. The NAO considers this decision as 
a shortcoming on the part of Government, and that ground rent should have been 
charged up to the date of the signing of the agreement, similar to the approach 
adopted by other Government Departments involved in this matter. Had the date of 
agreement been considered as the cut-off date, then the chargeable rent due to GPD 
would have increased by approximately €39,000. The NAO deems that it would have 
been more appropriate for GPD to determine the cut-off date. 

4.3.5	 Of serious concern to the NAO is the lack of documentation retained by GPD with 
regard to the withdrawal of its legal action against CE instigated on 12 December 
2012. The only record retained in file was with respect to one of the two cases, and 
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simply stated “Kawża ċeduta”, while Court records are sparse in detail. The review 
of internal GPD correspondence exchanged after the withdrawal of the Court case 
renders GPD’s decision more ambiguous, with CE’s repayment of outstanding dues 
cited as the reason for the cessation of Court action. The NAO reviewed such payments 
and established that five out of a possible 12 payments had been effected. This hardly 
represents consistency in repayment, especially when one considers the magnitude 
of the balance due, which at the time was in excess of €290,000 and that repayments 
made prior to the amicable settlement only amounted to €18,600.

4.3.6	 Having failed to establish the motivation leading to the withdrawal of court action by 
GPD and who within the Department instigated such action through the review of 
GPD files, the NAO attempted to formulate an understanding by means of interviews. 
This proved to be an equally futile endeavour, with the GPD Legal Section claiming 
that determining whether payments were being effected related to the work of the 
Rents Section (which formed part of the Finance & Administration Directorate). On 
the other hand, the Director (Finance and Administration) claimed that this was purely 
a legal matter, and that the withdrawal of legal proceedings was not her decision to 
make. Despite the circular references provided by GPD, the blurring of decisions taken 
through poor record-keeping practices and the abdication of responsibility accounting 
for such decisions, a clear response, albeit totally incongruent with that stated by 
GPD, was provided to this Office by Mario Camilleri. Camilleri unequivocally stated 
that Government and CE withdrew from legal action against one another in view 
of negotiations under way at the time. Further elaborating on the matter, Camilleri 
argued that the forfeiture of legal proceedings was an obvious part of the deal, and 
once negotiations had commenced, then legal action was to be brought to a halt.

4.4	 The Payment of Commissions

4.4.1	 Evidence obtained by this Office indicated that the €210,000 payment was in effect 
a commission payment to M&A Investments Ltd despite assertions to the contrary 
by Camilleri. The CE Board Resolution dated 28 January 2014 rendered this clearly 
evident, as did the correspondence with Banif Bank dated 19 December 2013. While 
the former terms the €210,000 payment as ‘intermediary costs’, the latter referred to 
this payment as a ‘commission on sale’. Notwithstanding the ambiguity in responses 
provided by Camilleri during interviews with the NAO, this Office considers the above-
cited evidence as sufficient proof of the payment of commissions to M&A Investments 
Ltd.

4.4.2	 Despite the fact that Government would still have paid €4,200,000, irrespective of the 
arrangement with M&A Investments, this Office is of the opinion that the €210,000 
payment should not have featured in the agreement. The dealings between CE and 
M&A Investments were a private matter, and Government bore no relationship with 
the latter. Moreover, the €210,000 payment made in this respect was unsubstantiated 
and deemed by the NAO as inappropriately included in the agreement.

4.4.3	 Aside from the above, no evidence came to light of other commission payments out 
of public funds except for the €210,000 payment made to M&A Investments.

4.5	 Adherence to Financial Procedures

4.5.1	 The legislative framework regulating the disbursement of public funds was broadly 
respected, with approval sought from the relevant Minister, in this case, the PM, and 
that of the PS MFIN. Furthermore, the management of the payment process was 
well structured, organised and documented. It is in this general sense that the NAO 
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considers the relevant financial procedures to have been adhered to. However, the 
financial regulations do not make direct reference to such atypical disbursements 
of public funds. Nonetheless, disbursements of public funds should be made 
judiciously, and it is in this context that the various shortcomings highlighted in this 
Report somewhat detract from the prudence expected when deciding to undertake 
disbursements of such magnitude. 

4.6	 The Setting of Precedents

4.6.1	 With respect to whether the procedure adopted by Government in this reacquisition 
was discriminatory and could expose public finances to similar requests in the future, 
this Office notes that legal precedent can only be created by jurisprudence, that is, 
case law. Advice obtained by the NAO indicated that the setting of a precedent has a 
persuasive value yet is not binding, more so when one considers that the decision was 
taken by Cabinet and not by Court. Applied to this case, Government’s reacquisition 
of the Café Premier does not constrain Government in future possible cases bearing 
elements of congruence. Although no legal precedent was established as a result of 
this reacquisition, Government may nonetheless be exposed to criticism in terms of 
fairness and equality.

4.7	 Other Considerations

4.7.1	 The NAO’s concern was drawn to the various instances where repayment agreements 
entered into by CE and GPD for the settlement of outstanding ground rent were not 
honoured. This reflects the poor account management practices employed by GPD, 
including very weak enforcement capabilities and no structured system for the follow-
up of agreements entered into. While the NAO acknowledges the Department’s 
stance and preference for resolving matters outside of Court, the Office considers it 
necessary for more decisive action to be taken by GPD in the case of repeat defaulters 
as was the case with CE. In this Office’s view, failure to take the required action in this 
regard is ultimately counter-productive, as the Department is perceived as ineffective 
in terms of enforcement.

4.7.2	 A critical limitation faced by the Department in efforts to ensure compliance is the 
absence of a system of penalties and fines applicable in the case of defaulters. In 
this context, there exists no incentive encouraging tenants to settle outstanding 
dues, as failure to pay results in no consequence, barring the occasional judicial letter 
and subsequent repayment agreement. Legislative amendments to the relevant 
provisions intended at strengthening the Department’s enforcement function should 
be considered.

4.7.3	 The NAO review of this case highlighted weaknesses with respect to GPD’s revenue 
management function. This was exemplified in the Department’s failure to effect the 
20 per cent or cost of living increase revision when due, which was in fact effected 
two years later. At the time of reporting, the revisions in ground rent payable were 
not automated and the Department was therefore reliant on the manual transfer 
of physical files and a rudimentary system of reminders. Further prioritisation and 
investment in the automation of revisions to ground rent as well as other contractual 
provisions should be actively considered by GPD.

4.7.4	 The NAO maintains reservations regarding the VAT Department’s interpretation of 
the provisions stipulated in Article 11 of Annex A of Subsidiary Legislation 406.18, 
particularly with respect to the application of the 30 November 2013 deadline for 
allowing registered persons to qualify for remittance under the Remittance of Interest 
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and Administrative Penalties incurred under the VAT Act Scheme. This Office considers 
the provisions stipulated in Article 11 as ambiguous, as a VAT registered person may 
be considered as qualifying for the Scheme when submitting the relevant application 
form, or equally so, when approval by the Commissioner is granted. Finally, the 
possibility of applying the least favourable rate of remittance (50 per cent) in cases 
that extend beyond the 30 November 2013 deadline should be considered by the VAT 
Department.

4.7.5	 The NAO considers Dr Filletti and Dr Mangion’s involvement in this matter as somewhat 
ambiguous, despite Camilleri’s claims that the latter had provided assistance in terms 
of contract-related legalities and the former withdrawing in view of his conflict of 
interest. Information gathered by this Office regarding Dr Filletti’s involvement was 
conflicting. The DGs GPD and Camilleri stated that Dr Filletti withdrew from the process 
in view of possible conflict of interest concerns, yet the NAO noted instances where 
Dr Filletti was in fact involved, even at what could be considered as an advanced stage 
of the reacquisition. On the other hand, the only evidence reviewed in relation to the 
Dr Mangion’s role was his request for payment dated two days prior to the signing of 
the contract. Furthermore, this Office fails to understand why the €20,000 payment 
to Dr Mangion was included as part of the agreement and not settled privately by CE.

4.7.6	 According to the VAT Regulations dealing with adjustments relating to input tax on 
capital goods, if VAT had been paid on improvements to immovable property and such 
VAT had been claimed as input tax, a claw back of such input tax would arise if the 
property was sold before the lapse of twenty years from the year the improvements 
were made. Under such circumstances, the input VAT paid would be clawed back on 
a pro rata basis. The NAO estimated that the VAT Department should have clawed 
back an approximate €60,000 in tax, with €57,000 arising in relation to immovable 
property improvements and €3,000 with respect to moveable capital goods. It must 
be emphasised that this Office did not seek to establish with absolute precision the 
magnitude of the VAT claw back due, particularly in view of the limited data available, 
yet solely undertook this analysis to highlight the necessity for possible further action 
by the VAT Department.

4.8	 Overall Conclusion

4.8.1	 The NAO maintains notable reservations regarding the manner by which this 
reacquisition was made. Although the amount paid by Government reflects a fair 
market value, this does not necessarily imply that value for money was achieved. 
The lack of rigorous and documented consideration of other options and the 
failure to properly evaluate such alternative courses of action constrains the Office 
in determining whether value for money was achieved. One such alternative 
was the follow-through of legal action, which Government failed to pursue. This 
resulted in the eventual withdrawal of legal proceedings without clear justification 
or documentation, which action detracted from the required level of transparency 
expected in such a decision. This must be seen within a context where the tenant, CE, 
was in breach of the lease agreement with Government, as the three-year threshold 
in ground rent payments had been exceeded when negotiations commenced. Poor 
governance was a factor central to this shortcoming, with Government’s negotiating 
team failing to appropriately involve GPD from the initial stages of negotiations. 
Finally, the NAO established that the payment of €210,000 to M&A Investments was 
an intermediary payment, that is, a brokerage fee or commission, equivalent to five 
per cent of the transfer value of €4,200,000. Aside from this payment, no evidence of 
other commissions being paid out of public funds was found.
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Appendix A – PAC request for investigation
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Appendix B – Ground rent ledger records as maintained by GPD (060536 and H060536)
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Appendix C – Valuation report prepared by Architect GPD
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Appendix D– Correspondence indicating Government’s acceptance of CE’s offer
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Appendix E – Cabinet memorandum
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Appendix F – CE Board Resolution dated 28 January 2014
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Appendix G – CE letter to Banif Bank p.l.c. dated 9 December 2013
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Appendix H – 2014 agreement between Government and CE
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RECENT AUDIT REPORTS ISSUED BY THE NAO
 

NAO Work and Activities Report

January 2014		  Work and Activities of the National Audit Office 2013

NAO Audit Reports

January 2014	 	 Performance Audit: Addressing Social Benefit Fraud 

February 2014		  Information Technology Audit: Armed Forces Malta

March 2014	 	 An Analysis of the Sourcing of Legal Services with respect to 		
			   the Granting of Concessions to Operate Two Casinos

April 2014		  An Analysis of WasteServ Malta Limited’s Procurement: A 	
				    Case Study Perspective

April 2014	 	 An Assessment of the Macroeconomic Forecasts for the 
				    Maltese Economy Performed by the Ministry of Finance in 
				    April 2014

May 2014		  An Assessment of the Main Fiscal Forecasts Prepared by the 		
			   Ministry of Finance and Presented in the Update of the Stability 		
			   Programme for Malta 2014-2017

June 2014		  An Investigation into the Procurement of Legal Services by the 		
			   Privatisation Unit between 2008 and 2013

July 2014		  Performance Audit: Malta’s Level of Preparedness to Deal with Oil 	
			   Pollution at Sea

July 2014	 	 Information Technology Audit: Employment & Training Corporation

October 2014	 	 Foundation for Tomorrow’s Schools: Regularity Audit on Procurement

October 2014		  An Assessment of the Macroeconomic Forecasts for the Maltese 	
			   Economy prepared by the Ministry for Finance in September 2014

November 2014	 Performance Audit: Housing Authority’s Procurement of Repair 		
			   Works on Residential Units

November 2014	 An Assessment of the Main Fiscal Forecasts

December 2014	 Annual Audit Report of the Auditor General - Public Accounts 2013

December 2014	 Annual Audit Report of the Auditor General - Local Government 2013

January 2015		  Information Technology Audit: Commerce Department

February 2015		 An Analysis of Types of Errors in Public Procurement within the 		
			   Structural Funds Programmes


